Electric vehicles: the driving power for energy transition







Electric vehicles; the driving power for energy transition Blockchain-based decentralised energy trading

by

S. Hijgenaar

to obtain the degree of Master of Science at the Delft University of Technology, to be defended publicly on Wednesday April 26, 2017 at 11:00 AM.

Student number: Project duration: Thesis committee: 4090756September 26, 2016 – April 26, 2017Prof. dr. ir. A. Verbraeck,TU Delft, chairmanDr. Z. Erkin,TU Delft, supervisorDr. ir. T. Keviczky,TU Delft, co- supervisorIng. J. Siemons,CGI, supervisorR. Bisschops,CGI, supervisor

An electronic version of this thesis is available at http://repository.tudelft.nl/.



Preface

I feel truly proud to have worked on the energy systems of the future. The past 7 months having worked together with Delft University of Technology and CGI Nederland B.V. on smart grids and blockchain have been a thrilling ride. I am grateful to have been part of the "blockchain for utilities hype" from such an early stage and I thoroughly believe we will soon be beyond hype and developing the new status quo. As so many other of my life's achievements, this project was a team effort and I would like to take this section to thank the following people.

First and foremost I would like to thank my first supervisor: Zeki. Your guidance has been so much more than I could have hoped for in a thesis supervisor. Our weekly sparring sessions gave me inspiration and motivation to exceed far beyond my own expectations. Thanks to you I have delivered a provisional conclusion to my academic career I can be genuinely proud of. Your PhD candidates Gamze, Majid and Chibuike took me in their office and sparked a cryptographic flame through their countless discussions, of which I am very grateful. Oguzhan, I even forgive you for stealing my spot. For everyone at the CybSec group I have forgotten: for making me fat an ugly through countless (Turkish) coffee and pie sessions I give you all minus ten.

I was very fortunate to have had such a diverse and wise committee. Alexander and Tamas, thanks to our inspirational meetings I got a sense of direction whenever I couldn't find it. I am indebted to you for the extra time I got to take this project to new heights. Jos and Ralph (and everyone else at CGI), thank you for your support at every turn. Whatever I asked for was provided in the mere blink of an eye. With the help of the vast collected knowledge at CGI I was able to deliver something that can make an actual difference, rather than a good spot to put down your coffee.

Next, but very, very far from subservient: my lovely Yris. You were there for every up and down along the way, and stood by me through any stress-induced tantrum. Your constant optimism and perpetual energy pushed me to go on, even if I wanted to give up. I am lucky to have someone like you by my side, to count on and to have pleasant distractions with.

I would be nothing without a family. I feel privileged to have been able to go to university, for which I am 100% obliged to my lovely parents: Alex and Willy. Without your support this project wouldn't even have been possible. I thank you for making me into the man I am today. Dick, I feel favoured to have a brother-from-another-mother with such a rich history. Never have your stories ceased to amaze me. I thank you for our morning swimming sessions, giving a refreshing kick-start to most of my thesis days. Our coffee sessions always inspired a creative new angle for my research, thank you.

Last, but certainly not least, I would like to thank my rugby club: SRC Thor. You bunch of misfits gave me a second home for the majority of my time in Delft. From our memories I have learned to apply the exceptional mentality of the one-and-only-sport in real life. Through our non-memories I am able to conclude that I have lived a very fulfilled student life. A special mention goes out the fiftieth board ('Vo 50!), with whom I enjoyed one of the best years as a Delfterik.

I thank you all.

S. Hijgenaar Delft, April 2017

Summary

The Dutch energy system was designed from a central market-oriented perspective in a pre-renewable era. The consumption of small consumers is estimated by balance responsible parties, that aggregate over an area and place respective bids on the day-ahead market. The collective of bids and offers form a central market price for every hour of the next day. Estimation by balance responsible parties is done using assumption and generalisation, and therefore deviates from actual consumption. By law the market parties are required to partake in expensive intra-day trading to resolve the deviations. The severity of these localised imbalances is increasing as a result of the energy transition. The energy transition is characterised by a growing share of distributed resources as a result of rising concerns for the environment. Decentralised renewable energy generation and the rise of the electric vehicle cause highly unpredictable patterns of under and over supply.

This thesis aims to analyse the effects of electric vehicle charging on decentralised smart grids with a high penetration of renewable energy generation and the possibilities of using local trade to balance decentralised grids. A literature review is presented on the topics of the Dutch energy market and electric vehicle charging. In the status quo electric vehicles have adverse effects on power management, while their storage capacity could be used to locally balance out deviances between estimated and actual consumption. However, in the current situation, the Dutch energy market doesn't allow for local trading. A solution, based on blockchain, is presented that could facilitate decentralised electricity trade.

The name blockchain was given to the technology underpinning the popular cryptocurrency network Bitcoin in 2009. A blockchain essentially is a distributed ledger, containing an immutable record of transactions. In modern economies trade can only occur under the guidance of trusted third parties. These intermediaries become obsolete by using blockchain. Instead, trust becomes an autonomous product of cryptography and complex mathematics. By directly connecting selling and buying parties, trade becomes more efficient and quicker. A thorough analysis of blockchain's inner workings and consensus mechanisms is presented.

To analyse the electrical patterns that emerge in a smart grid environment, an agent-based model is developed, using smart metering data of a Dutch neighbourhood. By modelling a large number of individual agents subject to business logic, macro behaviour can be analysed. The model contains household agents and both public charging stations and household-owned pluggable electric vehicles. The emergent electricity patterns are used to analyse the imbalances occurring at decentralised grid level and the potential benefits of local trading can be analysed. As a proof-of-concept for blockchain-driven energy markets, the model's output is connected to a blockchain network.

It is found that local trade can help reduce the deviations between estimated and actual consumption and thus help balance decentralised smart grids. The positive effects increase with growing penetration of electric vehicles. The presented algorithm is effective at maintaining minimum state-of-charge at departure as well as keeping the charging session costs constant under fixed market tariffs. It is first of its kind to both incorporate large numbers of individual user preferences as well as benefit the system through peak shaving and shifting. Electric vehicle owners can expect to benefit financially by plugging in and offering their car as grid service provider. The results from the blockchain proof-of-concept, using the Tendermint platform, show that it is possible to securely store trade data on a blockchain, and consumers and grid operators can benefit from blockchain's immutability and transparency for e.g. billing. The proof-of-concept offers grid operators the first step towards safe local energy trade.

This thesis proposes a future work agenda that focusses on formalising blockchain as a technology for the utilities sector. From a business perspective, blockchain as a technology is still immature and can benefit from large market players offering standardised solutions. The proof-of-concept is a first step towards market acceptation. Ideas for possible model improvements are also given and tied to possible testing projects.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Background on electric vehicles and the energy transition 2.1 Energy transition in the Netherlands 2.1.1 Liberalisation and unbundling of the energy market 2.1.2 Distributed generation 2.1.3 Ancillary services 2.2 Plug-in electric vehicles and power management 2.2.1 Effects of charging on load balancing 2.2.2 Storage capacity and vehicle-to-grid 2.2.3 Penetration rate in the Netherlands 2.3 Problem definition and implications for design 2.3.1 Design criteria 2.3.2 Research questions	5 5 7 7 9 9 10 12 13 14 14
3	Blockchain 3.1 Blockchain concepts 3.2 The four Ps of blockchain 3.3 Consensus models in blockchain	17 17 19 20
4	Scenarios of the energy transition 4.1 Electric vehicle penetration	27 27 28 29 30
5	Design and testing of a decentralised architecture for local electricity trade 5.1 Experimental setup 5.1.1 Input data 5.1.2 Agents 5.1.3 Model validation 5.2 Simulation results 5.2.1 Analysing the balancing effect of local trade 5.2.2 Exploring the effects of grid size 5.2.3 Financial implications for system users 5.2.4 The strain on PEV batteries 5.3 Deploying with blockchain and reliability testing 5.3.1 Blockchain test network architecture 5.3.2 Blockchain test results	 31 31 32 34 35 41 42 44 45 46 49
6	Discussion and future work 6.1 Discussion 6.2 Future work	51 51 53
7	Concluding remarks	57
Α	Agent-based model specification A.1 Aggregator agent	59 64 65 65

В	Age	ent-based model validation 6	57						
	B.1	Parameter variation experiment	37						
	B.2	Multiple regression analysis.	38						
		B.2.1 1 st iteration regression analysis results	70						
		B.2.2 2 nd iteration regression analysis results	71						
		B.2.3 3 rd iteration regression analysis results	72						
	B.3	Parameter variation analysis conclusions	73						
Bibliography									

Introduction

In The Netherlands, recent decades have seen the introduction of an energy transition: replacing fossil by renewables as primary source for energy generation. As is the case for most industrialised nations, the transition is fuelled by an increased awareness of our planet's liveability. Seeing the contribution of road traffic to the total amount of emissions in The Netherlands is roughly 10% [28], the potential benefits of an electrified automotive fleet are substantial.

The rise of electric vehicles and decentralised energy systems

The high popularity of electric vehicles (EVs), especially plug-in electric (PEVs) and plug-in hybrid electric (PHEVs) vehicles, of recent years is a result of the heightened concern for climate change and the advancements in battery technology. In The Netherlands the number of EVs has more than doubled in little under 1.5 years [145]. This trend is expected to continue world-wide as battery technology drives EV prices down and consumer comfort up, increasing the attractiveness of electric driving. For instance, the highly anticipated Tesla Model 3, due fall 2017, was reserved almost 400,000 times within 2 weeks world-wide [63] of which an estimated 20,000 can be attributed to The Netherlands [171].[49] show in their work on the impact of EV usage in Lisbon that the use of EVs in urban regions can result in a significant drop in emission of harmful gasses.

Besides the increased use of EVs another trend that is linked to the energy transition is the increase in decentralised power generation. Through offering subsidiaries to home owners, like the ISDE [146], and/or companies, e.g. the SDE+ [147], local and central governments try to encourage home and business owners to invest in sustainable decentralised power generation. As a result, the energy transition does not only entail the replacement of fossil by renewable energy carriers, but also a shift from central to decentralised power systems.

EVs and green, decentralised energy generation can become important keys to unlocking future sustainable energy systems. However, their introduction leads to several new problems. According to [76] power systems driven by renewable generation face a number of problems, owing to its intermittent nature. Problems may include, amongst others, voltage fluctuations, surges, and frequency variability, resulting in low reliability and quality. According to [195] the increase of distributed generation (DG) can lead to situations where the market price no longer follows the market demand. On the demand side, "uncontrolled charging" may lead to demand peaks, making the technology hard to coincide with a variable power source such as wind or the sun [158]. Furthermore, it increases already existing peak load. Problems are caused on a decentralised level, while the centralised market model is designed to solve them from a central point-of-view.

The variable nature of renewable energy generation (REG) on the one side and uncertain PEV demand on the other, leads to increasing problems for the transmission system operator (TSO) (TenneT in the case of The Netherlands). As the penetration of both technologies increases, which it is expected to do, these problems will rise to levels at which balancing is no longer possible on a central scale and critical failures may occur. A possible solution involves reallocating balancing responsibilities from a central to a decentralised level. This introduces the concept of smart (micro)grids. Zones, be it residential, industrial, or a combination, with a potential for local energy net balance, in literature known as islanding [47]. However, if introduced into the current centrally-orientated control paradigm, the large number of newly introduced actors would tremendously increase system complexity. Moreover, the central markets offer little transparency and guarantees of (data) security to household consumers [16, 130, 151–153]. The prosumer movement would draw more

and more system responsibilities to the household level, resulting in a transition not only from grey to green and central to decentralised, but also from top-down to bottom-up. However, this transition requires a new platform that can increase distributed influence in the power system, while maintaining system security and increasing transparency. A technology on which such a platform could be based is blockchain.

Blockchain, the technology behind Bitcoin

In 2008 Satoshi Nakamoto published his/her/their paper on a new type of payment system: Bitcoin: A Peerto-Peer Electronic Cash System [121]. With Bitcoin, the first true application of what is now called blockchain technology was fact. In 2009 Nakamoto launched the first Bitcoin software as an open-source, fully distributed and decentralised tool to host the world's first ever peer-to-peer electronic payment system [123]. Essentially, this entails that everyone has full disclosure of a public ledger, i.e. the complete transaction log, and the software is not in hand of one single entity, be it individual or collective. Moreover, the software is freely open to everyone who wants it, granting freedom of application. Bitcoin was the first ever practical realisation of direct transactions without the need for a trusted third party (TTP), allowing transparency, speed and flexibility. Ownership and value is proven through complex cryptography rather than a central minting authority.

There is no widely acclaimed evidence from academia that blockchain technology could in fact facilitate energy markets, but the application of Bitcoins or blockchain-based technology is not a complete novelty in the energy/utilities sector. SolarCoin is a cryptocurrency, similar to Bitcoin, that is awarded for every solargenerated MWh that is fed to the grid [169, 183]. A South African start-up, Bankymoon, is enabling the purchase of pre-paid electricity using Bitcoins as currency. Using smart meters Bankymoon wants to facilitate sending energy anywhere over the world, e.g. donating utilities to underprivileged schools in Africa. The technology is expected to stop electricity price inflation, increase transparency and make affordable electricity available to everyone, regardless of accessibility to centrally offered services such as a bank account [23, 108, 115, 137]. Grid Singularity wants to enable blockchain-based energy trading in developing countries [70, 97]. Power Ledger is an Australian company that offers automated energy trading through blockchain technology [128, 134]. Seeing the proof-of-work [121] concept of Bitcoin's crypto mechanism imposes a significant energy consumption, Power Ledger relies on the concept of proof-of-stake [87, 135]. A similar initiative in Brooklyn (New York city) called TransActive Grid/Brooklyn Microgrid facilitates peer-to-peer energy transacting in a street-wide microgrid using blockchain [43, 136, 154, 157, 184]. The network runs on smart contracts, programmed using the Ethereum code-base [100]. Electron is an UK-based company that aims to deliver energy market functionality through smart contracts, broadcast through a public blockchain ledger. Their goal is to facilitate all 53 million supply points in The UK [51, 52]. In Germany, RWE, one of the biggest players on the energy market, together with Slock. It have started a pilot project on blockchain-based EV charging. The developed prototype creates smart contracts between the EV (owner) and the charging station, that acts on behalf of RWE. By employing smart contracts and blockchain the transacted units can be very small, allowing for precise purchases rather than paying by the hour [4, 48].

Research statement

The purpose of this research is to investigate how electric vehicles can aid in the decentralisation of traditional power systems. The aim is to show that electric vehicles can complement and, in the long run, replace centrally-driven services for regional sub-systems. Furthermore, the usefulness of blockchain technology for the electricity market is analysed. Using blockchain to promote energy trading between PEV owners and other system users can be seen as a convenient starting point. Namely, PEVs are already heavily reliant on computer systems and therefore offer an easy testing implementation base. With the slow, but steady roll out of smart meters and advancements in internet of things (IoT) technology, the results from this study will prove blockchain's worthwhile for the smart grids of the future. The main research question of this thesis is

How can electric vehicles promote energy transition and how can blockchain facilitate the decentralisation of *future energy systems*?

This research question will be broken up further by the following sub-questions:

- How could (sub-)systems in the power grid benefit from a fleet of electric vehicles?
- What is blockchain and how can it facilitate decentralised utilities?
- What are likely scenarios for future energy systems and how will they affect peer-to-peer trading?

• What are criteria for implementing blockchain into smart (micro)grids?

Methodology

The analysis will be based on an agent-based model of a smart grid. The model will use smart metering data collected from 6-9-2011 through 31-8-2014 of a Dutch neighbourhood. The dataset contains quarterly consumption data, collected from of a few hundred households. Using electricity profiles as an indicator of forecasted demand, the BRP's need for intra-day market trading can be calculated. The goal is to see to what extent PEVs can help reduce this under variable penetrations of REG and how large the transactional throughput will be under varying circumstances. Therefore, two scenarios of the energy transition were developed:

- 2025: The trends in battery technology are assumed to lead to a short-term future where fully electric, or battery electric vehicles (BEVs), have overtaken PHEVs in number. Accordingly, the number of public charging stations will increase as well. As a result of the introduction of Tesla's Model 3 and other car manufacturers plans to release low-budget, high-radius BEVs, the penetration rate of PEVs is expected to go to 25%, with an BEV share of 80%.
- 2035: The Dutch government has plans to ban the sales of cars with internal combustion engines (ICEs). The Minister of Economic Affairs wants, per the Energieakkoord (energy agreement), to force all cars sold from 2035 to be able to operate in CO₂-neutral mode. The Dutch state wants to solely allow the sales of BEVs by 2025. Based on these policies and in accordance with CGI experts the share of PEVs is estimated to be 80%. The share of BEVs is expected to grow on to 90%.

The model's output will serve as indicators for blockchain performance requirements. A blockchain design is proposed based on the Tendermint platform. The technology will serve as an aggregator, allowing BRPs to be cut out in favour of autonomous trading on the markets. The network is offered as a proof-of-concept for blockchain-driven, local energy markets.

Thesis structure

The outline of this thesis is as follows. In Chapter 2 important aspects of electric vehicles in combination with decentralised power grids are discussed: through a literature study important opportunities and possible pitfalls of EV charging in a smart grid context are presented. In Chapter 3 the concept of blockchain is presented and different consensus models are explained. Chapter 4 gives a more thorough explanation of the analysed scenarios and the model's structure. Next, Chapter 5 presents the results from the simulations and their implications for blockchain design. The discussion of results and opportunities for further development and research will be conferred in Chapter 6. Finally, concluding remarks will be given in Chapter 7.

Background on electric vehicles and the energy transition

Over the last decades, energy systems in The Netherlands have undergone several transformations. In the 1998 Electricity Act, the Dutch market was opened up for free competition and with the 21st century came the wide-spread adoption of electrically powered cars. Furthermore, as the global awareness for the enhanced greenhouse effect increased, so did the transition towards sustainable energy generation by public and private actors. A growing part of this generation is coming from decentralised units, for instance non-energy businesses and home-owners. Much has happened since 1998 and the institutional framework set in place then, may well no longer fit the current technological standards and consumer roles. Therefore, this chapter gives a review of the current state of affairs concerning the Dutch energy system, as well as the effects of plug-in electric vehicles (PEV) on decentralised power grids. The outline of this chapter is as follows. Aspects of the liberalisation and decentralisation of the Dutch energy market are presented in Section 2.1. Following is an analysis of the effects that charging of PEVs has on power management in Section 2.2.

2.1. Energy transition in the Netherlands

Since the 1998 Electricity Act, the Dutch energy system has been characterised by liberalisation and unbundling. As a result, we went from vertically integrated, local monopolies to an open market with a clear separation between different aspects of the value chain. However, the transformation of the Dutch energy framework didn't stop there. Following trends in sustainability and technology, our energy markets are subject to continuous change. The dynamics resulting from an increase in the number of market operators cause uncertainty in power management and require smarter control solutions. This section serves as an introduction to the institutional framework of the Dutch power system, starting with a short history of the liberalisation in 2.1.1. In 2.1.2 the implications of the decentralisation of the power system are discussed. Finally, this section concludes with an analysis of important ancillary services for liberalised energy markets.

2.1.1. Liberalisation and unbundling of the energy market

Before the liberalisation imposed by the 1998 Electricity Act, the Dutch power market was an oligopoly. Under heavy regulation by the state, several publicly owned regional energy companies provided everything from production to distribution and metering. A utility service provider (USP) was selected solely based on where consumers resided. While the system was said to be cheap and effective, there was little incentive for (system) efficiency [8]. As a result of the 1989 Electricity Act the market had opened up for smaller, decentralised generation units, incentivised through a feed-in tariff based on system peak price. As the supply from decentralised units (mostly combined heat power (CHP)) rose, the demand from centralised units decreased, in turn increasing the system peak price [91, 191]. As the market share of decentralised generation increased, so did overcapacity.

Because of this market inefficiency, the Dutch government enacted the 1998 Electricity Act and moved to liberalise the energy market. Besides the national agenda, liberalisation was also part of European Union laws [191]. In the period of 1998 to 2004 the Dutch energy market was opened up in phases, starting with free choice of supplier for the largest consumers, then the medium consumers and finally the small (household)

consumers in 2004. The 1998 Electricity Act not only gave accordance to the European decree for free competition, but also for the unbundling of utility companies. Thus, no one legal entity could be active in multiple sectors of the value chain, for instance generation and distribution. Due to being a natural monopoly, transmission remained state-owned through the transmission system operator (TSO) TenneT. Furthermore, to safeguard network quality and a high service level for consumers, distribution came under state regulation in distribution grid operators (DGOs). As opposed to these two sectors, generation and retail operate under the principles of free competition. Generation units were no longer bound to capacity thresholds and as a result of the new market mechanisms everyone received a fair price for every unit of electricity. Starting from 2004, home owners were completely free to choose a utility provider to their liking. Figure 2.1 shows the energy market structure as a result of the 1998 Electricity Act.



Figure 2.1: A graphical representation of the Dutch liberalised electricity market structure after 1998

Very large consumers, for instance industrial sites, have a high, relatively constant demand. Accordingly, they can reach long-term agreements with their preferred suppliers through multiyear contracts. Other consumers operate, or are represented, on electricity markets. On the market, balance responsible parties (BRPs) are tasked with maintaining balance of supply and demand. Producers make an estimation of their production and place an offer for a certain price per unit of electricity. On the demand side, BRPs place bids to buy an amount of energy as a large consumer or as aggregator for a number of medium and small consumers. Figure 2.2 shows an example of a resulting curve on the Amsterdam power exchange (APX) day-ahead market. The day-ahead market is one of the available markets in the Netherlands, the other being the intra-day, or spot, market. On the day-ahead market BRPs place their bids (before noon) for every hour of the subsequent day. On the intra-day market BRPs can trade with a minimum of five minutes dispatch time. This provides the parties with a last-minute resort to resolve any imbalances [7]. Prices on the spot market are generally higher than those of the day-ahead market. The reason being that TenneT will penalise any BRP that deviates from placed bids, which would result in grid imbalances [131].



Figure 2.2: Aggregated curve of the day-ahead market (APX) on the 23rd of November 2016 for the 18th hour

The energy transition is the movement from fossil fuels to renewables as the primary source for energy generation. [193] state that the Dutch government has been active in the development of a more sustainable electricity system. However, the share of green energy is still far from that of other European countries. As a result of the oil crises and outages in the second half of the 20th century, the Dutch government made certainty of supply and fuel diversification top priorities. Measures initiated by the first two energy whitepapers and the 1989 Electricity Act pushed the system towards a higher share of CHP, rather than towards a more sustainable generation profile. As a consequence of the top-down view of the Dutch government, subsidies and other incentives for green energy were often aimed at large-scale integration of renewables, such as wind energy and biomass, into the existing power scheme. These projects were often found to be too ambitious or lacked public support [193].

Although policy by the Dutch government, including the liberalisation act from 1998, didn't lead to the desired penetration rate of renewables, it did start a decentralisation of the energy system. With technological advances came a bigger interest in distributed renewable energy resources by small consumers, such as rooftop solar panels. In turn, consumers changed in prosumers.

2.1.2. Distributed generation

Following the liberalisation that took place from 1998 to 2004, utility providers are required to offer a fair price for every unit of power that is fed back to the grid. On top of that, Dutch policies favoured power quality through securing supply certainty and diversifying generation types. This has lead to an increase in distributed generation (DG) [78]. Accoring to [1] "DG is an electric power source connected directly to the distribution network or on the customer side of the meter." With every increase in DG the power systems moves away from a centrally-oriented, top-down energy system to a decentralised, bottom-up one. Thus, DG is an important factor in the energy transition.

Another concept that is strongly linked to the energy transition is smart grid. A smart grid is a decentralised power grid that relies on two-way communications in the entirety of the system to facilitate efficient use of available resources [66]. The smartification of the energy system is key to guide the process of decentralisation [62].

Numerous benefits are credited to DG. Amongst others, systems could benefit from a higher penetration of renewable energy generation [174]. Seeing the relatively high share of CHP in The Netherlands, the power system could benefit from efficiency upgrades through DG [3, 72]. Moreover, as DG is attached directly to the distribution grids, close to consumption, investments in transmission and distribution can be substantially decreased [114], as well as avoiding transmission losses [35]. Furthermore, (smart) grids with a high degree of DG have the potential to provide certainty of supply in case of grid outages, as DG offers flexibility and locality [12].

However, DG doesn't come without it's downsides. According to [47] decentralised grids with a high penetration of DG can lead to problems for operational reliability. Intermittent power sources can cause power harmonics and reverse power flows and thus require more voltage regulation. These ancillary services are described below. To effectively integrate DG into distribution networks without storage capacity [79], and thus contribute to a more efficient and sustainable power grid, active network management is required [104].

2.1.3. Ancillary services

According to [90] "[a]ncillary services are those services provided by generation, transmission and control equipment which are necessary to support the transmission of electric power from producer to purchaser. These services are required to ensure that the [s]ystem [o]perator meets its responsibilities in relation to the safe, secure and reliable operation of the interconnected power system." One of those services is frequency control. According to [127] storage capacity is essential for stabilising frequency in energy systems that face a high penetration of RESs. Because of the intermittent nature of RESs, the most important criterion for ancillary services relates to the speed at which they can react to prevailing network changes, also called deployment times. [140] identify three types:

- 1. Deployment start, the time from request signal to response;
- 2. Full availability, the time from reception of the signal to end of ramp-up;
- 3. Deployment end, the maximum duration time of the service provided.

In The Netherlands the deployment start of the primary reserve is zero, the full availability 30 seconds

and deployment end 15 minutes [65]. According to [140] the most important ancillary services deal with frequency control or voltage control.

Frequency control

Frequency control is used to balance load and generation. Imbalances between load and generation might be a result of short-term load variations, errors in predicting load or schedule changes [65]. Frequency control is split into primary, secondary and tertiary control, or reserve [139, 140]:

- 1. *Primary reserve* is used for quick, immediate responses to local network fluctuations. It is used to balance out the active power generation in case of e.g. large generation or load outages
- 2. *Secondary reserve* is exerted centrally and balances network fluctuations between different local networks. Effectively, the secondary reserve makes sure that frequencies return to nominal levels after primary control has stopped the exacerbation of imbalances
- 3. Tertiary reserve is then finally used to replenish primary and secondary reserves

In distributed systems the frequency deviations are larger than those in centralised ones. Respectively, these systems can benefit the most from quick-response primary frequency control [140]. Storage capacity is an important tool for matching generation and load times and offer frequency control. The electrification of the automotive fleet has the potential to provide this storage capacity. However, the low maximum output of most PEV grid connections requires aggregators: actors that cluster and manage a large number of PEVs and thus reaching the desirable/required economies of scale [139]. Consequently, the aggregators need to account for a wide variety of user preferences, and the principal difficulty arises from central control requirements and decentralised impact on consumers [65]. This discrepancy often leads to difficult control strategies, imposing complicated prediction models and optimisation problems. The design in Chapter 5 tries to avoid these problems by lowering generalised transactions costs and facilitating a transactional framework for one-on-one ancillary service trading and autonomous frequency control.

Voltage control

There is a close relationship between voltage and reactive power control, i.e. all service providers must either produce or absorb reactive power. Like frequency control, voltage control is separated into primary, secondary and tertiary control. This entails local automatic, centralised automatic, respectively manual optimisation of reactive power flows [140].

Economics of ancillary services

The TSO usually buys ancillary services from generators and consumers. There are four markets the TSO can turn to [141]:

- 1. *Compulsory* provision is imposed to large generators as a part of their contractual grid connection. Criteria for compulsory provision are often simplified, resulting in unfair cost allocation over service providers. Compulsory provision is often used for basic voltage control;
- 2. *Bilateral contracts* are contracts with a preset quantity, quality and price, resulting in agreements that are better tailored to specific situations and services. Bilateral contracts are often complex, costly, impose high transaction costs and lack transparency. Bilateral contracts are primarily used for primary frequency control and voltage control;
- 3. *Tendering* and *spot markets* are both used for closing short-term contracts, where standardised services are traded on spot markets and tendering is used for less standardised services. Tendering is most often used for primary frequency control and enhanced voltage control, while spot markets are only used for frequency control. According to [139] in the Continental Europe system (ENTSO-E CE/UCTE) all frequency control is tendered by the TSO.

On these markets three different price signals can be used [141]:

- 1. *Regulated price*, which is a pre-defined price, equal for all players. This generally results in economically sub-optimal situations;
- 2. *Bid systems*, which result in prices based on accepted offers. Bid systems are often used for services with fluctuating quality (requirements). This system is the most widely applied over all ancillary services;

3. *Common clearing price*, which leads to prices based on the highest accepted offer or the least expensive rejected offer. These systems lead to economically optimal prices for homogeneous products.

2.2. Plug-in electric vehicles and power management

As mentioned in the introduction of this report, a significant proportion of harmful gas emissions originate from the automotive sector. As a result, the interest in electric vehicles (EV) has grown substantially over recent years. This sections aims to analyse the beneficial and adverse effects that EV charging can have on power management. Logically, only those EVs with a possible connection to the grid, i.e. plug-in electric vehicles (PEVs), are considered. In Section 2.2.1 the effect of PEVs on system load patterns is considered. In 2.2.2 the potential of the battery capacity of a fleet of PEVs for power management is studied. Finally, the Dutch situation, in terms of penetration rate, car model distribution and battery characteristics, and mobility patterns, is presented in 2.2.3.

2.2.1. Effects of charging on load balancing

Moving from conventional internal combustion engines (ICEs) to electrical drive vehicles can have substantial benefits for the environment. PEVs recharge at charging stations using electricity that has been generated with a much higher efficiency than most ICEs. Moreover, if the consumed electricity comes from renewable energy sources (RESs) the amount of CO_2 exhausted per kilometre approaches zero. While the benefits for the environment are apparent, the adverse effects on power systems seem less obvious to modern-day PEV owners. This section deals with the effects PEV charging has on power system management

Charging technology

Availability of charging infrastructure and the required charging time are important barriers for the widespread adoption of PEVs. PEV charging technology is often divided into three categories: slow, normal and fast chargers [11, 202].

- Slow chargers can be found in residential homes as regular power sockets. They are one-phased and offer charging times between 11 and 36 hours, depending on the battery state.
- Normal chargers are specialised charging stations, public or private, that form the primary charging infrastructure. These chargers can be either one- or three-phased and offer recharging times between 1 and 6 hours
- Fast chargers are often commercialised installations, that offer charging as a service, with quick refuelling. Fast chargers are three-phased charging docks that can lower the charging time to under an hour [11].

Within these three categories, charging infrastructure can be classified further based on the direction of flow. Unidirectional chargers only offer grid-to-vehicle (G2V), thus charging, while bidirectional chargers also offer vehicle-to-grid (V2G), i.e. discharging.

PEV load patterns

According to [170] the charging behaviour of Dutch PEV drivers is not influenced by the charge of the vehicle's battery. Rather, PEV drivers stick to routine and base their charging schedule on convenience. Between home, work and public charging, drivers most often charge at home [170]. The arrival time of PEVs at home is concentrated in the end of the afternoon, causing the PEV-specific load peak around 21:00 [85]. This charging peak time coincides to a large extent with the already occurring residential load peak [79]. Seeing the load of PEVs imposes a significant increase to a normal house load [162] the uncontrolled charging of a large PEV fleet can lead to for instance frequency fluctuations and grid failure for (de)central power systems [2, 11, 39, 64, 150, 168, 185]. [192] showed that the national peak load could increase by as much as 7% at a PEV penetration rate of 30% while more than doubling household peak load. The impact of uncontrolled charging on power grids cannot be ignored if persistent quality of the Dutch electricity supply is to be guaranteed [36, 203]. [199] shows, through field tests, that for most of the plugged-in time, PEVs do not charge. As a result, cars could be available to provide ancillary services if V2G technology is available, see 2.2.2.

Summarising, adverse effects from PEV charging are mainly caused by the uncontrolled nature of most load profiles. Although the total demand is relatively low the adverse effects are extremely dependent on charging modes [156]. [61] states that compared to normal household loads, PEV loads offer a higher amount

of flexibility and elasticity. Thus, PEV could be beneficial to power grids if their charging patterns match the needs of the system, charging at otherwise low demand and possibly discharging at periods of high demand (see 2.2.2) [2, 105, 155, 164, 172]. Coordination of charging leads to power quality levels that are comparable to those when no PEVs are considered [36]. However, the current energy system design is centrally focussed, and central coordination of PEV charging is only possible under full transparency, with computationally heavy control algorithms [107]. Full disclosure of all data concerning travel patters is very unlikely to receive support from the public. Moreover, using PEVs simply to fill the overnight load valley can still lead to overloading, but simply shifted.

Peak load management

Numerous methods have been described in literature that aim at peak shifting, i.e. moving the PEV peak load away from the residential peak load. According to [24] there are three ways to optimise the exploitation of the positive effects of PEVs for the power grid (1) using pricing mechanisms (2) introducing demand response algorithms (3) and deploying and using vehicle-to-grid (V2G) technology (see 2.2.2). Most of the previous work is a combination of these three categories. For instance, a lot of the pricing mechanisms are used to achieve demand responsive charging, i.e. high prices will lead to low load.

Pricing mechanisms are used to incentivise loading at low network load and vice versa. [61] models users' readiness to change loading profiles by introducing a willingness to pay (WtP) parameter. The willingness to pay adheres to the flexibility that PEV owners have considering their travel plans and state of charge (SOC). In the model user agents adapt their WtP according to their preferences, resulting in a certain charging speed - higher WtPs result in higher charging speeds. In [39] a charging algorithm is constructed based on the usage constraints of the users. The algorithm builds on [38] and features an aggregated optimisation of the energy price over the day. Through simulation the algorithm is proven to achieve valley-filling, shifting the PEV demand peak from the evening to during the night. [107] developed a charging algorithm that includes the battery degradation cost. They show that a system-optimal strategy can be found if PEV users make a trade-off between their own charging costs and local generation costs. In [187] a method is introduced where aggregators decide on revenue-optimising energy prices. PEVs then decide on their charging profile based on their specific charging requirements. The proposed algorithm does not incorporate load problems, but does show that social optimum can be achieved through the use of PEV aggregators. According to [150] pricing algorithms can account for the intermittent character of some RESs, causing prices to rise in time of shortfall and thus low PEV load. In their research, [198] show that dual tariff pricing mechanisms, e.g. night time discounts, might cause behavioural adaptation, but is likely to damage the grid further. They conclude that communication between vehicles and grid is required so that smarter charging schemes can be introduced.

Demand responsive charging or smart charging is an aggregated control scheme to limit excessive load by PEVs at times of high network load. Usually these algorithms act autonomously without requiring human intervention, thus ruling out the need for incentives. Based on quadratic programming [79] propose an algorithm that can minimise power losses and voltage fluctuations while decreasing peak power. They acknowledge the associated costs with coordinated charging. [175] state that smart charging solely targeting valley-filling causes PEV owners to align their charging during the night, resulting in additional peak loads. [116] use load predictions to calculate desirable charging speeds and durations. Their goals are to minimise overall peak load and to balance the load profile. They show that the algorithm leads to desirable effects, while only requiring household electricity consumption data.

2.2.2. Storage capacity and vehicle-to-grid

According to [34] storage capacity can effectively lower the operational cost of distributed power systems. There are many forms of storage capacity, but especially battery technology seems very promising, as a result of recent technological advances. These advances will accelerate the adoption of distributed generation (DG) from renewable energy sources (RESs), possibly leading to an increase in the value of renewable energy [46]. As the value of renewable energy goes up and owners have reasonable certainty that value is persistent, DG is incentivised. PEVs are considered to be one of the primary sources for storage [73, 102]. [175] show that PEVs are unused for most of the day. The power invested in the automotive fleet is enormous [83], thus even when only a small proportion of parked vehicles can be connected to the grid, they can increase the quality of power supply, lower system costs and provide mitigation for the intermittence of renewable energy generation (REGs) [84, 99].

Besides having the ability to store large amounts of electricity, PEV fleets have the potential to feed stored energy back to the grid at a later, more opportune moment. This is known as the vehicle-to-grid (V2G) concept. V2G essentially is a bidirectional link between the power grid and electric vehicles, allowing them to feed power to the grid from their batteries. Already in [81] electric vehicles with V2G technology were expected to become important shapers of future energy systems. Three factors determine the maximum power drawable from any one PEV (1) the capacity of the link to the power grid, (2) the available charge over time, and (3) the maximum power of the vehicle's electric system [82]. [80] show that, due to their small storage capacity, plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEVs) are less suitable to provide services through V2G. When implementing (large-scale) V2G into a power system, a trade-off has to be made between the storage requirements for the owners' driving patterns and the storage capacity required to stabilise the system by the grid operator. [83] recognise three ways to do this. (1) increase storage capacity beyond requirements of the owners, (2) aggregate until a more or less constant demand pattern is reached over a large number of PEVs, and (3) use smart control to determine when and when not to draw from PEVs. This work is focussed on the latter.

V2G can be beneficial to a number of power markets, which are discussed subsequently.

The baseload market

V2G is not competitive for baseload power [80, 82, 84]. Baseload power is relatively constant over a large period of time. Because of this, large, central, slow-ramping generation sites are used to meet this demand. As long as they can operate at full capacity, their production cost per unit of power are by far the lowest of all production facilities. Examples of production sites are coal-fired or nuclear power plants.

Peak load market

Peak (load) in power grids occurs at those times of the day the demand for electricity is the highest. Examples of this are the evening peaks, when residential areas are densely occupied, or the afternoon peaks during summer, when air-conditioning requires large amounts of power primarily in commercial sectors. On the other side of the spectrum, supply has its peak at different times. For instance, the supply peak from PV panels is around noon. Moreover, PEV drivers often plug in their vehicles during prevailing peaks, increasing the harmful effects and the difficulty to balance the system. With limited smart control the charging and discharging (V2G) of PEVs can actually benefit the grid by matching the generation with load time [80, 81]. The storage capacity of a fleet of electric vehicles can effectively bridge the gap between the two. Furthermore, a PV output curve almost entirely, albeit with a delay, matches the load curve of air-conditioners. By using PEV as temporary storage this delay can be efficiently mitigated [81]. This process is called peak shaving or shifting.

Ancillary services market

For ancillary services, such as spinning reserves and regulation, power generation sites make contracts with the TSO, saying that they will have a certain amount of available power ready for emergencies such as grid failures or sudden load peaks. Often these contracts have a minimum power of 1 MW [83]. Seeing most V2G infrastructure has a power output of around 20 kW [11, 202], either an aggregation of a large number of vehicles is required to make bids of suitable size, or a smarter system is required to lower, possibly rule out, the need for the minimum power threshold. It is assumed that the threshold is a result of the associated transaction costs. If transaction costs could be limited, aggregation could become lower, possibly to the vehicle level, resulting if a better geographical match between supply and demand of ancillary services. A design of a transactional framework that could facilitate this is presented in Chapter 5.

Through their modularity and short response time, the storage capacity of PEVs is of high value to grid operators for high-speed ancillary services. This is especially the case for the distribution grid operators (DGOs), who face increasingly dynamic local power systems. [99] show that the economical benefits for PEV owners are small if price signals from the day-ahead market will be used. However, the potential gains from encouraging ancillary services on a 15 minute basis are much greater [85, 110]. At 10% penetration rate in Denmark there would already be enough capacity to cover the required ancillary services. [46] recognise that with present-day technology, PEV batteries could already provide commercially effective solutions for instantaneous, short term and medium term ancillary service. Especially on the medium term, a fleet of PEVs could be used for load balancing and peak load shaving. Allowing PEVs to function as a spinning reserve for power grids could be an economic incentive for owners. Namely, generators get paid a rate for every hour they are available to the grid plus an extra, market-conform price for any sold unit of electricity [82, 182]. Compared to spinning reserve, regulation requires shorter load duration, quicker response times (less than a minute) and is required more often [82]. [182] states that regulating is the best market for V2G to operate on, due to its high market value, low impact on the battery lifespan and especially battery electric vehicles are well outfitted to perform regulating due to their ability to exert continuously fluctuating output [50]. [133] states that the ancillary market could be filled by only a small number of vehicles.

Intermittence of REG

For the two most important RESs, wind and sun, coping with intermittence is an important aspect for power quality. Of the two, wind energy is the most variable, while sun energy is relatively constant and more predictable. However, the time of peak supply doesn't match that of peak load. To account for the intermittence of REG, two modes of operation are possible: backup and storage. Backup is used to account for failures at generation level. Using their ICEs to provide power to the grid, or PEVs with fuel cells (H₂) [83], PEVs can deliver power when a part of the grid is in islanding mode. Storage is expected to be the only economically viable option, namely it can be provided by any PEV possessing a battery and in combination with V2G offers direct economic incentives. For PV and wind energy, storage can account for their unpredictability and displacement between peak power and load. [105] says that by using V2G a much higher share of energy from RESs can be achieved, compared to DG systems without a V2G fleet, as the technology can effectively help match time of generation and time of load. They use EnergyPlan [53] to model an hour-to-hour representation of Denmark's power grid. Their input parameters featured a high penetration of combined heat and power (CHP) and wind energy. [110, 163] also recognise the importance of V2G for the value of REG.

V2G costs

[81] show that the expected benefits from using the storage capacity from PEVs will outweigh the potential costs. Due to parking costs the PEV fleet is actually generating negative value [186]. Moreover, because constant fluctuations and failures in the grid account for 5-10% of electricity costs [82], DGOs could subsidise PEV owners if they help mitigate these harmful effects.

V2G systems require intensive software investment, but little effort in developing or adapting hardware [81]. [105] adopted a model that makes sure every individual car is fully charged before it is disconnected, but refer to [81] for the possibility of using pricing mechanisms in order to incentivise charging during low demand/high supply and vice versa. Economic benefits can be achieved by replacing regular generation with discharging of PEVs, seeing their low capital cost, similar availability and the possibility of matching supply and demand at much shorter distances [81, 82, 182]. This economic competitiveness is regardless of the high per unit production costs [83]. The owner of the car needs to be encouraged to plug in the PEV whenever the car is parked [68]

Battery degradation

One of the most important cost drivers for V2G technology and a critical hurdle to overcome is the stress on PEV batteries. Battery degradation is defined as the loss of a battery's charge capacity [71], and is caused by quick fluctuations in charge and deep discharging. Considering most modern-day PEVs have lithium-ion batteries [9, 18, 37, 111, 190] and discharging can have devastating effects on the lifespan of such batteries [46], a trade-off must be made between cost and benefits. Intermittent charging may also shorten the battery lifespan [107], [103] goes as far as claiming that V2G is not a viable option yet because of the degradation that occurs. According to [71] charging should be stopped around 85-90% state of charge (SOC) to avoid severe degradation. The effect of high SOC on degradation is also mentioned by [106, 196].

Controversely, [132] states that the effect of V2G on battery degradation is less than half of that of rapid charging/discharging during driving. Furthermore, they state that the depth of discharge (DoD) is an unsuitable indicator for battery degradation in these situations, and instead suggest using the total amount of processed energy. High level of intermittence in charging/discharging should be avoided. [204] show that lithium-ion batteries can be cost-effective if used for peak load V2G, but economics are highly dependent on ambient temperatures and DoD. In a pilot experiment [17] showed that, when used for regulation, the battery requirements for V2G were similar to that of regular driving and that the benefits exceed the incurred costs. The economic feasibility of V2G regulation is further substantiated by [74]. They state that around 50% state-of-charge (SOC) battery degradation is lowest at different ambient temperatures.

2.2.3. Penetration rate in the Netherlands

According to [145] there were almost 13 000 BEVs and 86 200 PHEVs on the Dutch roads by the end of 2016. When compared to the total number of passenger cars, approximately 8.1 million, the penetration rate of

PEVs is roughly 1%. Tables 2.1 and 2.2 show the distribution of some of the most popular PHEVs, respectively the most popular full electric vehicles (BEVs) in The Netherlands. For the PHEVs only the top five most popular models are used due to the large diversity of available PHEV models, the remaining 'other' fraction's battery capacity is calculated as a weighted average of these five models. Some car models might come in multiple different versions, including different battery capacities. If that is the case, a medium-sized battery capacity is selected as to not under- nor over-estimate the available capacity.

Table 2.1: Table of the most common PHEVs in The Netherlands with market share [145], and battery type and capacity [57, 88, 118, 120, 181].

Model	Percentage	Battery type	Battery capacity [kWh]
Mitsubishi Outlander	28.8%	Li-ion	12
Volvo V60	17.4%	Li-ion	12
Volkswagen Golf	11.3%	Li-ion	8.7
Audi A3 Sportback	6.1%	Li-ion	8.8
Mercedes Benz C350 E	5.9%	Li-ion	6.2
Other	30.5%		10.7

Table 2.2: Table of the most common full electric vehicles in The Netherlands with market share [145], and battery type and capacity [37, 67, 69, 124, 142, 165, 173, 179, 180, 188].

Model	Percentage	Battery type	Battery capacity [kWh]
Tesla Model S	46.5%	Li-ion	75
Nissan Leaf	13.7%	Li-ion	30
Renault ZOE	10.9%	Li-ion	22
BWM I3	6.7%	Li-ion	33
Renault Kangoo Z.E.	5.4%	Li-ion	22
Nissan E-NV200	5.3%	Li-ion	24
Smart ForTwo	3.8%	Li-ion	17.6
Renault Twizy	3.6%	Li-ion	6.1
Tesla Model X	2.1%	Li-ion	100
Volkswagen Golf	2.0%	Li-ion	24.2

According to [101] 61% of Dutch public charging stations have been 'smartified'. It is assumed that the process of smartification results in charging infrastructure that can offer V2G capabilities to a car.

2.3. Problem definition and implications for design

Concluding from the previous sections a number of weaknesses can be spotted in the current organisation of the Dutch power system:

- Resulting from Dutch and European policy, the energy market was liberalised. Consequently, the system conveyed optimal conditions for the rise of decentralised generation. With the increasing penetration of REGs, such as wind and energy, prosumers, companies and (local) governments give ear to the rising concern for the environment. While the system is clearly decentralising, the control strategy is still marked by a top-down, centralised approach. This is evident from the responsibilities of the TSO as the central party responsible for grid-wide balance.
- Thus, decentralised generation has a increasing share of REG. RESs, especially wind and sun, are highly intermittent, which makes the supply hard to predict. As a result, additional stress is imposed on the central balancing responsibility and REG investment conditions are sub-optimal.
- Road traffic is one the most important sources of CO₂ emissions. Therefore, the wide-spread adoption of electric vehicles can have significant benefits for the environment. However, as the current system has no smart way of controlling charging patterns, the introduction of PEVs leads to additional stress

on decentralised power systems. This is especially relevant for the household peak load, which is to a large extent coincident with the preferred charging time of PEVs. These peaks are therefore intensified.

• Stability in decentralised power grids is increased by the availability of local storage. Collectively, the batteries of PEVs could provide ample capacity to provide useful services to grid system operators, not in the last place due to their large idle share. Nonetheless, owing to the central nature of control strategies, this potential is wasted. To reach service thresholds aggregation is required, of which the proposed algorithms are complex and cumbersome.

In short, PEVs' stabilising potential is wasted and the energy transition is progressing slower than it could due to the system's top-down approach. If the benefits of the energy transition are to be exploited fully, the power system requires a new, bottom-up design. The first step in solving balancing problems at the consumer level should be amongst consumers themselves, peer-to-peer (P2P). This would be in line with the prosumer movement, where users of the electricity systems take up an increasing interest in participation. However, the current system design has no way of facilitating the active participation of the smallest user level. In order to reach capacity thresholds, designed to optimise economies of scale and minimise transaction costs, small consumer would have to be aggregated. As consumers are aggregated the resulting control strategies move further away from individual user preferences. On the other hand, should P2P energy trading be implemented, active involvement would require knowledge of energy markets and basic economics. User adaptability is therefore also an issue.

2.3.1. Design criteria

The remainder of this work will focus on the applicability of PEVs to facilitate electrical grid stability and the design of a transactional system that can meet the decentralisation of Dutch power systems. In the (near) future, the design can be expanded to gradually overtake critical system responsibilities, for example those currently belonging to the TSO. The system will have to allow for PEV owners to offer their services directly to peers, cutting out USPs and BRPs, allowing a form of direct market participation. In order to achieve this, transaction costs should approach zero and the system has to be able to provide instant response and account for a large transaction throughput. P2P transactions occur between individuals that have no way to knowing, and thus trusting, each other. Third parties, such as banks, could be introduced to act as trusted party. However, this would mean handing over sensitive information over to new actors. In an age of decreasing privacy and rising concern for it, this might result in a less attractive solution. Moreover, the man-in-the-middle approach would incur additional transaction costs and move away from decentralised principles.

Without a trusted third party, system security becomes an important obstacle to overcome. In the P2P network it is likely that two parties have no established trust relationship and thus require some other mechanism to check the authenticity of users. Moreover, in a distributed network, no one node has indisputable authority to validate the system state. Thus, the system requires a way of validating transaction integrity in a distributed sense. A technology that could facilitate this is blockchain.

Blockchain is the technology behind the more well-known Bitcoin. The technology was dubbed as a timestamping server [121], but later came known as blockchain. Blockchain is essentially a distributed ledger that allows users to exchange assets without interposition of for instance banks. Instead, these parties are replaced by mechanisms of cryptography and rely on maths and IT instead of central actors to keep the system running. Blockchain is extensively addressed in Chapter 3.

2.3.2. Research questions

The main research question is:

How can electric vehicles promote energy transition and how can blockchain facilitate the decentralisation of such energy systems?

EVs will become an integral part of our society as we move away from fossil fuels and prepare for a more sustainable future. The main objective of this research is to investigate how EVs can be of use for future energy systems, rather than put additional stress on them. The extent to which blockchain can help in this is also considered, the following sub-questions convey this notion:

- What is blockchain and how can it facilitate decentralised utilities?
- What are likely user adoption scenarios for blockchain-based energy trading?

• How will different user attitudes affect system performance?

3

Blockchain

A blockchain is a fully distributed ledger, containing transactions. More specifically, all transactions relating to the specific blockchain ever made. The technology was first introduced in 2008 by Satoshi Nakamoto as the technology underpinning the ever-popular Bitcoin [121]. Bitcoin is a cryptocurrency where trust is no longer put in central minting authorities, but in the underlying cryptography mechanisms of a blockchain. Thus, blockchain-based systems would meet the need for transparency and equality of liberalised energy markets. However, by removing a central trusted authority, security becomes the next key issue. Moreover, in a blockchain where value comes from energy there is essentially no minting process, namely energy is generated. Furthermore, requiring a lot of energy (as is inherent to Bitcoin as explained in 3.3) to be able to trade energy seems ironical. In other words, if the blockchain as proposed by [121] would be used to facilitate energy markets a number of questions needs to be answered:

- 1. What is a suitable model of consensus for a transactional system for energy markets?
- 2. What is the required frequency of consensus, i.e. block creation, for such a system?
- 3. Would the system benefit from a private, public or hybrid blockchain?
- 4. What roles can current market parties play in such a system?

This section contains an overview of blockchain's concepts in 3.1 and the different modes in 3.2. Following, in 3.3, four different consensus models are explained.

3.1. Blockchain concepts

In order to fully understand the applicability of blockchain for energy markets, some of the core concepts, as well as essential underlying crypto mechanisms, are discussed here. Most of these notions are taken from [121].

Transactions are the core of any blockchain. The main reason for introducing blockchains, was so that conventional three-party trust relations could be replaced by a two-party transactional system. Trust in a third party, such as a bank, is replaced by trust in mathematics, more precisely: cryptography. Each transaction contains a sender *Alice*, a transaction message *m* and a receiver *Bob*. transactions are performed in such a way that after each valid transaction, ownership is transferred rather than copied.

Digital signatures are what chains the transactions together. Digital signatures are used to verify integrity of a transaction message and authenticity of the transaction sender. One method of digital signaturing is using RSA. RSA is, amongst others, used as an asymmetric (public key) cipher system, meaning that messages are encrypted and decrypted using different keys, as opposed to symmetric cipher systems where the same key is used for encrypting and decrypting [166]. RSA is based on the difficulty of factorising large integers. Say *Alice* wants to sign a transaction to *Bob*, he/she she picks two secret large primes *p* and *q*:

$$N_A = p_A * q_A , \qquad (3.1)$$

and an encryption exponent ε_A , such that

$$gcd(\varepsilon_A,\phi(N_A)) = 1$$
, (3.2)

where *gcd* stands for greatest common divisor and $\phi(N_A)$ is Euler's totient function of N_A . Because *p* and *q* are primes $\phi(N_A) = (p-1)(q-1)$. (N_A, ε_A) is considered the as public part and (d_A, p_A, q_A) the secret, where

$$d_A = 1/\varepsilon_A \mod \phi(N_A) \,. \tag{3.3}$$

As Alice sends m and the signature

$$s_A = m^{d_A} \mod N, \tag{3.4}$$

Bob can check the authenticity of Alice and the integrity of m by verifying that

$$m = s_A^{\mathcal{E}_A} \mod N \,. \tag{3.5}$$

The transaction message *m* is formed by a previous transaction, where *Alice* was the receiver, and *Bob*'s public key. This provides a link between the current transaction and the previous ones, verifying ownership of the transacted item by *Alice*. Using string *m* as input for RSA can take a long time (as a result of exponentiating), especially if *m*'s length increases. Therefore, hashes are used instead.

Hash functions are used to save time when signing transactions. A hash function takes an input string of arbitrary length and outputs a string with a fixed length. They are said to be one-way, meaning that it is easy to compute a hash from a given string, but computationally infeasible to compute the string belonging to a given hash [166]. Good hash functions adhere to a set of rules, resulting in no correlation between input and output. This means that even if only one input bit is changed, the output could be completely different. By using hash functions *Alice*'s signature becomes

$$s_A = h(m)^{d_A} \mod N, \tag{3.6}$$

where h(m) results in a hash of m, i.e. h(x) is the hash function (e.g. SHA-256 for Bitcoin [92] and Keccak-512 for Ethereum [201]). The verification is now done by sending m and s_A to *Bob*, who can verify using *Alice*'s public key to find

$$h(m) = s_A^{\mathcal{E}_A} \mod N, \tag{3.7}$$

by comparing with the hash from the received message (m') a signature can be verified by checking if

$$h(m') = h(m) \tag{3.8}$$

For instance, if *Alice* were to send some item with value *x* to *Bob*, she would have to prove that she has received *x* in an earlier transaction, for example from *Charles*. The message that *Alice* sends to *Bob* would be

$$m := txn_{n-1}(Charles \longrightarrow Alice, x, \varepsilon_B).$$
(3.9)

The digital signaturing scheme is graphically represented in Figure 3.1.

Although the receiving end of a transaction can now verify authenticity and integrity of the transaction message, i.e. verify ownership, there is no way for him/her to check if the sender had not already spent the transacted item. This is also called the **double spend problem**. In order words, there is still no actual transference of ownership. This problem is solved by timestamping, namely creating blocks.

Blocks are aggregations of transactions that are timestamped together. By including the hash of the previous block, blocks are linked together into the blockchain. Because blocks are linked together using hashes, changing the block's content would completely change all subsequent blocks. Consequently, every block is immutable after enough consecutive blocks have been added. Blocks, and thus all included transactions, are unique because timestamps are added. The process of creating blocks is called mining. In this process, miners compete for reaching widespread consensus.



Figure 3.1: A graphical representation of the digital signaturing scheme used in blockchain transactions

Consensus or majority voting, is the process of deciding on one single correct blockchain in a distributed network. Usually, a consensus algorithm depends either on encouraging honest nodes or punishing dishonest ones. For instance, Bitcoin's consensus model is called proof-of-work. It requires miners to invest in energy and in return they receive a reward for succesfully mining a block. The longest chain is considered to be the correct one, seeing it has the most invested into it. Simultaneously mined blocks lead to forks. For this reason transactions are only fully confirmed after a number of blocks have been added after the containing block - with Bitcoin this is 6 blocks, i.e. roughly an hour. After this confirmation time has passed, forks are either merged with the main chain, or dropped. Different consensus models are described in Section 3.3. Because of the distributed nature of blockchains, 51% attacks are introduced.

51% attacks are a result of the distributed trust algorithms in blockchain applications. Because of the way consensus works on blockchains, integrity is dependent on the share of honest nodes. If more than half of the nodes is dishonest, i.e. a node (collection) possesses more than 50% of the network's resources, the blockchain's consensus algorithm can no longer guarantee that the longest chain is indeed the correct/honest one.

Merkle trees are introduced to save disk space. Merkle roots are, often binary, hash trees where the lowest level is formed by hashes of the data and the top level is called the root hash. According to [92] whenever a non-miner node needs to verify a transaction he only needs to have the transaction hash and the root hash. For instance, if a node wants to check TXN_1 's occurrence in the respective block in figure 3.2 he/she only has to receive $HASH_2$, $HASH_{34}$ and $HASH_{5678}$ from a mining node, who keep a record of a larger part of the chain. By concatenating hashes the verifying node can work up to the top of the tree and check the resulting root with the one given in the block header. The difficulty of verifying a transactions is said to be log(N).

3.2. The four Ps of blockchain

The original blockchain was a fully public one, 100% decentrally controlled. However, this structure is not applicable for all possible timestamped ledger applications. Different applications require different levels of security. In an effort to characterise (existing) blockchains, a two-dimensional classification system was introduced. The two axes are formed by data access and mining priviledge. Data access runs from private to public and mining privilege from permissioned to permissionless [13, 14].

Private vs. public blockchains

Public blockchains, such as Bitcoin, grant full access to the data stored in the blockchain, as well as authorising all nodes to add new transactions into the pending pool. It is needless to say that private blockchains prohibit such access. Blockchain was based on the trustless principle, meaning that transactions can occur between two parties that have no reason to trust each other, apart from the underlying algorithmic paradigm. For the same reason Satoshi [121] made Bitcoin open-source, as the collective testing power of all nodes, by far supersedes the testing capability of any private organisation at much lower costs [159]. Moreover, public blockchains protect the users from the developers as anyone is free to verify the correctness of the inner



Figure 3.2: A graphical representation of a Merkle tree

workings of the blockchain [20]. As a blockchain become more private, more and more benefits of blockchain technology are undermined [13]. However, private blockchains are not completely useless, they find their domain within companies as facilitator of various business flows [119].

Regulated blockchains, or consortiums, form a trade-off between private and public blockchains. Instead of having a black-and-white perspective, specific access is granted to some or all users. Rights can be given to either read, write or both, and joining can be open to anyone or some users, based on registration criteria [13, 20].

Permissioned vs. permissionless blockchains

Permissionless and permissioned blockchains are distinctive in how consensus models work. On permissionless blockchains anyone can partake in the mining process, whereas permissioned blockchains limit the amount and kind of nodes that can vote on block creation. On permissioned chains the identities of miners are known, or either traceable, thus the required consensus models can be lighter versions than that of permissionless systems. This results in lower transaction costs and higher block speeds [20]. Moreover, permissionless mining leads to un-evenly split network power, as is the case with Bitcoin's PoW, where access to external resources determines mining success [14]. As [200] states, 51% attacks were already possible in 2014 due to large mining pools, where combined resources could outmatch the rest of the network. Due to the fact that immutability is theoretically never guaranteed, transactions confirmation takes a very long time (with Bitcoin it is one hour), just to be reasonably safe [14].

3.3. Consensus models in blockchain

There are a number of consesus models available that aim to achieve agreement in distributed sytems. This section covers four of them: (1) proof-of-work (PoW); (2) proof-of-stake (PoS); (3) Byzantine Fault Tolerance (BFT); (4) Federated Byzantine Agreement (FBA).

Proof-of-work

PoW can be considered as the traditional consensus model described by [121] in 2008. Whenever a miner tries to mine a block, containing any number of transactions, he creates a block header. Block headers H contain the previous block's header, the Merkle root hash ρ and an integer nonce *i*, see figure 3.3.

$$h(H_n) = h(H_{n-1} \| \rho_n \| i).$$
(3.10)

The mining process entails hashing the newly created block header (equation 3.10) and incrementing the nonce until a hash is found that meets a certain difficulty. The difficulty relates to a number of starting zero bits *n*. For instance, in Bitcoin, SHA-256 outputs strings of 256 bits. If we look at the integer result of $h(H_n)$ is

should hold that

$$h(H_n) < 2^{256-n} \,. \tag{3.11}$$

The difficulty is set to a moving average number of blocks per time unit based on the technological stateof-the-art in the network (changed roughly every two weeks [92]). Once a block is mined it can be added to the chain and the network starts on mining the follow-up block. The miners are incentivised to mine through setting the first transaction of a block, called coinbase in the Bitcoin blockchain, as a reward for the miner. At the time of writing the reward is approximately 12 BTC, or almost \in 6,900. Besides being incentive, the coinbase is also the main minting process of PoW consensus models.

Mining thus entails reproducing the same useless hash calculation, requiring miners to invest in significant CPU/GPU power if they want to earn the coinbase. Thus, PoW is a great way of ensuring value of a cryptocurrency, however it comes with two important downsides: (1) the PoW consesus protocol results in an extremely high energy consumption due to the high dependence on CPU/GPU power [42, 109] and (2) the Tragedy of the Commons problem



Figure 3.3: A graphical representation of consequtive block headers in a proof-of-work consensus algorithm

Tragedy of the Commons is described in economics as a system of shared resources where individuals act based solely on their own self-interest, collectively moving away from a common optimum [75]. The TotC is often explained by using grazing herds of cattle. Herders who let their cattle graze on common grounds benefit from buying extra livestock as to increase their share over their competitors. However, supply (fresh grass) is limited by nature, eventually resulting in a depleted field. This is analogous to e.g. Bitcoin mining where the supply of the initial reward is decreased over time and the demand (CPU/GPU power of miners) is increased in hopes of getting a higher succesful mining rate. Eventually, the rewards will no longer cover the costs of running expensive mining equipment, demotivating nodes to stay honest. On the long-term, PoW will not be able to guarantee healthy cryptocurrencies.

Proof-of-stake

Proof-of-stake (PoS) was introduced by [87] as a model of consensus for Peercoin, an alternative cryptocurrency and is essentially a verification of ownership. PoS works with two type of blocks, PoS and PoW blocks. PoS blocks are known in the database and memory, but not to the network [41], i.e. the blockchain is formed entirely of PoW blocks. In PoS models the miners use a stake S, an unspent wallet output with a certain age t_S , lower bound to t_{min} , to make a kernel \mathcal{K} , which contains [41, 86, 125]:

- 1. a random 8-byte modifier to introduce randomness (used to prevent pre-staking), R;
- 2. the timestamp of the block containing the stake coin transaction, t_{H_S} ;
- 3. the offset of the stake coin transaction inside the respective block, *O*;
- 4. the timestamp of the stake coin transaction, t_S ;
- 5. the output/amount of the stake coin transaction N_S ;
- 6. the current timestamp t_{now} (see figure 3.4).

All kernel inputs are concatenated and hashed to form

$$h_{\mathcal{K}} = h(R \parallel t_{H_{\mathcal{S}}} \parallel O \parallel t_{\mathcal{S}} \parallel N_{\mathcal{S}} \parallel t_{now}).$$
(3.12)

Similar to PoW $h_{\mathcal{K}}$ is matched to a certain difficulty, which is inversely proportional to the staked output [19, 86], so the hash requirement becomes

$$h_{\mathcal{K}} < \tau * N_{\mathcal{S}} * (t_{now} - t_{\mathcal{S}}),$$
 (3.13)

where τ is a target per unit coin age and $N_S * (t_{now} - t_S)$ is the staked coin-age. If the difficulty of the kernel is not met, the current timestamp is reset to match the UTC time in seconds and re-hashed. If the difficulty is met, the stake output is spend in a coinstake transaction, similar to Bitcoin's coinbase, in the newly timestamped PoW block. The block award and any transaction costs are added to the coinstake and act as incentive for miners [129].



Figure 3.4: A graphical representation of how the kernel in a proof-of-stake algorithm is formed and used in a proof-of-stake blockchain

Because difficulty is inversely related to unspent wallet outputs, 51% attacks are only possible if a node attains more than 50% of the coins in the network. Moreover, because the hashing rate is limited to 1 per second per unspent wallet output, only a limited number of hashes can be generated, resulting in a much more energy efficient system. However, the PoS consensus algorithm does introduce the "nothing-at-stake problem".

Nothing at stake is caused by the fact that there is no actual cost of mining. In traditional PoW systems miners have invested in computational power, which is most efficiently used on one chain. In the event of forks, miners gain nothing from splitting their CPU/GPU power, as it would lead to decreased success rate on both chains. For PoS systems ther is no additional cost for mining on multiple forks at once, therefore the mining success rate increases by mining on all available chains: a miner will get a reward regardless of on which chain a block is mined [22]. Solutions to the nothing-at-stake problem have been suggested, such as the Slasher algorithm [21], but have not seen (large-scale) implementation.

Byzantine Fault Tolerance

The Byzantine Generals Problem (BGP) was first introduced by [98] as an abstraction for problems in embedded computer systems. The analogy of generals in the Byzantine army that need to agree on a common battle plan through a single communication channel, can be used to describe e.g. blockchain systems. The nodes in the network are analogous to the generals, a traitorous general being a dishonest node and a loyal general an honest node. The to be agreed upon common battle plan is the valid blockchain, where disruptions caused by traitorous generals are symbols for forks of the main chain (be it malicious or not). By solving the problem a resolution is found for conflicting information in distributed networks, i.e. a consensus model. According to [98] the network nodes must all be aware of the same information and have an uniform, robust algorithm to process the information, as described by [25]. A Byzantine Fault is then arbitrary, deviant behaviour of nodes. In essence Byzantine fault tolerance (BFT) is a voting system that requires a 2/3 majority vote to achieve consensus.

A blockchain using a solution to the BGP as a basis for the consensus model is Tendermint [94]. In their Byzantine Consensus Algorithm (BCA) block creation is achieved by validators, known nodes that have staked coins and a corresponding amount of voting power. Nodes in the validator pool are selected to become proposer in a round-robin fashion, in proportion to their voting power. Each round the proposer multicasts a proposal for a new block \mathcal{B}_n , composed of a header \mathcal{H}_n , transaction data set \mathcal{T}_n and the previous block's validation set \mathcal{V}_{n-1} :

$$\mathcal{H}_{n} = \{ ID, n, t, h(\mathcal{H}_{n-1}), h(\mathcal{T}_{n-1}), h(\mathcal{S}_{n}) \},$$
(3.14)

where the *ID* is the blockchain's string id, *n* is the proposed block height, *t* is the local time of the proposer, $h(\mathcal{H}_{n-1})$ is the hash of the previous block's header, $h(\mathcal{T}_{n-1})$ a root hash of the previous block's transaction Merkle tree and $h(\mathcal{S}_n)$ a root hash of the state Merkle tree after adding the proposed block [95].



Figure 3.5: A graphical representation of how blocks are linked in a Byzantine fault tolerant blockchain

After a block is proposed the validators enter the prevote step, during which each validator multicasts a prevote vote to neighbouring nodes. A vote V_i from node *i* contains the

- 1. the integer block height, *n*;
- 2. the round number, v (after [25]'s view);
- 3. the type (prevote or precommit), $\in \{1, 2\}$;
- 4. the hash of the proposed block's header, $h(\mathcal{H}_n)$;
- 5. the blockparts (used to speed up multicast) \mathcal{B}_n ;
- 6. the validator's signature, s_i [95].

Essential during voting is the locking state of a validator. A validator *i* can be locked on a block proposal from any previous round (offset *x*). Each node can be locked on zero or one block(s) and can only vote for the locked proposal block. If the validator does not receive a valid block proposal during prevote it votes *nil*. Locking happens during the step following prevote, namely precommit. During precommit every validator locks a block if it has received more than 2/3 of prevotes for that particular block, while simultaneously multicasting a precommit vote to its neighbours. Seeing every validator can only lock on one block at a time, it unlocks on any other block. If a node receives more than 2/3 prevotes for *nil* it simply unlocks and a new round is started. If 2/3 of the validators precommits are found for a specific block, the block is committed, timestamped, hashed and added to the chain. Subsequently, a new voting round is started for a new proposal [55, 94, 96, 161]. Each round, proposal, prevote and precommit, is bound to pre-defined timeout times, increasing marginally every round, allowing for (partially) asynchronous networks.

```
Algorithm 1: Tendermint's Byzantine consensus algorithm
  Data: v = 0
  begin
      begin proposal step
           v := v + 1;
           pick proposer;
           proposer proposes block (n, v);
           if proposer is locked on block from previous round v_{lastlock} then
               add proof-of-lock (PoL) from v_{PoL};
      begin prevote step
           foreach validator i do
               if proposal is invalid then
                 i \longrightarrow \{nil, s_i\};
               else
                    if i is locked on block from previous round then
                        if \exists PoL \&\& v_{lastlock} < v_{PoL} < v then
                          unlock;
                        if i is still locked then
                            i \longrightarrow \{n, v + x, 1, h(\mathcal{H}_n), \mathcal{B}_n, s_i\};
                    else
                     i \longrightarrow \{n, v, 1, h(\mathcal{H}_n), \mathcal{B}_n, s_i\};
      begin precommit step
          foreach validator i do
               if i receives more than 2/3 nil prevotes then
                    unlock;
                    v_{PoL} := v;
                    GoTo proposal;
               else if more than 2/3 prevotes for the same block with a height n then
                    i \longrightarrow \{n, v, 2, h(\mathcal{H}_n), \mathcal{B}_n, s_i\};
                    v_{lastlock} := v;
                    v_{PoL} := v;
      if more than 2/3 precommits for particular block then
           t_{commit} := t_{now};
           add block n to chain;
           restart algorithm;
      else
          GoTo prevote;
```

Safety in consensus is based on the fact that validators can only vote once per block height, and double votes can easily be spotted by other validators. In case of duplicate votes the bonded coins of the infringing node are destroyed. Thus, dishonesty is directly, economically discouraged.

Federated Byzantine Agreement

A comparable algorithm to Byzantine fault tolerance is federated Byzantine agreement (FBA). An example of a FBA is the Ripple Protocol Consensus Algorithm (RPCA). In RPCA there is a set of validator nodes, or servers, *I*, in which every server *i* maintains a proposal set of transactions to be verified and added to a block:

$$\forall i \in I \exists \mathcal{T}_i^{\nu} , \tag{3.15}$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{i}^{\nu} := \{T_{1}, T_{2}, ..., T_{k}\}, \qquad (3.16)$$

where v is the round number and v = 0 is used for a candidate set. Servers are registered in unique node list (UNL), denoted U. During a set of iterative rounds v, the servers compare their candidate sets and/or proposals. If a transaction occurs in both proposals, the server votes for that transaction and if the number of votes is more than a specified voting rate τ , the transaction is added to the proposal for the next round.

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\mathcal{T}_{i}^{\nu}} \left[\sum_{j \neq i}^{\mathcal{U}} \left(\frac{f(T_{k}, \mathcal{T}_{j}^{\nu})}{|\mathcal{U}|} \ge \tau \right) \Longrightarrow T_{k} \in \mathcal{T}_{i}^{\nu+1} \right],$$
(3.17)

where

$$f(T_k, \mathcal{T}_j^{\nu}) = \begin{cases} 1 & T_k \in \mathcal{T}_j^{\nu} \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}.$$
(3.18)

The voting rate is increased every round from 50%, to 60% and finally 70%. Network consensus is reached when more than 80% of $T_k \in \mathcal{T}_{i,3}$ has a 70% occurrence or higher. The block, including all those transactions, is added to the blockchain. The transactions that have not received a voting rate of 70% or higher remain in the candidate set and a new voting process is started. The speed of the network, which is in the order of seconds per block, is dependent on the latency between nodes. If nodes exhibit a latency above a certain threshold, they are dropped from all UNLs, in order to speed up the network [149, 160].

The Stellar framework, which started out as a hard fork of Ripple, but later started a new code-base, is to a large extent the same as Ripple, which different nomenclature. A validator pool, or UNL, resembles Stellar's quorum and a quorum slice can be seen as a candidate set or proposal. Slots are basically block numbers/heights and an update is used to describe a new block being added to the chain. The only difference that Stellar introduces is the notion of open membership, opposing Ripple's default UNL, and UNL alteration rules [112].

```
Algorithm 2: Ripple Protocol Consensus Algorithm
```

Data: $v = 0, \tau = 0.5$ begin while v < 3 do **foreach** *transaction* $k \in T_i^v$ **do** $n_k = 0;$ **foreach** server $j \neq i \in U$ **do** if $k \in T_j^v$ then $\lfloor n_k := n_k + 1;$ $\mathbf{if} \frac{n_k}{|\mathcal{U}|} \ge \tau \mathbf{then}$ $\lfloor k \in \mathcal{T}_i^{\nu+1};$ v := v + 1; $\tau := \tau + 0.1;$ $\frac{|\mathcal{T}_i^3|}{\mathcal{T}_i^2|}$ ≥ 0.8 then if consensus reached; \mathcal{T}_i^3 broadcasted as new block; faulty transactions are removed; remaining transactions are added to new candidate set; restart algorithm;
4

Scenarios of the energy transition

The current Dutch electricity system was to a large extent designed from a pre-renewable energy perspective. The top-down approach, where a few large power plants supply the needs of many consumers, can not account for the increasingly decentralised imbalances occurring as a result of the energy transition. The energy transition is characterised by an increase in the number of electric vehicles and a growing penetration of renewable energy. These trends will set the requirements for a local trading architecture. Therefore, Future scenarios owing to the energy transition are the focal point of this chapter.

This chapter gives a description of the different scenarios that used as input for the model described in Chapter 5. Subsequently, Sections 4.1 trough 4.3 present the scenario variables for electric vehicles, renewable energy generation and finally public charging. The effects of decentralised trading on grid operational effectiveness will be reviewed following a set of criteria presented in section 4.4.

4.1. Electric vehicle penetration

The amount of PEVs in the model will be varied to analyse the effects of the electrification of the automotive fleet. The results will give insights in what the possible bounds are for using PEVs as grid support.

According to [26] 71.5% of Dutch households owns at least one passenger car. 48.4% owns one car, 18.8% owns two cars and the remaining 4.2% owns three or more (three cars is assumed in the model). The modelled neighbourhood would own a cumulative 75 cars. In order to investigate the effects of PEVs on distributed power systems, a number of household agents will be given an electric vehicle. The other cars are irrelevant for the analysis and hence left out of the model. The number will be based on actual purchase dates of passenger cars published by RDW, the Dutch governmental agency responsible for the road network. By the beginning of 2017 there were 13,105 full electric vehicles (BEVs) and 98,903 hybrid electric vehicles (PHEVs) with a registered Dutch license plate. Compared to the total of 8,100,864 passenger cars [31] the penetration of PEVs is approximately 1% [143, 144] (see also figure 4.1). The base scenario will feature a BEV fraction of 1%. The distribution for the specific car type and model and corresponding battery capacity is presented in section 2.2.3. It is assumed that users have a home connection for charging their PEV, with a stochastically assigned power outlet. According to [202] type 1 and 2 chargers are used at home. However, no probability distribution is known of home chargers, thus power outputs with 1.4 kW, 1.9 kW, 4 kW, 8 kW and 19.2 kW will be drawn from a uniform probability distribution.

Scenario 1 will feature a short-term future scenario, in 2025. According to [171] there will be an 85% increase of PEVs in respect to 2017. The assumption is backed by the fact that Tesla's Model 3 is due to be released in 2018. It offers a saloon car with an action radius of over 300 km at an affordable price of 35000 USD [178]. The car is in popular demand and is expected to reach 20,000 sales by 2018 alone. In accordance an 85% increase seems an underestimation. According to [77] the adoption of BEV will be much more rigorous, namely 25% of all passenger cars by 2025. They base their claim on decreasing financial incentives for ICE cars and PHEVs, while agreeable conditions will occur for driving fully electrical. The BEV fraction is assumed to increase to 80%.

Scenario 2 relates directly to plans of the Dutch cabinet and businesses to phase out cars with internal com-



Figure 4.1: Number of electric vehicles in The Netherlands from 2008 to 2017 [143, 144]

bustion engine (ICE) and gradually replace them by EVs. As agreed upon in the Energieakkoord (energy agreement) in 2013, by 2035 every newly sold car should be able to operate in CO₂-neutral mode [167]. This includes both BEVs and PHEVs. The Dutch state wants to achieve a much more radical change, and prohibit the sale of cars with ICEs completely by 2025 [194]. Seeing the contradiction with earlier policy, it is unlikely that the resolution will be effectuated. However, it is probable that in the long term The Netherlands will face a large share of PEVs. Moreover, as battery technology advances and larger action radii come at lower prices, it is assumed that the share of BEVs will increase further. In agreement with experts at CGI, a penetration rate of 80% PEVs, with a 90% BEV share, by 2035 is assumed.

The arrival and departure of PEVs at households is stochastically assigned using (truncated) normal distributions. Their parameter values are presented in Table 4.1. They are based on an eight-hour working day, from 9:00 to 17:00 and resembling the resulting distribution plots to everyday expectations.

Lower bound	Upper bound	Mean	Standard deviation
0	24	8	0.4
0	24	18	0.4

Table 4.1: Arrival and departure times of PEV normal distribution parameters

4.2. Penetration of renewable energy generation

Electric vehicles will support the decentralised grid by offering a balancing factor. Balancing is required because of deviations between forecasted and actual demand. One major instigator of these deviations is the presence of REG. BRPs deal on the market based on the aggregation of a large number of household electricity profiles and yearly estimated consumptions (YECs). However, due to their inability to predict for instance solar radiation, and thus PV output, BRPs might under/overestimate consumption and are forced to buy balancing services at a very high rate. In order to examine how REG affects decentralised grid operation and what the boundaries are for effective use of local storage from PEVs, the penetration rate of REG will be varied across several simulation experiments. According to [117] the estimated share of homes with PV panels in The Netherlands is 6%. The data in the CEMS database covers only homes that have PV panels, thus only 6% of it will be used in the base model.

Scenario 1 will face a penetration of REG of 20%. According to [148] the Dutch government expects 14% of all energy to be generated from RESs by 2020 and 16% by 2023, compared to their estimated current penetration

of 5%. The current percentage of households with PV panels closely resembles that, thus the amount of PV panels is assumed to grow proportionally to 17% by 2025.

Scenario 2 is in accordance with the Dutch government's plans to have an all-renewable energy portfolio by 2050 [148]. Seeing the absence of more data points, the growth of REG is assumed to be linear, which would result in a REG penetration of approximately 57% in 2035.

4.3. Public charging behaviour

[45] used a large dataset (over one million samples) of Dutch EV public charging sessions to distinguish three kinds of public charging behaviour:

- 1. *Charge near home* features people that charge their cars during the night at a charging station near home. Of the over 90,000 sessions in the analysed subset, 29.1% belonged to this cluster. The cluster was identified by connecting in the afternoon or evening and disconnecting during the subsequent morning.
- 2. *Charge near work* is the cluster of EV owners that park their car near their workplace or during their commute to work. 9.4% of the sessions recorded could be accounted to this type of charging behaviour. The users credited to this cluster connect during the morning and disconnect during the evening of the same day.
- 3. *Park to charge* users exhibit sojourns that closely approximate the net charging time, most likely meaning that the sole reason for parking was charging. The connect/disconnect times are randomly scattered over the day. 61.5% of public charging sessions were identified as such.

Figure 4.2 shows the probability distribution for charging amounts of public charging stations in The Netherlands. Rather than modelling travelling patterns and corresponding charging behaviour, a pre-defined amount of energy is stochastically assigned each time an EV is plugged in, publicly or at home. This simulates the user's preference for minimum state-of-charge for future trips. The number of public charging stations is estimated to be 5, based on geographical information on charging stations in The Netherlands [126]. The number of public charging stations is assumed to grow relative to the penetration of BEVs. Thus scenario 1 will feature 15 public stations and scenario 2 will have 50. Public station's use will be modelled stochastically, based on sojourn and idle times presented in [45]. Only the sub-clusters considering departure within 24 hours are considered. According to [58] the average occupancy of station public charging stations is 13.4%, which will be used to stochastically determine the occupancy of modelled stations.



Figure 4.2: Probability distribution of charging amounts in The Netherlands [60]

4.4. Criteria

There is a clear distinction between performance on a system level and on the individual user level. From a system's perspective the main purpose of local trading is to balance estimated and actual demand, thus avoiding the need for expensive intraday market trading. Therefore, the main criterion for assessing the effective stabilising effect of PHEVs on decentralised power grids is the difference between estimated and total actual demand, i.e. household and PEV load. Any decentralised supply can be seen as negative demand and therefore has a negative impact on this criterion if not used locally.

Another important system criteria are the performance requirements for blockchain. Blockchain technology faces a trade-off between scalability and performance. Because a permissioned blockchain is a likely choice for this implementation, scalability, i.e. the number of nodes partaking in the consensus algorithm, is of lesser importance compared to performance. Performance deals with the number of transactions that can be processed/validated per time unit, in other words: the transactional throughput. Therefore, the number of transactions performed in the model will be used as a second criterion from the system's perspective. Agent logic will be used as a simulation for smart contracts. The number of transactions that pass the agent logic will be used to calculate throughput under different grid circumstances.

The proposed system in this research project requires input from its users. Thus, an important barrier for the technology's success is the willingness of users to adopt the system and adapt their energy consumption routines. [44] found that households were capable of shifting 15% of energy consumption to meet local solar supply. [93] conducted an analogous analysis based on smart appliances and a local supply of solar energy. Based on a forecasted amount of sun radiance and a user-defined ultimatum finish time, consumers can profit from cheap, local and clean energy for their semi-autonomous washing machine. The three categories for consumer motivation: environmental issues, financial incentives and interest in innovative technology, are also key indicators of the technology designed in this work. Moreover, according to [89], [93]'s research was used as input for designing the 'Jouw Energie Moment' (JEM), or Your Energy Moment, pilot project. One of the conclusions drawn from the project, was that around 70% of the participants were actively seeking the optimal electricity consumption time based on price [113]. From the database it is evident that 78.4% of JEM participants chose an electricity plan based on price, meaning their smart appliances would schedule based on price signals from the APX. The remaining participants chose an eco plan, meaning their appliances would spring into actions if their PV panels would output electricity. Based on these considerations, costs associated with charging will be used as a means to test performance from a user's perspective.

It is likely that during times of underestimation the system would benefit from discharging PEVs, which introduces the risk of (near-)empty batteries. If this would be the case at PEV departure from its charging station, users might become reluctant to partake in local trading. Therefore, the performance from a user's perspective will also be measured using the SOC at PEV departure.

5

Design and testing of a decentralised architecture for local electricity trade

In our current system generation is matched to load from the top down, based on predictions rather than actuality. As a logical effect, mismatches arise between what is expected to be consumed and actual load, forcing market parties to even out using expensive intra-day trading. Due to imbalance being caused at the end of the value chain, at the highest market participant density, errors proliferate upwards in the chain, causing substantial market inefficiencies. Additional errors are caused by an increasing share of distributed energy generation and uncontrollable plug-and-charge behaviour of electric vehicles. By shifting the control structure from central to decentralised, from top-down to bottom-up, the upward propagation of balance uncertainty can be stopped. To facilitate this paradigm shift, trading between decentralised production and load must be enabled, for which the current system offers no handholds. Facilitating local trade might be the missing catalyst for the energy transition.

Therefore, this chapter is dedicated to presenting a design of a system that could facilitate the aforementioned paradigm shift through facilitating peer-to-peer energy trade in smart grids. A model was developed to, on the one hand, analyse the effects of electric vehicle charging on distributed grids. While, on the other hand, implementing business logic as if it were smart contract logic, following the principles of blockchain 2.0. Under the assumptions of local trade, various grid conditions are tested on their balancing capacity, transactional requirements and user implications. In Section 5.1 a description of the input data, as well as the modelling and simulation environment is provided. In the next section, 5.2, the results of the simulation study are presented, including the scenario analyses and important output predictors that were found during model validation (see Appendix B). Finally, the results are used to present a implementation of the architecture on a blockchain in Section 5.3. A detailed specification of the model can be found in Appendix A.

5.1. Experimental setup

An agent-based model (ABM) was developed to analyse the effects of PEV charging behaviour when introduced in a smart microgrid environment. In their book on artificial societies, [56] described the modelling of complex phenomena derived from the interaction of a large number of individual entities. Modelling agents that can interact with the environment following a set of elementary rules, can help in understanding emergent behaviour in various social contexts [15]. By using agent technology, simple car battery models, grid conditions and social trends can be used to examine the applicability of a PEV fleet as grid support. Conclusions from the modelling study can result in valuable insights concerning strategies for the implementation of blockchain-based energy trading in a broader sense.

5.1.1. Input data

The base of the model is formed by a Dutch neighbourhood. The model will feature 107 agents simulating households. The number is based on the number of participants, and thus individual data cases, in the input data. The input database was taken from the central energy management system (CEMS), a tool developed by CGI Nederland B.V. to balance decentralised grids. The database contained data of the first CEMS pilot project. Over a period of three years quarter-hourly smart metering data was collected of household energy consumption. The simulation span will cover a week, from 5-9-2016 through 11-9-2016. This choice was based on the limitations resulting from the internal memory requirements for attaching large databases to the modelling software. The database's historic consumption patterns will be compared to the expected consumption patterns based on electricity load profiles [122] of 2016. Electricity profiles define, for each 15-minute interval, a fraction of the yearly estimated consumption (YEC). According to [54] YEC is calculated based on metering data of the 12 months leading up to a period, thus the YEC is calculated by summing up consumption over 2015 for each individual household. The profile category *E1B* was used because the participating households had different tariffs for day and night consumption. The input project had a running time from the 6th of September 2011 until the 31st of August 2014.

CEMS data from the JEM project was collected into two databases: CEMS and CEMS-Research. Due to the absence of documentation concerning the primary database, a database model was constructed using the research database (see figure 5.1). The data was then read from the primary database in a separate model database using C# and hosted on a local instance of a Microsoft SQL (MSSQL) server.

A specific agent is identified using the Id field of the Houses table, which is assigned during the initialisation phase of the model. It is referred to in other tables as the HouseDimension_Id field. Together, Dates.Id and Periods.Id define unique periods of 15 minutes over the simulation period. These fields are referred to as DateDimension_Id, respectively PeriodDimension _Id in other tables. Based on these three keys the data can be read from the database. Figure 5.1 shows a graphical representation of the relevant database parts, table 5.1 gives an explanation for the data fields that were used. The database was expanded with a table containing the electricity profiles, i.e. fractions of YEC per 15 minute interval, of 2012, 2013 and 2014, called ElectricityProfiles.



Figure 5.1: Database diagram of the relevant part of the CEMS database, containing the JEM data

5.1.2. Agents

AnyLogic [5] was chosen as software tool, as it offers a direct connection with MSSQL server instances. The model contained four types of agents as sub-agents of the model's Main agent. What follows is a brief explanation of the four agents and their relationships. For a thorough description of agent logic, please refer to Appendix A.

Household agents form the backbone of the smart grid model. Households are generated based on the input data stored in the CEMS database, thus owning an Id and YEC. Based on the Id energy patterns are loaded from the database for every 15 minute interval, i.e. period, of the simulation time. The YEC was used to calculate estimated consumption patterns, that were stored with the amount of consumed and generated elec-

Tabla	5 1.	Evol	onotion	of	CEME	data	fielde	[22]
Table	J.1.	слрі	anation	O1	CENIS	uala	neius	[33]

Table	Fields	Data type	Description
Houses	Id	int	Unique key identifier for the houses in the CEMS database
Houses	SolarPanelCapacity	decimal	Capacity of a household's PV installation in kilowatt peak (kWp)
Houses	HomeGroupIdentifier	string	The database cover multiple projects, the one, used in this work is "ZWL'
Dates	Id	int	Unique key identifier for the dates in the CEMS database
Dates	DayCode	int	Numerical representation of the day of the month
Dates	MonthCode	int	Number of the month, ranging from 1 to 12
Dates	YearName	int	Year
Periods	Id	int	Unique key identifier for the periods in the CEMS database
Periods	PeriodCode	int	Code belonging to a period
Periods	PeriodName	string	String representation of a day's 15 minute intervals
BillingFacts	HouseDimension_Id	int	Keyed link to the Houses table
BillingFacts	DateDimension_Id	int	Keyed link to the Dates table
BillingFacts	PeriodDimension_Id	int	Keyed link to the Periods table
BillingFacts	ConsumedTotal	decimal	Total electricity consumption in Wh
BillingFacts	ReturnTotal	decimal	Total electricity fed-back in Wh
BillingFacts	EnergyTaxes	decimal	Taxes paid over consumed electricity
BillingFacts	PriceSupplier	decimal	Average price over two hours paid to the utility supplier
BillingFacts	PriceNetwork	decimal	Average price over two hours paid to the DSO
BillingFacts	EnergyPrice	decimal	Total price for the consumed electricity, summation of previous three price fields
SolarEnergyFacts	HouseDimension_Id	int	Keyed link to the Houses table
SolarEnergyFacts	DateDimension_Id	int	Keyed link to the Dates table
SolarEnergyFacts	PeriodDimension_Id	int	Keyed link to the Periods table
SolarEnergyFacts	Generated	int	Production from PV panels in Wh

tricity data in watt-hours. In the base situation 107 agents are modelled, but this number can be decreased by removing households from the back of the list, or increased by duplicating database entries. Household agents can own a PEV agent, stochastically assigned by drawing from a Bernoulli experiment, using the PEV owners fraction as success rate. Another Bernoulli experiment, based on the REG owners fraction, is used to model the appropriate REG penetration. If a household does not have REG, its patterns of generated electricity are not included in the aggregated curves or trading algorithms.

Charging station agents simulate the public charging infrastructure in the grid. Charging stations have a statechart with two states: unoccupied and occupied. Each agent is created in the unoccupied state and gets a power output by drawing from a uniform distribution of 3.7, 7.4, 11 or 22 kW. Charging stations can transition from the unoccupied to the occupied state when a PEV agent arrives. PEVs arrive at charging stations following an expression based on the average occupancy. When a connected PEV's sojourn time has passed it is destroyed and the charging station agent transitions back to the unoccupied state.

PEV agents can either be owned by a household or connected to a charging station agent. Household PEVs are created at model start-up, while PEVs are created at any stochastically drawn time during simulation. PEVs have a statechart with six states:

1. The connected state is entered immediately after creation. In this state it is decided whether the PEV

is fully, or hybrid electric through Bernoulli draw, where the success rate equals the BEV fraction. Subsequently, a PEV model is assigned, based on the penetration in the Netherlands (see Section 2.2.3), and the corresponding battery capacity (in Wh) is set. After the connected state a PEV transitions to the scheduling state.

- 2. In the **scheduling** state household-owned PEVs get a stochastically assigned departure time (see Table 4.1). All PEVs get a energy demand drawn from the distribution shown in Figure 4.2, after which the battery level is decreased accordingly. After scheduling the PEV either enters the charging state immediately if smart charging is disabled or if smart charging is enabled and assigned by the aggregator, or the idle state in all other situations.
- 3. In the **charging** state the PEV's energy consumption is set to the amount allocated by the aggregator if smart charging (and with it local trading) is enabled, or else the maximum output per period given the charger type of the parent agent. In the charging state, the PEV's energy consumption is added to the aggregated energy curves. From the charging state a PEV can transition to the idle state if its battery is full or charging privileges are revoked by the aggregator, or to the discharging state if assigned by the aggregator.
- 4. Nothing happens with a PEV during its **idle** state. Idle PEVs wait out their remaining sojourn time or for the aggregator to assign (smart) charging or discharging privileges, or, in the case of household PEVs, transition to the disconnected state if their departure time has been reached. PEVs connected at public charging stations are destroyed if their sojourn time expires.
- 5. The **discharging** state closely resembles the charging state, except the energy consumption is negative. From the discharging state the PEV can go to the charging state if charging privileges are assigned, the idle state, or the disconnected state if its parent is a household agent.
- 6. In the **disconnected** state a number of variables are reset, such as sojourn time, energy demand and session charging costs. More importantly, an arrival time is assigned, which if reached, results in a transition back to the scheduling state.

At every time step (15 minute interval) PEVs check for a number of constraints. These include a battery level higher than zero, a SOC lower than 1.0, a non-zero energy consumption in the charging and discharging states and a zero energy consumption in other states. Moreover, it checks if emergency charging is required, meaning that if the time required to reach full battery charge at maximum charging power equals the remaining sojourn time, a PEV immediately transitions to the charging state.

The aggregator agent executes the trading algorithm, containing most of the business logic that would be required to run a smart contract layer on top of a blockchain protocol. It takes all households and connected PEVs into account and spreads charging or discharging allocation equally. The aggregator algorithm is given in Appendix A.

5.1.3. Model validation

The ABM was validated using a parameter variation experiment, wherein the input parameters were varied over uniform ranges and important criteria statistics were collected. Based on the resulting input-output combinations a standardised multiple regression analysis was performed. By testing one-tailed significance levels, with directed alternative hypotheses, the models output could be validated with the expected behaviour by looking at the polarity of partial regression coefficients. Moreover, by looking at the absolute size of the coefficients conclusions could be drawn on which indicators have a strong causal relation with which output parameter, leading to some of the simulation experiments described in the next section. The detailed description of the validation phase can be found in Appendix B.

5.2. Simulation results

Table 5.2 shows the parameters of the scenarios formulated in Chapter 4. They form the foundation for all experiments conducted to test the performance of local energy trading in smart grids. In the following sections (5.2.1 through 5.2.4) different grid conditions are tested on their effects on key performance indicators (KPIs), based on the criteria given in Section 4.4.

Parameter	Base scenario	Short term	Long term
Car owners fraction	0.72	0.72	0.72
PEV owners fraction	0.01	0.25	0.80
REG owners fraction	0.06	0.17	0.57
BEV fraction	0.01	0.80	0.90
Public charging stations	5	15	50
Average occupancy	0.134	0.134	0.134
Number of households	107	107	107

Table 5.2: Parameter values for the base, short term and long term scenario

5.2.1. Analysing the balancing effect of local trade

One of the prime reasons to facilitate trade between energy peers, is to mitigate the mismatches that occur between estimated consumption and actual consumption. If these imbalances can be solved de-centrally, accumulation of errors on a central scale could be minimised. Using the scenarios described in Section 5.2 the effects of local trade on estimation deviance is analysed and presented in the subsequent paragraphs.

Base scenario

Figure 5.2 shows a single run of the base scenario with 6% REG, and 1% PEV penetration. The dotted red line displays the grid's household consumption. Where the household consumption is above the solid black line, representing the estimated consumption of the grid, there is underestimation and vice versa there is overestimation. The solid green line represents the amount of electricity from REG. Whenever there is available renewable energy, the consumption drops. The household consumption together with PEV demand, both household and publicly charging vehicles, is represented by the solid red line. It is evident from Figure 5.2, where the red, solid line tops the dotted red line, that, in this specific run, PEV demand increases imbalance during periods of underestimation. If a household owns a PEV, a charging output is assigned from the uniform distribution described in Section 2.2.3.



Figure 5.2: Output of a single run of the ABM model in the base scenarios (6% REG penetration, 1% PEVs)

To test the influence of stochastic variables in the model on simulation behaviour Monte Carlo experiments were conducted with 30 runs using unique random seeds. The resulting plots are shown in Figure 5.3. Over all runs, for each 15 minute interval, the minimum (solid cyan line), mean (solid red line) and maximum (solid blue line) total consumption is collected. By comparing the two plots in Figure 5.3a and 5.3b, the effect of PEV charging on grid balance can be investigated. Moreover, the use of local energy trading in a smart grid can be analysed as a balancing solution.

From the figures it can be concluded that on average, when looking at the difference between mean total consumption and household consumption, PEVs and local trade offers positive effects on grid balance during times of underestimation. This is shown by the solid red line dropping under the dotted red line. When there is no local trade, on average there are only undesirable effects (the solid red line almost always exceeds the dotted one).

This can be explained by looking at the extreme cases: the minimum and maximum total consumption. Due to the stochastic nature of arrival and departure, PEVs can cause demand peaks throughout the day. When local trading occurs the highest maximum value is slightly lower, but on average the peaks are higher. This is a result of discharging and the emergency charging fail safe: when PEVs sell energy back to the grid, they increase the full SOC charging demand. Without local trade the minimum total consumption always matches the household consumption, as in the base scenario the chance of not having a plugged-in PEV is substantial. However, with local trade the minimum total consumption (solid cyan line) better approximate the estimation (solid black line). This is especially the case for periods of underestimation, giving the first sign that V2G and local trade can help in balancing estimation and consumption.

Predictions for the short term future

Figure 5.4 shows the energy pattern plots of the short term Monte Carlo experiments. When reviewing the plots in Figure 5.4a and 5.4b it is concluded that, without trade, PEVs increase underestimation. With trade enabled the average maximum value of demand peaks is increased. Under the influence of local trade peaks seems to occur more periodically, there where the average total consumption (solid red line) spikes up together with the maximum total consumption. These peaks happen around 8:00 in the morning, right before the afternoon demand valley. The pattern shows that the mean total consumption tends towards the max, meaning over all runs large demand from PEVs occurred at these times. For the remaining time periods the mean total demand tends towards the minimum total consumption, illustrated in solid cyan. As the minimum total consumption follows the estimation (solid black line) it can be concluded that over all runs local trading tends to balance the grid.

Predictions for the long term future

The results of the long term future scenario, presented in Figure 5.5, build on the conclusions drawn from the first two scenario experiments. PEV demand peaks around the end of the morning, while during the rest of the day local trading offers a significant reduction in the deviance between estimated and actual consumption. On the long term, the penetration of REG will increase to a level that would result in grid net production. The severity of the demand peak overshoot has increased to dramatic levels in the long term scenario, sometimes increasing grid consumption with more than a 1000%. Within the characteristics of the modelled grid, it is challenging to balance such large mismatches in the grid with local trading alone. However, these peaks appear to occur strongly periodical (see Figure 5.6b). Compared to the non-trading scenario (Figure 5.6a), less noise is present and only one demand peak per day is present.

Statistical tests for balancing effects

To statistically analyse the effect of local trading on the grid's deviance from estimated consumption an independent samples t-test was conducted. The test analyse the equality of means in two groups, in this case trading and no trading, of the same sample, in this case the three scenarios. The null hypothesis is that the means of the cases (N = 30), each case represents mean deviance over one simulation run, in both groups is equal. If the statistic's p-value lies under the significance value ($\alpha = 0.05$, corresponding to a 95% confidence interval) the null hypothesis can be rejected. Table 5.3 shows the results of the statistical test. It can be concluded that for all three scenarios local trading offers a significant reduction in deviance. The means are lower, standard deviation smaller and thus the 95% confidence interval is narrower. Consequently, not only does local trading decreases the deviance, it also makes it less volatile, allowing for better predictions and tighter safety margins for BRPs.

Periodicity and predictability of smart charging behaviour

The periodicity of the consumption patterns is analysed using cross-correlation and compared between trading and non-trading scenarios. Cross-correlation is a measure for resemblance between a dataset and a shifted version, with lag λ , of the dataset. As the simulation time step was 15 minutes, $\lambda = 1$ corresponds to 15 minutes. Looking at the plots in Figure 5.6, it seems that the deviance follows a daily pattern. This is



(a) Monte Carlo (N = 30) experiment of base scenario



(b) Monte Carlo (N = 30) experiment of base scenario with local trading

Figure 5.3: Energy pattern plots for the base scenario Monte Carlo experiments



(a) Monte Carlo (N = 30) experiment of short term scenario



(b) Monte Carlo (N = 30) experiment of short term scenario with local trading

Figure 5.4: Energy pattern plots for the short term scenario Monte Carlo experiments



(b) Monte Carlo (N = 30) experiment of long term scenario with local trading

Figure 5.5: Energy pattern plots for the long term scenario Monte Carlo experiments



(b) With local trading

Figure 5.6: Deviation plots per day

Scenario	Trade [Y/N]	Mean [Wh]	Std. Deviation [Wh]	T-test p value [-]	95% confidence interval
Pasa	No	7376	118.5	0.000	$7332 < \mu < 7421$
Yes	7272	69.43	0.000	$7246 < \mu < 7297$	
Short term No Yes	No	9698	467.7	0.000	$9524 < \mu < 9642$
	9298	358.0	0.000	$9164 < \mu < 9431$	
Long term	No	15214	499.0	0.000	$15028 < \mu < 15400$
	Yes	13660	427.7	0.000	$13500 < \mu < 13820$

Table 5.3: Independent samples t-test for equality of means

backed by the cross-correlation plots in Figure 5.7, where higher peaks are noticeable around $k * 100\lambda$ (a shift of 96 represents a shift of one day). When trading is enabled (Figure 5.7b) these peaks are slightly more pronounced than without trading (Figure 5.7a), being higher and narrower. Furthermore, in Figure 5.7a smaller cross-correlation peaks are visible between the larger peaks, signalling more noise. These sub-peaks disappear when local trading is enabled (see Figure 5.7b). In conclusion, not only does local trade improve grid stability, imbalances become easier more periodical and thus easier to predict.



Figure 5.7: Cross-correlation plots for the mean deviance in the long term future scenario

5.2.2. Exploring the effects of grid size

From the validation tests presented Appendix B it can be concluded that the number of households has a profound influence on the balance in the grid and the required transactional throughput. The short term future is regarded as a feasible implementation horizon and will therefore serve as a base for experiments exploring the effects of grid size. As could already be concluded from the scenario analysis (presented in Section 5.2.1). the maximum deviations can be attributed to fixed times: just before noon. The experiments were designed test the influence of the number of households on the deviance between estimation and total grid consumption. Three experiments were designed using the short term future scenario (see Table 5.2), only varying the number of households uniformly between 107 to 10000 over 50 experiments. After each run the minimum, mean and maximum deviation is collected. Scatter plots and an unstandardised regression analysis will serve as predictors for scalability in terms of estimation deviance. Robustness of the proposed blockchain system is achieved if it can function under the worst of circumstances. Therefore, the throughput maximums and is collected after each run. To test if there is an equal division in market share, the minimum and maximum number of transactions over all PEVs will also be stored. The results will be analysed using unstandardised regression coefficients and used for the design presented in Section 5.3.

Figure 5.8 gives the scatter plots for the grid size tests. From Figure 5.8a it is evident that there is a very strong linear relation between the number of households and the maximum throughput. Actually, the R^2 statistic is equal to 1.00, signalling a perfect fit of the regression model

$$\hat{Y} = b_0 + b_1 * X_1, \tag{5.1}$$

giving

Maximum throughput =
$$9.209 + 0.866 *$$
 Number of households. (5.2)



This means that with every increase in the number households an estimated 0.866 transaction is added to the maximum throughput, if the rest of the parameters is kept constant.

Figure 5.8: Scatter plots for the number of households and transaction outputs

The relation between the number of households and the maximum number of PEV transactions is much weaker than the maximum throughput. This is apparent from Figure 5.8b, as the dots are more randomly dispersed. The R^2 statistic is only 0.027, showing that little of the variance in the maximum amount of PEV transactions can be explained by the number of households alone.

From Figure 5.9 it can be concluded that the deviance increases linearly with the amount of households. This is supported by the R^2 statistics 0.999 and 0.995 for the mean deviance, respectively maximum deviance. Equations 5.3 and 5.4 give the unstandardised regression equation for the mean, respectively maximum deviance. The minimum deviance is zero, this is because local trading perfectly matches estimation and consumption at certain points in each simulation run.

Mean deviance =
$$69 + 22.325 *$$
 Number of households (5.3)

$$Maximum deviance = 8000 + 196.987 * Number of households$$
(5.4)

5.2.3. Financial implications for system users

The validation tests showed that there is a strong causal relation between the number of PEVs and the charging costs/profits associated with the system. Financial stimuli are important drivers for system participation. Moreover, the system needs to be tested on the allocation of cost and profits. Experiments were, as in Section 5.2.2, based on the short term future scenario described in Section 5.2.1. The fraction of PEVs was varied uniformly between 0.00 and 1.00, over 50 runs, to test the influence of the number of PEVs on the mean and maximum charging session costs, as well as the mean charging sessions earnings.

Figure 5.10 gives the resulting scatter plot. As can be seen the average charging cost per session is predominantly constant over the range over REG penetration ($R^2 = 0.612$), being only slightly negative: b = -1.011. This results in the following regression equation:

$$Mean charging cost = 2.124 - 1.011 * PEV fraction.$$
(5.5)

There is no significant effect on the maximum charging costs by the PEV penetration alone. This means that for users the costs do not change significantly if more PEVs are added, while the grid will benefit from more balancing capacity.

Through an independent samples t-test the effect of trading on financial indicators is tested. 30 runs of the short term future scenario are performed with trading and an equal number without trading, creating an output dataset with two groups. The null hypothesis is

$$H0: \mu_1 = \mu_2. \tag{5.6}$$



Figure 5.9: The number of households on the mean and maximum deviance



Figure 5.10: The PEV penetration rate on the mean and maximum charging costs



Figure 5.11: The PEV penetration rate on the mean and maximum charging costs

With a significance level α of 0.05 the alternative hypothesis

$$H1: \mu_1 \neq \mu_2 \tag{5.7}$$

is tested for the mean and max charging sessions cost and mean charging session profit. The charging sessions earnings can not be analysed, as there are no earnings if trading is disabled. For all three financial outputs there is a significant change in sample means. The costs per charging sessions increase, with resulting net profits decreasing. Considering the nature of the input data this could be explained by the assumption of fixed tariff. The households participating in the pilot project that served as data source, were incentivised to move their generation from periods with high prices to time spans with low prices. This leads to underestimation at low prices and overestimation at high prices. Due to the trading algorithm this results in PEVs charging at high prices and discharging at low prices, resulting in the aforementioned cost relations.

5.2.4. The strain on PEV batteries

The SOC has an indirect link with the full-electric PEV (BEV) fraction and the number of public charging stations. As is assumed from the analysis presented Appendix B the BEV fraction influences the average battery capacity of PEVs in the model, which in turn affects the aggregated SOC curves. Based on the number of public charging stations, the average charging capacity power is expected to be a better predictor. These two statistics are collected for each of the 50 runs in an experiment wherein the BEV fraction was uniformly varied between 0 and 1 in the short term future scenario. A regression model is formulated where the two statistics serve as predictors for the minimum SOC.

Figure 5.11 shows three battery curves, one for each of the three simulation scenarios (see Table 5.2), of household-owned PEVs. The curves show a recurring pattern of maximum charge in a disconnected state, a sharp decrease at arrival and a game of charging and discharging between arrival and departure. The PEVs in the base, short term and long term curves had a battery capacity of 10.7, 17.6, respectively 12 kWh. With this in mind one can easily spot the difference in how much the battery level changes over one session. While in the base scenario the battery is fully emptied and recharged several times overnight, the curves in the future scenarios show much milder behaviour. This is a direct result of the number of PEVs available to the grid for balancing efforts. Spread out over a larger number of batteries, the impacts are less severe.

As can be seen in Figure 5.12 the assumption that the BEV fraction directly influences the average battery capacity holds for the model. The causal relation is significant, linear and strongly positive ($R^2 = 0.944$).

Figure 5.13 gives the scatter plots for the average battery capacity and charging power on the minimum SOC. As can be seen in Figure 5.13a there is no significant relation ($R^2 = 0.002$) between the average battery and the minimum SOC. The effect between the average charging power and minimum SOC is also insignificant (Figure 5.13b). This conclusion is backed by Figure 5.13c, showing a very narrow box plot of the mini-



Figure 5.12: The BEV fraction on the average battery capacity

mum SOC. The average of the minimum SOCs in the experiment equals 0.866, thus the model can, to a large extent, safeguard battery level at departure. However, if we reflect on the outlier, case 26, the minimum SOC at departure during that run was 0.252. If that specific trip would be an emergency trip, for instance to the hospital, a low battery level might pose a problem for BEVs, as PHEVs have a ICE to fall back on. In The Netherlands the average distance between a household and the nearest hospital is 4.7 km [32]. According to [59] the average PEV uses 1 kWh to travel 5 km. In the worst case, travelling by Renault Twizy (hardly the emergency response vehicle), would result in a travelling range of 0.252×6.1 [kWh] × 5[km*kWh⁻¹] = 7.6[km]. Although this can be considered as successful in the worst case scenario, under different circumstances this might not hold (e.g. if hospitals are further away or in scenarios with less PEVs). Therefore, it is recommended to base minimum charge on absolute levels, rather than SOC, and offer the possibility for users to opt for different emergency trip scenarios and their likelihood. An eventual implementation could then automatically account for minimum battery level according to user preferences.



Figure 5.13: Scatter plots for the average battery capacity and charging power

5.3. Deploying with blockchain and reliability testing

The most important trade-off that has to be made when designing a blockchain is between scalability and performance. Scalability deals with the number of nodes taking part in the consensus algorithm, while per-

formance is concerned with the amount of transactions that can be validated per time unit, or transactional throughput. Traditional proof-of-work (PoW) blockchains such as Bitcoin offer high scalability but poor performance. According to [40, 197] the peak throughput of Bitcoin is 7 transactions per second with small transaction sizes (so low information level). However, the network is operational on thousands of nodes spread out over the world.

Byzantine fault tolerant (BFT) algorithms have proven to reach much higher performance (tens of thousands transaction per second) at the cost of scalability. While BFT networks can serve up to thousands of clients, only up to 20 nodes (or servers) can partake in the consensus algorithm [197]. In addition, BFT blockchains are per definition permissioned, requiring the sharing of identities amongst the servers.

Looking at the intended implementation, permissioned blockchains are perfectly suited. A critical difference between the system described in this work and blockchain origins through cryptocurrencies like Bitcoin, is the entanglement with a physical infrastructure. On standard blockchains it is not the responsibility of the technology to provide accountability, whether or not this is desirable. The technologies build on trusting that the majority voting principles result in a valid transactional history, but offer no back-up or liability if things go awry. As a result, cryptocurrencies can remain highly anonymous. However, with electricity grids and other critical infrastructures, malicious behaviour on the underlying blockchain could result in failures on the physical infrastructure. Therefore, it must be possible to hold consensus servers accountable. Moreover, clients/users in the system must be traceable by authorities so taxes on grid use can be collected and trade can be verified with actual consumption and production.

The throughput observed in the model is given per 15 minute intervals. Nevertheless, the maximum throughput does not exceed 10,000 transactions per 15 minutes, let alone the tens of thousands per second that is feasible with practical BFT algorithms. Moreover, the maximum throughput in the model was caused by grid sizes in terms of households, exceeding the number of clients coverable by BFT consensus. Therefore, it is assumed that for the timescale of the current system, decentralised trading in smart grids can be facilitated by blockchains based on Byzantine fault tolerance.

In this section the system design is connected to a blockchain, to test the performance of a BFT algorithm as a facilitator of peer-to-peer energy trade. By analysing the network delay conclusions can be drawn about possible response times of the proposed design. For that purpose a blockchain test network was designed and presented in Section 5.3.1. The network was connected to a simulation run of the ABM, of which the results are presented in Section 5.3.2.

5.3.1. Blockchain test network architecture

Tendermint [176] was chosen as a blockchain platform, due to its foundation in BFT, interconnectivity with different programming languages, well-organised documentation and a pre-packaged test application. That test application is applicably called dummy application, as it simply accepts any transaction broadcast to the network. However, as the ABM already covers smart contract logic and resulting transactions are deemed valid, this is not considered a problem. In addition, the consensus algorithm provided by Tendermint is a full-fledged BFT algorithm so its applicability can be tested independent of transaction validation.

The network consists of two Linux virtual machines (VMs), hereafter referred to as CGI2 and CGI2. The VMs operate on an Ubuntu 4.4.0-47-generic OS, with an Intel®Xeon®E5-2673 v3 CPU @ 2.40GHz and 4 GB of RAM. The VMs are connected to the same (virtual) network and communicate on IPs 10.0.0.4 and 10.0.0.5 respectively, through ports 46656-46658.

The Tendermint application is installed using the guide presented by [177]. The prerequisites, Git and Golang, came pre-installed with the VMs. A directory was created for the Tendermint applications written in Go and was set as the GOPATH environment variable. The bin folder was added to the PATH variable to allow for easy execution of the applications:

```
~$ mkdir go
~$ mkdir go/bin
~$ echo export GOPATH=$HOME/go >> $HOME/.profile
~$ echo export PATH=$PATH:$GOPATH/bin >> $HOME/.profile
~$ source .profile
```

The Tendermint applications were then installed from source using the following commands:

```
~$ go get github.com/tendermint/tendermint/cmd/tendermint
```

~\$ go get -u github.com/tendermint/abci/cmd/...

This grants access to the Tendermint node application (through the earlier set \$PATH), as well as the dummy consensus application. In order for the network to work, the two VMs need to be added to the validator pool, such that they can partake in the consensus scheme (see Section 3.3). This is done by generating validator keypairs and adding the public keys to the genesis block, stored as .json file in the Tendermint root folder (\$HOME/.tendermint). These actions are performed by running the following command lines on each VM:

```
~$ mkdir .tendermint
~$ tendermint gen_validator >> .tendermint/priv_validator.json
```

The genesis.json file is based on both public keys and added to the Tendermint root folder on both VMs. The public/private keypairs are generated using Ed25519 public-key signature system [189]. Each validator is given a weight, used to determine who gets to propose a new block for each round. This is set using the "amount" property, and assumed equal for both VMs. The "app_hash" represents the blockchains state at genesis and is thus empty. The contents of the genesis.json are as follows:

```
ł
   "genesis_time": "2016-03-24T13:38:00.000Z",
   "chain_id": "chain-1",
   "validators": [
   {
     "pub_key": [
        1,
        "2F8B31FC36BBE42501119D0151682986B4A70B04FE13BE2FE2362743C294080F"
     ٦.
     "amount": 1,
     "name": "VM_CGI-1"
  },
   {
     "pub_key": [
        1.
        "5124119D307C795CA5FB4E75184E3172D2693F795C7250AFA7C619F0BF070DC4"
     ٦.
     "amount": 1,
     "name": "VM_CGI-2"
  }
  ],
    'app_hash": ""
}
```

The network is started by running the dummy app and a seeded Tendermint node on each VM. The applications are run remotely using PuTTY SSH with a total of four terminals, (one for each dummy app and one for each Tendermint node). The Tendermint node initialisation is seeded so the VMs know on which address to start communication. The command lines are (run in separate terminals):

```
~$ dummy
~$ tendermint node --seeds=10.0.0.4:46656,10.0.0.5:46656
```

Port 46656 is the application's API channel and used to communicate between node and consensus algorithm. Port 46657 is the used to listen for incoming transactions. The transactions are broadcast to the network using a Windows 10 laptop (Intel Core i7-3630QM CPU @ 2.40GHz, 6GB RAM), through the ABM model described in this chapter (see Figure 5.14). On start-up of the blockchain experiment, the model makes a SSH connection based on a predefined PuTTY profile for CGI1 using PLink [138]. A RSA keypair was generated and introduced on the server to allow for password-less SSH. The SSH session is created using the following Java code in AnyLogic:

```
// only if blockchain experiment is running
if(Blockchain){
   try
   {
     // excetue plink from command line using preset CGI putty profile
     // store process in Main property "SSH"
     SSH = Runtime.getRuntime().exec("plink -load CGI");
     // collect all process streams into Main agent properties
```



Figure 5.14: Graphical representation of the blockchain network

```
SSHOut = SSH.getOutputStream();
SSHIn = SSH.getInputStream();
SSHErr = SSH.getErrorStream();
} catch(Exception e)
{
System.err.print(e);
}
}
```

To mimic the one client-one connection relationship that would occur in real-life blockchain networks, only the transactions belonging to a randomly chosen household (either selling or buying) are added to the blockchain. Adding transactions is done through cURL, of which an example is given below:

```
~$ curl -s 'localhost:46657/broadcast_tx_sync?tx="
    10496=root.households952.pEV0,
    root.households62,345.0,
    -.005285686519999,
    0.0008260292606849"'
```

The transaction gets stored as a key-value pair, where the transaction number is taken as the key and the value is a hexadecimal representation of the concatenated string of the buying agent, selling agent, simulation time, transacted amount and transacted value. If the transaction is correctly broadcast a response from the blockchain is given:

```
{
    "jsonrpc": "2.0",
    "id": "",
    "result": [
        96,
        {
            "code": 0,
            "data": "",
            "log": ""
        }
    ],
    "error": ""
}
```

When designing the grid coverage of a blockchain network, system operators have control over the included number of houses with access to REG, the number of included public charging stations and the number of households. By varying these three input parameters and setting performance goals to minimise deviance and maximise SOC and profit, an optimisation experiment is formulated. Because the number of households negatively influences these KPIs, a minimum number of households is preferable. However, in accordance with opinions from smart grid experts at CGI Nederland B.V., the modelled grid size is set to 1000 households. For the remainder of the (static) parameter inputs, the short term future scenario is considered (see Table 5.2). The parameters of the blockchain experiment are presented in Table 5.4.

Table 5.4: Parameter values for the blockchain experiment

Parameter	Value
Car owners fraction	0.72
PEV owners fraction	0.25
REG owners fraction	0.238
BEV fraction	0.8
Public charging stations	17
Average occupancy	0.134
Number of households	1000

5.3.2. Blockchain test results

During simulation of the blockchain experiment, besides adding the transactions to the blockchain, they are also stored in a database. By comparing the transactions between the database and the blockchain, the reliability of blockchain as a energy market facilitator can be analysed. If a transaction was added to the blockchain can be verified through cURL:

```
~$ curl -s `localhost:46657/abci_query?data="10496"&path=""&prove=false"'
```

Which results in a response from the servers a follows:

```
ł
   "jsonrpc": "2.0",
   "id": "",
   "result": [
     112,
     Ł
        "response":
        {
           "index": 561,
           "value":
                "726F6F742E686F757365686F6C64733935322E704556302C726F6F742E686F757365686F6C6473363..."
           "log": "exists"
        }
     }
  ],
   "error": ""
}
```

The "log" property shows the transaction exists on the blockchain. The "value" property shows the hexadecimal representation (cut-off in the code listing above) of the transaction message

root.households952.pEV0,root.households62,345.0,-0.005285686519999,0.0008260292606849.

When repeating the verification process for the remaining transactions in the database, using the transaction number to cURL and checking the response log, it is found that all transactions that passed through the model have been successfully registered on the blockchain. In the console log it is shown that a block is added roughly every second:

```
NOTE[04-07|09:37:05] enterNewRound(8/0). Current: 8/0/RoundStepNewHeight module=consensus
NOTE[04-07|09:37:05] enterPrecommit: +2/3 prevoted proposal block. Locking
module=consensus hash=64A842F2282E615C4F38A91FBF49505FE6ACCB93
NOTE[04-07|09:37:05] Finalizing commit of block with 7 txs module=consensus height=8
hash=64A842F2282E615C4F38A91FBF49505FE6ACCB93
root=169B82A96649827E5B50C82D42F6A4C8DFABC918
NOTE[04-07|09:37:06] enterNewRound(9/0). Current: 9/0/RoundStepNewHeight module=consensus
NOTE[04-07|09:37:07] enterPrecommit: +2/3 prevoted proposal block. Locking
module=consensus hash=DC5905043CF847944F93C518F2DD97802FAE2F44
NOTE[04-07|09:37:07] Finalizing commit of block with 2 txs module=consensus height=9
hash=DC5905043CF847944F93C518F2DD97802FAE2F44
```

```
root=169B82A96649827E5B50C82D42F6A4C8DFABC918
NOTE[04-07|09:37:08] enterNewRound(10/0). Current: 10/0/RoundStepNewHeight module=consensus
NOTE[04-07|09:37:08] enterPrecommit: +2/3 prevoted proposal block. Locking
module=consensus hash=4FC209F5F8136C277C91825B3E4096D089B9EB36
NOTE[04-07|09:37:08] Finalizing commit of block with 8 txs module=consensus height=10
hash=4FC209F5F8136C277C91825B3E4096D089B9EB36
root=169B82A96649827E5B50C82D42F6A4C8DFABC918
NOTE[04-07|09:37:09] enterNewRound(11/0). Current: 11/0/RoundStepNewHeight module=consensus
NOTE[04-07|09:37:09] enterPrecommit: +2/3 prevoted proposal block. Locking
module=consensus hash=5374E13355004605F78F54376ACAF61B3081C2CE
NOTE[04-07|09:37:09] Finalizing commit of block with 2 txs module=consensus height=11
hash=5374E13355004605F78F54376ACAF61B3081C2CE
root=169B82A96649827E5B50C82D42F6A4C8DFABC918
```

Blocks contain a minimum of 0 and a maximum of 9 transactions. The strong linear relationship that was found between maximum throughput and the number households, leads to the assumption that the required throughput for this network would stay well under 10,000 transactions per second. With the maximum throughput of 10,000s transactions per second found in literature, performance is considered to be adequate. Although the model sends out transactions for a simulated period of 15 minutes, the effectiveness of adding multiple transactions per second of a single client's transactions is taken as a proof-of-concept for real-time energy markets based blockchain technology.

The blockchain on the two CGI VMs now contained an immutable record of the locally traded energy. Using the aforementioned cURL statement and converting the hexadecimal value to string, the total traded volume and associated costs can be found. Over one week the household is found to have traded 13.136 kWh, of which it sold 4.59 kWh and bought 8.77 kWh. The associated cost with buying a net 4.18 kWh is ≤ 1.82 , leading to an average price of $\leq 0.44/kWh$. This substantially higher than the normal rate (roughly $\leq 0.19/kWh$), which is a result of the price plans that the input dataset had. This information, securely stored on the blockchain, could be used by market parties to bill, phasing out the need for reconciliation. If the capacity of the grid is incorporated in the trading logic, the system can also provide allocation automatically. The blockchain can then serve to pinpoint congested sections of the grid, allowing for crisp investments and thus higher efficient use of infrastructure.

6

Discussion and future work

The penetration of plug-in electric vehicles (PEVs) will become an important aspect of future energy systems. With both beneficial and harmful effects for electricity grids, smart management of their charging behaviour will become critical to the efficient use of both existing, and future infrastructure. If one places the increase of PEVs in the context of the energy transition, these realisations become even more important. Key to the energy transition is the decentralisation of energy systems, through the increase of distributed renewable energy generation (REG). Consumers become prosumers and expect to be able to feed any surplus of energy back to the grid. The resulting dynamics of decentralising grids will soon outrun the capacities of centrally-oriented market places. Local market places are considered to be an outcome and therefore this research focussed on the following research question:

How can electric vehicles promote energy transition and how can blockchain facilitate the decentralisation of future energy systems?

This chapter offers a step-back towards the research question, in Section 6.1, and provides an answer to it using the conclusions of the presented modelling study. It concludes with an outlook for the future and how certain assumptions could change and affect performance of an implementation in Section 6.2.

6.1. Discussion

In The Netherlands the energy system was designed from a central market's perspective. The liberalised market offers long-term contracts between producers and the largest of consumers. The remaining consumers are included in portfolios of balance responsible parties (BRPs), that represent an aggregated consumer pool on the central markets. BRPs bid on the day-ahead market based on expected energy consumption for the next day, which in turn is based on assumptions and generalisation. As a result, estimated consumption is different from actual consumption. Any imbalances have to be resolved by the BRPs on the much more expensive intra-day market. Using an agent-based model (ABM) it is shown that for a Dutch neighbourhood the required trade volume can amount to 24% of the total estimated weekly consumption. A lot of imbalance can be attributed to REG, as the Dutch energy system was designed in a pre-renewable era. Hence, not only does the centralised orientation lead to market inefficiencies, it can not account for REG, leading to unfair compensation for sustainable distributed generation (DG).

The rise of electric vehicles can be explained by the technological developments of recent decades. Namely, better performing power trains increased the driving range, resulting in rising attractiveness for consumers. Correspondingly, The Netherlands first saw a sharp increase in the number of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEVs) and later the rise of fully electric vehicles (BEVs). While, PEVs offer a better alternative than internal combustion engines (ICEs) in terms of the environment, their charging behaviour can increase the aforementioned balancing problems in decentralised grids. Using the ABM it was shown that, under the current circumstances, plug-and-charging of PEVs can increase a grid's demand with 61%. With a penetration of just 25%, feasible on the short term, peak demand can increase a grid's consumption with a staggering 357%. Reasonably, a lot of research focusses on peak mitigation, often shifting it to overnight when otherwise demand would be low. However, this is often results in a shift of the problem, not an actual solution

Dataset	Single person	Couple	Family	Other
Model	33%	40%	24%	4%
The Netherlands	37%	28%	26%	9%

Table 6.1: Comparison of family situations in the model and The Netherlands

for it. There have been efforts that try to control charging behaviour using a grid's smart communication capacities. Yet, the resulting algorithms are computationally heavy and incorrectly account for individual user preferences. They often required aggregators that would introduce yet another intermediary in an already complex system. Some work has been done on using PEV batteries as local storage, however they offer no practical solutions for tying together energy peers on a decentralised level.

Blockchain was introduced as a timestamping server in the Bitcoin network in 2008. The key attribute of blockchain is that it can rule out the need for intermediaries. By directly connecting producer and consumer, trading can speed up and occur at lower costs. Blockchain can offer the transparency and security that is desired by system users. Early blockchains were based on proof-of-work (PoW) consensus algorithm that required immense quantities of energy (Bitcoin's network consumes roughly the same as a country like Ireland) and long times for transaction finality (roughly an hour in the case of Bitcoin). For energy-based blockchain, consensus algorithms based on Byzantine fault tolerance (BFT) offer a much higher performance than PoW, at the cost of scalability. Research shows that BFT can facilitate a throughput that runs in the tens of thousands of transactions per second, whereas the throughput found in the model for an average Dutch neighbourhood stays well under 10,000 transactions per second.

The solution proposed in this work accounts for individual user, both PEVs and households, preferences and aggregates them to benefit decentralised grids on from system's perspective. A local trading algorithm was developed, based on blockchain, that tries to minimise the deviance between estimated and actual consumption, maximise user profitability and minimise imposing restrictions on usage patterns through retaining minimum state-of-charge. The algorithm has proven to decrease deviance by an average 1.4% in the current situation, 4.1% on the short term and 11% in the long-term future, with a respective PEV penetration of 1%, 25% and 80%. Moreover, with increasing PEV penetration the costs associated with charging decrease slightly. Finally, the algorithm safeguards the minimum state-of-charge at departure. However, in the current situation, with low PEV penetration, batteries are emptied and refilled multiple times during one sessions. The would imply that from a user's perspective there is a possibility of having an empty battery for an emergency trip. In order to avoid this, the algorithm should incorporate a minimum absolute battery level. In future scenarios, with higher PEV penetration, these harmful effects are no longer present. At around 80% REG penetration at 25% PEV penetration, PEV charging from REG starts to dominate and supersedes discharging in the network.

The simulation results presented in Chapter 5 clearly show that, without smart charging mechanisms, PEV will drastically decrease the stability of a grid's energy supply. The increases in load during PEV peak demand are severe and appear at random. As a result, balance responsible parties (BRPs) have no way of accounting for increases in load that can easily triple what was expected. The proposed solution not only decreases the imbalances in the grid, but also makes them more predictable. Therefore, BRPs and grid system operators can account for the demand peaks, occurring around 8:00 in the morning, and minimise their harmful effects.

The demographics of the households that were source to the smart metering data were known and compared to averages in The Netherlands. Gender-wise the sample closely matches the Dutch population: 46% men compared to 49% [27]. According to [30] the Dutch population has an average age of 41, compared to 37 in the pilot sample. Looking at the highest level of education 35% of respondents followed lower education, 50% middle education and 15% higher education. For the Dutch population these figures were 33%, 39%, respectively 28%. The sampled neighbourhood seems to have a higher share of people having followed middle education, taking away from the share of higher educated people. A comparison of the different living situations is given in Table 6.1. As can be seen the number of two-person households is substantially higher in the model than in the real-life situation. From [29] it can be concluded that the average Dutch household consists for 2.15 persons, quite similar to the average household participating in the pilot project: 2. It could not be deduced from the model datasetf if the unemployment data were given over all respondents or only over those belonging to the labour force, thus a comparison was not made.

While the demographics of the households used in the model, apart from education, do not differ signif-

icantly from the average Dutch population, the houses do. The pilot project was based on a neighbourhood consisting of houses build from a sustainability perspective. This means that measures were taken to increase efficiency and that the homes were designed for a sustainable future. Sadly, not all houses in The Netherlands were build this way. Therefore, if the modelling results are to be generalised to a larger scope (for instance The Netherlands), the conclusions from this study have to be tested against different input datasets. On top of that, the simulation data corresponds well with the average situation, giving no insights on performance under extreme circumstances, for instance areas with considerately lower income, or education. Furthermore, the conclusions apply only to smart grids, where decentralised communication - optionally to the appliance level - is possible. Since, the input data was collected from smart meters, the integrated set of model assumptions is based on the system's availability to a grid's state.

The algorithm was tested in combination with a small blockchain network, as a proof-of-concept for blockchain-based energy trade. The throughput resulting from the implementation lies well under the theoretical max of BFT algorithms. The tests that were performed indicate an average throughput of 3 transactions per second. Considering the linear relation between maximum throughput and the number of households, a feasible grid size would impose approximately 3000 transactions per second. The maximum throughput for such a grid will be less than 9000 transactions per second. The reliability of the technology is proven through verifying the occurrence of transmitted transactions on the blockchain. With a single household the reliability is 100%.

6.2. Future work

The implementation base of electric vehicles in combination with blockchain-driven smart grids was a natural choice considering the technological standards, in terms of intelligent communication, are generally high in PEVs. Moreover, the CEMS database provided a good starting point on demographic coverage. However, there is a lot of to be done if system operators are to be convinced of blockchain's full potential for energy systems. This section gives an overview of further research to extend this work, or to explore the implementation in other sub-systems.

Demographic coverage and user behaviour

The simulation results show that distributed smart grids can benefit from the balancing effect of PEV batteries. However, to investigate the effects under different circumstances grids from different areas in The Netherlands should be tested. By changing the input data, the conclusions from the model cover a larger demographic spread and as result the generalisability of results becomes more accurate. Possible collection methods could resemble that of the Jouw Energie Moment (JEM) project, or a grid that more closely follows the trends in the energy transition (for instance when looking at the availability of REG or the diversity of technologies such as adding wind turbines and heat pumps). Another approach is to focus at neighbourhoods with an extreme manifestation of demographic properties, such as poverty. Furthermore, if valid data is collected over a longer period of time, stochastic noise will reduce over the length of simulation runs. This would enhance the quality of results.

The ABM covers only home-work-home trips in the case of household-owned PEVs. By stochastically assigning departure and arrival times accordingly, the resulting charging behaviour offers a good start for scenario analysis, however doesn't fully capture real-life charging behaviour. In the real-life situation, a lot of EVs are used by stay-at-home mothers, driving children to-and-from school and household shopping. This would result in a lot more PEVs being available during the day on an interval basis, instead of only during the night. The performance of the proposed solution is highly dependant on the amount of PEVs simultaneously connected to the grid. While the behaviour will become more dynamic, i.e. plugging in and out more often, overall the algorithm could benefit from spreading out imbalances over a longer period and more local storage.

It is assumed in the model that all PEV owners partake in the system. If one considers the participation rate in the JEM project (roughly 70%), this assumption will not hold in real life. The penetrations of PEVs simulated in the model are therefore an underestimation of the penetration required to achieve the same benefits. To achieve a 25% PEV participation rate the actual PEV penetration has to be higher. Most of the scenario variables were based on plans of the national government. Their efforts to incentivise/discourage EV driving will prove an important factor for the success of the proposed solution. Currently the model implies that whenever a PEV user isn't driving he/she connects the PEV to the grid. Data is required on the charging behaviour of PEVs at private charging stations.

The hidden benefits of blockchain-driven smart grids

There are a number of factors that are not taken into account with in the model, but could have an effect on the performance of the proposed system. One of those factors is the automation of reconciliation efforts. In the current system reconciliation can only be done after the passed period of consumption. Deviations from ex-ante, fixed monthly tariffs, based on expected consumption, are settled after for instance a year has passed. The measurements used for reconciliation are often generalised over neighbourhoods and inaccurate, resulting in an overall obscure process from a user's perspective. By storing energy trade data on a blockchain, an immutable record is kept of all electricity consumed and generated, allowing for automatic and real-time billing.

Another factor is the decreasing need for investment in transmission networks. Local trade can solve imbalance at the consumer level. This means less capacity of long distance transmission lines is required. The investment costs required for maintaining transmission network have not been examined in this study, but are expected to have an effect on the overall performance.

One of the assumptions in the model was that all transactions happen at the respective market prices, regardless of services offered. Dynamic pricing could result in financial benefits from a user's perspective. Taxes could be set to match relative capacity usage, benefiting distribution system operators (DSOs). How high these benefits could be and at what cost for whom is a possible topic of future research.

These, and possibly other, factors could be assessed using for instance cost-benefit analysis. The results of such a study could result in the first-ever financial framework for blockchain in utilities.

Redefining the Dutch electricity market

The solution offers TenneT (the Dutch transmission system operator, or TSO) a secure means for delegating balancing responsibilities. In the future, distribution grid operators (DGOs) could evolve into distribution system operators (DSOs), aligning with the movements of the energy transition. Grids of the future will feature a high penetration of REG, and in order to maintain stabilised grid frequencies, local storage is essential. PEVs have proven to be a feasible source of local storage and could be used by DSOs for frequency control. Under the assumption of local trade, DSOs will have a quick, immediate response to local network fluctuations, by using PEVs as primary reserve. By balancing not only on local blockchains, but also between them, the second reserves can be filled by facilitating exchange between neighbouring sub-grids. Local trading causes less uncertainty about the demand peak time of PEV charging, thus DSOs can more accurately dispatch other (distributed) resources to fill up the tertiary reserve. In the current state, the TSO is responsible with buying these services for the entire grid, often relying on big (unsustainable) generation plants. By shifting this responsibility towards DSOs, even household prosumers get a fair market share, as local sport markets for ancillary services, based on consumer/prosumer bid systems, become a real possibility.

Blockchain is said to have a highly disruptive character, reshaping markets where it emerges. The same is expected to hold for electricity markets. By enabling local trade and trusting in cryptography, rather than commercial intermediaries, currently existing market parties could be forced to adapt or even cease to exist. This is likely to start with electricity providers and metering companies. When electricity can be sold directly from generator to consumer, there is no reason for entities "providing" electricity. Moreover, as smart meters become abundantly available and reconciliation can be safely automated, metering companies will lose value as component in the value chain. For these market parties different roles can be invented, such as providing consensus server, of which the commercial feasibility is debatable. It is more likely that current market roles facing redundancy find services to offer in the new system, for instance in maximising profits for users at a commission base.

The initial investment costs of implementing blockchain in novel markets are expected to be considerable. As a result, there is an disadvantage for the first mover. Late movers could capitalise on this by freeriding on the first investment, while enjoying the same variable costs. This could lead to market fragmentation. In order to avoid competitors from benefiting from investments, companies could choose to centrally govern blockchains covering parts of the energy system. This would move away from the decentralising values of blockchain. In such a case the benefits would decrease from a system user's perspective.

The purpose of this work was to facilitate the shift from central to decentralised energy systems. Nevertheless, with the proposed architecture only one blockchain was covered. It will be interesting to see how one blockchain could communicate with others, moving balances from the neighbourhood level, to city (block) level, municipalities, countries and even continents. The result would be an interconnected network of blockchains, targeting grid problems from the bottom up, with market participation of the smallest of consumers. How the latencies would propagate and how connecting multiple blockchains would affect inter- and intra-performance and scalability is an interesting topic for future research.

Technological drivers

In the trading algorithm it was generalised that all charging infrastructure allows for reverse flow, i.e. has vehicle-to-grid (V2G) capabilities. While, the Dutch infrastructure is being equipped with the necessary tools to do so, this assumption currently does not hold. Without V2G an important balancing effect is diminished and the proposed solution could prove less useful considering the current state-of-the-art of charging infrastructure. As the coverage of V2G-ready infrastructure increases the debate on how V2G can be incorporated in grid system operations becomes more pressing. The solution implies that grid operators have to have an infrastructure that is ready for reversed flow.

Advances in battery technology will not only result in bigger, more efficient batteries, but also the emergence of new battery technologies altogether. Especially the introduction of supercapacitors could impose huge benefits to energy systems, offering bigger capacity, quicker response and more efficient conversions. The service level that PEVs could offer to distributed grids could become significantly higher. If this development is combined with battery swapping and/or the introduction of financially attractive static household storage, decentralised grids could become self-sufficient. With a electricity grid consisting of a large number of distributed, energy neutral networks resilience is increased. With such a grid the investment in REG could become less risky from a household's perspective, seeing there will be fair compensation for every generated unit. With decentralising system control the need for AC networks fades, allowing for more efficient local DC networks.

Blockchain as a contract mediator

It was already mentioned under the previous header that some market parties could face reshaping or, in extreme cases, extinction. It is realised that these changes cannot occur overnight, and will require gradual, step-wise implementation. One aspect that could help in the steady adoption of blockchain is the introduction of a blockchain-based contract ledger. CGI Nederland B.V. was closely involved with developing the C-AR, The Netherlands' central database of grid connections. Due to its properties of irreversibility, security, transparency and privacy, blockchain is perfectly suited to host contract data. It is imaginable that contracts move from supplier to supplier in a cryptocurrency-like manner. It is even possible to use the better established proof-of-work consensus algorithms, as performance is not critical - looking at the current time it takes to switch supplier - and energy suppliers are automatically incentivised to conduct in mining efforts.

A future research agenda

Based on the aforementioned areas of future research the following future research agenda is envisioned:

- 1. The current model can be expanded to incorporate REG from other sources. Solar energy is presently the only renewable energy source (RES) in the model, however The Netherlands has a relatively high share of wind and geothermal energy. By incorporating more distributed resources (DRs) the beneficial effects of the algorithm can increase.
- 2. Although different blockchain consensus styles came under scrutiny in this research, a comparison of different blockchain platforms was not conducted. Blockchain is still a novelty technology and considered a hype in many circles. If a solution is ever to be implemented, policy makers have to convinced of at least the technology's security and performance in an utility context. The maturing of the technology is currently being hindered by vast market segmentation. A company such as CGI could benefit from a detailed study on different platforms and conveying a standardised platform as solution base. The business logic in the model should then be translated to a smart contract layer.
- 3. A crucial aspect left out in the current work are the hardware requirements for running a blockchain client. If the technology would be able to run on smart meter technology, blockchain could be implemented together with the roll-out of smart metering infrastructure. Smart meters form the primary input of data to the system, an implementation there seems only logical. Another important implementation area is public charging stations. The technological state-of-the-art of these infrastructures should be leading in choosing a standardised blockchain platform.
- 4. The solution only operates under the assumption of system user participation. A thorough cost-benefit analysis should pinpoint the financial incentives required to activate users into using the system. Be-

sides financial incentives, environmental arguments are an important motivator for participation in local energy markets. Questionnaires, similar to those used for the JEM project, could shed a light on feasible participation and the corresponding implications for system performance.

- 5. If the solution proves useful from a client's perspective, an interface between blockchain and user has to be developed. The system is capable of combining individual user preferences from thousands of clients. However, the right balance between user input and system complexity has to be found.
- 6. With a standardised blockchain platform as starting point, policy makers can be approached for a demo project. In The Netherlands such pilot projects, e.g. the JEM project, are possible with up to 10,000 households according to experts at CGI. If in phases pilots move from intra-neighbourhood trading, to inter neighbourhoods, inter-cities, etc. trading, the technology's benefit for a nation-wide system could be proven.

Concluding remarks

This thesis covered the effects of electric vehicle charging on decentralising smart grids and the opportunities for blockchain-based local energy trade. An agent-based model of a smart grid was developed to implement and test an energy trading algorithm. The local trading algorithm was based on the principles of blockchain.

Current state-of-the-art electric vehicle charging is found to have a profoundly disruptive effect on decentralised grids, increasing prevailing peak demand and causing network congestion. However, when charging behaviour is aligned with the needs of the grid, the batteries of electric vehicles can be used as distributed resource to provide ancillary services. The developed algorithm is capable of exposing the benefits of an electric vehicle fleet to grid system operators, while still taking the user preferences of the individual owners into account. Consequently, with growing shares of electric vehicles the algorithm can provide primary frequency control, matching local generation and load.

By using blockchain as a market facilitator, trust is shifted from commercialised third parties into mechanisms of cryptography. As a result, trade becomes transparent and efficient and everyone gets a chance to participate on the market. Local markets will give a fairer compensation for distributed resources and in turn encourage individual investment. Collectively, consumers can have a much larger impact on the environment than (local) governments and businesses alone, if correctly incentivised. With the proposed solution, user cost-effective distributed renewable energy generation becomes a reality.

Although the current Dutch energy system is not ready for local trade, the proof-of-concept for blockchainbased energy markets in this work is a first step towards acceptation by governments. With proven feasibility, the technology is ready to be adopted for broader implementation into the electrical utilities sector. Blockchain allows for a leaner and more transparent energy system.

A

Agent-based model specification

This appendix gives an overview on the model specification and agent logic that was used to simulate a smart grid. The model was built in AnyLogic, a modelling tool supporting agent-based, continuous and discrete event simulations. While the model used in this research is completely based on the agent-based part, the simulations are based on discrete event principles. The code excerpts found in this chapter are written in Java, AnyLogic's native programming language. For any functionality that isn't native to Java or build for the purpose of the model, the reader is referred to the user manual of AnyLogic [6].

A.1. Aggregator agent

Within the aggregator agent, the trading algorithm is effectuated. For each time step the algorithm sets allocation for households and connected PEVs:

```
// used to determine throughput
previousNumberOfTxns = get_Main().Transactions.size();
// clear everything from last simulation step
SubSet.clear();
supplierPEVs.clear();
consumerPEVs.clear();
supplierHouseholds.clear();
consumerHouseholds.clear();
double estimation = 0.0;
double consumption = 0.0;
double generation = 0.0;
double allocation = 0.0;
if(PEVs.size() > 0 && time() < 10065){</pre>
  // real time trading is simulated by using actual time
  //\ {\rm rather} than having to rely on predictions
  // simulates the (near) real-time responsiveness of blockchain technology
  double predictionScope = time();
  // iterate of households and get energy patterns
  for(Household h : get_Main().households){
     EnergyPattern eP = get_Main().getEnergyPattern(predictionScope, h);
     double hEstimation = eP.Estimated;
     estimation += hEstimation;
     double hConsumption = eP.Consumed;
     consumption += hConsumption;
     double hGeneration = eP.Generated;
     generation += hGeneration;
     // if a household has net production add it to the supplier subset
     if (hGeneration > hConsumption) {h.transactionAmount = hGeneration -
         hConsumption; supplierHouseholds.add(h);}
     // else if the household caused underestimation add it to the consumer subset
```

```
else if (hEstimation < hConsumption) {h.transactionAmount = hConsumption -</pre>
      hEstimation; consumerHouseholds.add(h);}
}
// the energy balance is calculated from the household estimation, consumption and
    generation
// in the model postive energy means charging (overestimation)
// negative means discharging (underestimation)
// thus consumption is substracted from estimation
// only the surplus generation is added to the balance
// the rest is assumed to be used up by the respective households
energyBalance = estimation - consumption + Math.max(0, generation - consumption);
if(get_Main().smartCharging){ // iff smart charging is enabled
  ListIterator<PEV> litr = PEVs.listIterator(); // an interator of all plugged-in PEVs
  if(energyBalance > 0.0){ // overestimation (estimation > consumption and/or surplus) -->
      EV charge
     while(litr.hasNext()){ // foreach loop over all plugged-in PEVs
        PEV p = litr.next(); // select next PEV p
        // check if p requires energy
        // add p to aggregators working set if complies
        // else disable smartcharging on p
        if(p.batteryLevel < p.batteryCapacity) {SubSet.add(p);}</pre>
        else {p.smartCharging = false;}
     }
     if(SubSet.size() > 0){
        // every PEV gets an equal share of available energy
        allocation = energyBalance / SubSet.size();
        litr = SubSet.listIterator();
        while(litr.hasNext()){
          PEV p = litr.next();
           // add allocation (to the already allocated REG energy)
           p.chargingPowerPeriod = Math.min(allocation, p.powerInput / 4);
           // prevent charging power over outlet capacity
          p.chargingPowerPeriod = Math.min(p.powerInput / 4, p.chargingPowerPeriod);
           p.smartCharging = true;
        7
        consumerPEVs = SubSet;
     }
  } else {
     while(litr.hasNext()){
        PEV p = litr.next();
        p.smartCharging = false;
     }
  }
}
if(get_Main().v2G) { // iff V2G is enabled discharging can occur
  ListIterator<PEV> litr = PEVs.listIterator(); // an interator of all plugged-in PEVs
  if(energyBalance < 0.0) { // underestimation (estimation + surplus < consumption) -->
       PEV discharge
     while(litr.hasNext()){ // foreach loop over all plugged-in PEVs
        PEV p = litr.next(); // select next PEV p
        // check if p has energy left to discharge
        if(p.batteryLevel > 0.0) {
           SubSet.add(p); // add to working set of aggregator
        } else {
           p.discharging = false;
        }
     }
     if(SubSet.size() > 0){ // if aggregator has PEVs to work with
        // available energy is equally shared amongst PEVs
```

```
allocation = energyBalance / SubSet.size();
        litr = SubSet.listIterator();
        while(litr.hasNext()){
          PEV p = litr.next();
          p.chargingPowerPeriod = Math.max(allocation, -p.powerInput / 4);
          p.discharging = true;
           if(p.inState(PEV.Discharging)) p.energyConsumption = p.chargingPowerPeriod;
        }
     }
     supplierPEVs = SubSet; // duplicate working set
     //System.out.println(Double.toString(time()) + "," + Double.toString(energyBalance) +
          "," + Double.toString(allocation));
  } else {
     while(litr.hasNext()){
        PEV p = litr.next();
        p.discharging = false;
     }
  }
}
// only trading between PEVs and Households
if(consumerPEVs.size() > 0 && supplierHouseholds.size() > 0){
  // filled with smart charging PEVs: chargingPowerPeriod > 0.0
  ListIterator<PEV> cPs = consumerPEVs.listIterator();
  // filled with Households generation > consumption: transactionAmount > 0.0
  ListIterator<Household> sHs = supplierHouseholds.listIterator();
  // iterate over PEVs
  while(cPs.hasNext()){ // outer loop (PEVs)
     PEV cP = cPs.next();
     if(cP.smartCharging == false && cP.charging == false) continue;
     double demand = cP.chargingPowerPeriod; // > 0.0
     while(sHs.hasNext() && demand > 0.0){ // inner loop (households)
        Household sH = sHs.next();
        double supply = sH.transactionAmount; // > 0.0
        // create new instance of transaction class
        // and set properties
        Transaction txn = new Transaction();
        txn.Amount = Math.min(supply, demand); //in Wh
        txn.Buyer = cP;
        txn.ModelMinutes = predictionScope;
        txn.Seller = sH;
        txn.Value = sH.transactionAmount / 1000 *
            cP.getPeriodPrice((int)predictionScope).PriceTotal;
        get_Main().Transactions.add(txn);
        cP.Transactions.add(txn);
        sH.Transactions.add(txn);
        // check if blockchain experiment is running if so add txn to blockchain
        // household 63 was randomly chosen as the transaction source, because
        // the laptop running the model couldn't keep up with the throughput
        // of the entire model and SSHing it to the VM (CGI1), therefore
        // one client was chosen, agreeing more with a real-life situation anyway
        // one client connection per household/PEV/etc.
        if(get_Main().Blockchain) if(sH.getIndex() == 62){
          addTxnToBlockchain(txn);
          // try add transaction to database
          trv
          {
             addTxnToDb(txn);
          } catch(Exception e)
          Ł
```

```
System.out.println(e.toString());
          }
        }
        // debug lines, should never be printed
        if (demand - txn. Amount < 0) System.out.println("Too much energy bought by " +
            cP.toString());
        if (supply - txn. Amount < 0) System.out.println("Too much energy sold by " +
            sH.toString());
        // the current PEV's (outer loop) demand is decreased with the transacted amount
        // or set to zero if demand is fulfilled
        demand = Math.max(0.0, demand - txn.Amount);
        // the current households's (inner loop) supply is decreased with the transacted
        // amount, or set to zero if the full supply is allocated
        sH.transactionAmount = Math.max(0.0, sH.transactionAmount - txn.Amount);
        // if the current household (inner loop) has allocated its supply
        // remove it from the working set as to continue with next household
        if(sH.transactionAmount == 0.0) sHs.remove();
        // if the PEV (outer loop) has filled its demand
        // break the inner loop (household) and continue with the next PEV
        if(demand == 0.0) break;
     } // inner loop (households)
  } // outer loop (PEVs)
} // end of conditional tag (supplier households and consumer PEVs)
if(supplierPEVs.size() > 0 && consumerHouseholds.size() > 0){
  // filled with discharging PEVs: chargingPowerPeriod < 0.0</pre>
  ListIterator<PEV> sPs = supplierPEVs.listIterator();
  // filled with Households estimation < consumption: transactionAmount < 0.0
  ListIterator<Household> cHs = consumerHouseholds.listIterator();
  // iterate over PEVs
  while(sPs.hasNext()){
     PEV sP = sPs.next();
     // fail-safe check
     if(sP.discharging == false) continue;
     double supply = sP.chargingPowerPeriod; // < 0.0</pre>
     while(cHs.hasNext() && supply < 0.0){</pre>
        Household cH = cHs.next();
        double demand = cH.transactionAmount; // < 0.0</pre>
        // create new instance of transaction class
        // and set properties
        Transaction txn = new Transaction();
        /\!/ household demand is calculated consumption - estimation
        // there is underestimation, thus consumption > estimation
        // demand is positive, hence inversely used here
        txn.Amount = Math.max(supply, -demand); // in Wh
        txn.Buyer = cH;
        txn.ModelMinutes = predictionScope;
        txn.Seller = sP;
        txn.Value = Math.abs(cH.transactionAmount) / 1000 *
            sP.getPeriodPrice((int)predictionScope).PriceTotal;
        // add transaction to total and
        // household agent transactions and
        // PEV agent transactions
        get_Main().Transactions.add(txn);
        cH.Transactions.add(txn);
        sP.Transactions.add(txn);
        if(get_Main().Blockchain) if(cH.getIndex() == 62){
```
}

```
addTxnToBlockchain(txn);
             // try add transaction to database
             try
             Ł
                addTxnToDb(txn);
             } catch(Exception e)
             {
                System.out.println(e.toString());
             }
          }
          // debug lines, should never be printed
          if (supply - txn.Amount > 0) System.out.println("Too much energy sold from " +
               sP.toString());
           if (-demand - txn. Amount > 0) System.out.println("Too much energy bought by " +
               cH.toString());
           supply = Math.min(0.0, supply - txn.Amount);
           cH.transactionAmount = Math.min(0.0, cH.transactionAmount - txn.Amount);
          if(cH.transactionAmount == 0.0) cHs.remove();
          if(supply == 0.0) break;
        }
     }
  } // end of conditional tag (supplier PEVs and consumer households)
// add time step's throughput to overall throughput histogram
get_Main().transactionThroughput.add(get_Main().Transactions.size() - previousNumberOfTxns);
```

If a blockchain experiment is run, a SSH connection is open (see Section A.4). The transaction is then added to the blockchain using the addTxnToBlockchain(Transaction transaction) function (void):

```
// try add transaction to blockchain through ssh terminal
try
{
  // build UNIX compatible string from Transaction object
  // each transaction gets a number for later reference
  // and blockchain transaction verification
  String txnNr = Integer.toString(get_Main().Transactions.size());
  String txnString = txnNr + "=" + transaction.toString();
  txnString = txnString.replace("Seller = ", "");
  txnString = txnString.replace(" Buyer = ", ",");
  txnString = txnString.replace(" ModelMinutes = ", ",");
  txnString = txnString.replace(" Amount = ", ",");
  txnString = txnString.replace(" Value = ", ",");
  txnString = txnString.replace("[", "");
  txnString = txnString.replace("]", "");
  txnString = txnString.replace(" ", "");
  // An SSH connection is made to the first CGI VM in startup of Main
  // Transaction can be added to the blockchain using cURL on port 46657
  String SSHString = "curl -s 'localhost:46657/broadcast_tx_sync?tx=\"" + txnString + "\"'\n";
  int value = 0;
  get_Main().SSHOut.write(SSHString.getBytes());
  get_Main().SSHOut.flush();
  // used to log SSH terminal output to Console window
  Thread.sleep(1);
  if (get_Main().SSHIn.available () > 0) {
```

```
value = get_Main().SSHIn.read ();
       System.out.print((char)value);
       while (get_Main().SSHIn.available () > 0) {
           value = get_Main().SSHIn.read ();
           System.out.print((char)value);
       }
   }
   if (get_Main().SSHErr.available () > 0) {
       value = get_Main().SSHErr.read();
       System.out.print((char)value);
       while (get_Main().SSHErr.available () > 0) {
           value = get_Main().SSHErr.read ();
          System.out.print((char)value);
      }
  } // end SSH logger
} catch(Exception e)
Ł
  System.err.print(e);
}
```

A.2. Charging station agent

Each time step, charging stations calculate the possibility of the arrival of a PEV:

```
// if and only if no connected PEV
// trial-and-error resulted in expression
// with too many occupied stations occupancy would spike in the beginning
// and remain unoccupied for the remainder
if(hasCar == false && get_Main().chargingStations.NOccupied() <= 1){
    if(get_Main().chargingStations.average("occupancy") < get_Main().avgOccupancy){
      // coin flip based on average occupancy input param.
      if(bernoulli(get_Main().avgOccupancy) == 1){
           // set variable so agent can transition
           this.hasCar = true;
      }
    }
    if(time() > 0.0) this.occupancy = this.occupiedMinutes/time();
    pevConsumption = pEV.sumConsumption();
```

When a PEV connects, its sojourn time is stochastically assigned based on its charging type:

```
while(p.idleTime >= p.sojournTime){
    switch(p.chargingType){
        case "ParkToCharge":
            p.sojournTime = beta(45.7, 339.7, 0.02, 23.91)*60;
            p.idleTime = beta(7.3, 237.5, 0, 23.66)*60;
        break;
        case "ChargeNearHome":
            while(p.sojournTime < 0.02*60 || p.sojournTime > 23.99*60){
            p.sojournTime = logistic(1.9, 13)*60;
        }
        p.idleTime = normal(0, 23.53, 9.8, 4)*60;
        break;
        case "ChargeNearWork":
        while(p.sojournTime < 5.0*60 || p.sojournTime > 18.52*60){
            p.sojournTime = logistic(5.8, 8.7)*60;
        }
    }
}
```

```
}
    while(p.idleTime < 0.0 || p.idleTime > 15.54*60){
        p.idleTime = logistic(1, 5.4)*60;
    }
    break;
    default: System.out.println("Charging type failed for " + this);
}
```

A.3. Household agent

Household agents are generated from the CEMS database. On agent start up, its parameters are set using Bernoulli draws based on input parameters:

```
hasCar = bernoulli(get_Main().carOwners) == 1;
if(hasCar){
  hasPEV = bernoulli(get_Main().pevOwners) == 1;
  if(hasPEV){
    hasCar = false;
    add_pEV();
    PEV p = pEV.get(0);
    powerOutput = powerOutputs.getInt();
    get_Main().chargingCapacities.add(powerOutput);
  }
}
hasREG = bernoulli(get_Main().regOwners) == 1;
```

On every time step the following code is executed to get the energy pattern for that time step:

```
EnergyPattern eP = get_Main().getEnergyPattern(time(), this);
this.estimatedEnergy = eP.Estimated;
this.consumedEnergy = eP.Consumed;
if(this.hasREG) this.generatedEnergy = eP.Generated;
```

pevConsumption = pEV.sumConsumption();

It uses the getEnergyPattern(Double time, Household household method of the main agent.

A.4. Main agent

If houses are removed or added from the base number of households, 107, they are changed using the following code on model start up:

```
if(households.size() > 0){
  while(households.size() != numberOfHouseholds){
    if(numberOfHouseholds < 107) remove_households(households.get(households.size() - 1));
    else if(numberOfHouseholds > 107){
        Household h = households.get((int)uniform(0,106));
        add_households(h.id, h.selectedEnergyProfile, h.solarPanelCapacity,
            h.yearlyEstimatedConsumption, false, false, false, 0);
    }
}
```

On model start-up, if a blockchain experiment is run, the following code is used to set-up a SSH connection. The connection is make through a PLink application instance, using a pre-defined PuTTY profile "CGI" for the first CGI virtual machine.

```
// only if blockchain experiment is running
if(Blockchain){
```

```
try
{
    // excetue plink from command line using preset CGI putty profile
    // store process in Main property "SSH"
    SSH = Runtime.getRuntime().exec("plink -load CGI");
    // collect all process streams into Main agent properties
    SSHOut = SSH.getOutputStream();
    SSHIn = SSH.getInputStream();
    SSHErr = SSH.getErrorStream();
    catch(Exception e)
    {
        System.err.print(e);
    }
}
```

Below the function used to retrieve energy patterns per household per timeslot is given. It uses the Java API (Query DSL) to communicate with the database:

```
int mM = (int)modelMinutes;
double estimatedEnergy = (double) selectFrom(dbo_energy_patterns)
   .where(dbo_energy_patterns.home_id.eq(household.id),dbo_energy_patterns.model_minutes.eq(mM))
   .firstResult(dbo_energy_patterns.estimated);
int consumedEnergy = (int) selectFrom(dbo_energy_patterns)
   .where(dbo_energy_patterns.home_id.eq(household.id),dbo_energy_patterns.model_minutes.eq(mM))
   .firstResult(dbo_energy_patterns.consumed);
int generatedEnergy = 0;
if(household.hasREG){
   generatedEnergy = (int) selectFrom(dbo_energy_patterns)
    .where(dbo_energy_patterns.home_id.eq(household.id),dbo_energy_patterns.model_minutes.eq(mM))
   .firstResult(dbo_energy_patterns.home_id.eq(household.id),dbo_energy_patterns.model_minutes.eq(mM))
   .firstResult(dbo_energy_patterns.home_id.eq(household.id),dbo_energy_patterns.model_minutes.eq(mM))
   .firstResult(dbo_energy_patterns.home_id.eq(household.id),dbo_energy_patterns.model_minutes.eq(mM))
   .firstResult(dbo_energy_patterns.generated);
}
return new EnergyPattern(estimatedEnergy, consumedEnergy, generatedEnergy);
```

A.5. PEV agent

The most important function of the PEV agent is its emergency charge fail-safe:

```
// If cars still leave the model with an SOC < 1.0
// the PEV's demand was to high to comply with considering
// the charger's output power
//remaining periods
int remP = (int)(sojournTime - (time() - arrivalTime)) / 15;
//required periods
int reqP = (int)Math.ceil((batteryCapacity - batteryLevel)/(powerInput / 4));
if(reqP >= remP-1){ // remP - 1 correctional period for simulation time discrepancies
    chargingPowerPeriod = powerInput / 4;
    return true;
}
return false;
```

В

Agent-based model validation

During model validation the correctness of the representation of the real system by the simulation model is tested [10]. Because of the high novelty of the modelled system, no data is available that could serve as a comparison to the model output data. Therefore, this appendix provides an statistical approach to the validation of the specified model. Based on the output of a parameter variation experiment in AnyLogic a multiple regression analysis will be used to prove causality between input parameters and the criteria. Hypotheses will be used to test the validity of the model behaviour against expectations in the real system.

B.1. Parameter variation experiment

In AnyLogic the parameter variation experiment is used to test how certain input parameters affect the model behaviour. The parameters were varied according to the expressions given in Table B.1. The inputs are randomly (uniform distribution) varied between upper and lower bounds. Penetration rates and fractions are varied to cover the full parameter range. The maximum number of 100 charging stations was chosen arbitrarily and the bounds for the number of households was based on expected coverage of the designed system, deducted from discussions with CGI experts on smart grids. To investigate transactional requirements, both smart and V2G charging is enabled.

Number	Parameter	Expression
1	Car owning fraction	uniform(0, 1)
2	PEV owning fraction	uniform(0, 1)
3	REG owning fraction	uniform(0, 1)
4	BEV fraction	uniform(0, 1)
5	Public charging stations	(int) uniform(0, 100)
6	Average occupancy	uniform(0, 1)
7	Number of households	(int) uniform(50, 1000)

Table B.1: Input parameter expression for parameter variation experiment

To test the validity of the simulation model's behaviour, the criteria were translated to output parameters, which are presented below. The mean as well as the confidence interval of these parameters are collected. The mean was chosen as dependent variable because it gives an insight in overall model behaviour. The resulting conclusions on causality can then be used to explore the extreme cases in simulation experiments. Below every output parameter, with desirable outcome, is explained sequentially.

Estimation deviation. During each run, per 15 minute interval, the absolute difference between estimated and actual, total consumption is collected and stored in a histogram. After each run the mean and confidence interval are stored as output parameters. The goal is to approximate the estimation deviation to zero.

SOC. The state of charge after each PEV's charging session, both household and public charging station, is

collected into a histogram. After each run the mean and confidence interval are stored as output parameters. The goal is to approximate the SOC to one.

Charging cost. The CEMS database contained detailed information on electricity prices, dividing in supplier, network and tax costs. For each PEV charging session the total charging costs are collected in a histogram. After each run the mean and confidence interval are stored as output parameters. The goal is to keep the costs for charging as low as possible.

Charging earnings. The CEMS database contained detailed information on electricity prices, dividing in supplier, network and tax costs. For each PEV charging session the total discharging earnings are collected in a histogram. After each run the mean and confidence interval are stored as output parameters. The goal is to keep the earnings as high as possible.

Charging profit. The charging profit is the difference between the latter two parameters.

Transactional throughput. Energy trading between households and PEV result in transactions. For each 15 minute interval during a run the number of transactions is collected, resulting in throughput, and stored in a histogram. After each run the mean and confidence interval are stored as output parameters. The throughput is an important criterion for blockchain performance requirements.

Household transactions. After each simulation run the number of transactions per household agent is collected into a histogram. The mean and confidence interval are stored as output parameters. The goal is to keep the spread as small as possible, so that all household get an equal market share.

PEV transactions. After each lifetime of a PEV agent its number of transactions is collected into a histogram. After each run the mean and confidence interval are stored as output parameters. The goal is to keep the spread as small as possible, so that all PEVs have an equal burden of the balancing load.

B.2. Multiple regression analysis

The level of measurement of each input and output variable is on a ratio scale, as a result the generated data lends itself for a multiple regression analysis. Regression analysis focusses on explaining the relation between predictor variables and population parameters. Because of the interest in causal relations, standardised regression analysis was performed. By standardising, deviation in the output (dependent) parameter can be explained with variation in input (predictor) parameters. During the analysis, each dependent parameter was independently reflected against all predictors. Insignificant predictors are left out, resulting in a standardised regression model of the form

$$\hat{Y} = \beta_1 * z_1 + \beta_2 * z_2 + \dots + \beta_n * z_n + \varepsilon, \tag{B.1}$$

where \hat{Y} is the predicted output parameter, $\beta_1, ..., \beta_n$ are the partial standardised regression coefficients, $z_1, ..., z_n$ are the standardised predictor variables and ε is the standard error. Standardised coefficients mean that if the standard deviation of the predicted variable $\sigma_{\hat{Y}}$ increases with 1, the standard deviation of predictor i σ_{z_i} will have increased with β_i (within a 95% confidence interval). SPSS is used to fit the regression models.

For each output parameter, each input parameter's influence is tested using statistical hypothesis testing. This entails setting an expected outcome and checking if, with statistical relevance, the null hypothesis can be rejected. For variable z_i the null hypothesis is:

$H0:\beta_i=0.$

The confidence interval is set to 95%, resulting in an α of 0.05. Because expectations are tested, onetailed significance is used, thus the p value should be smaller than 0.025. Subsequently, a description of the expected sign of each estimator per output parameter is given, of which a summary can be found in Table B.2. If the actual parameters match the expectations, model validity is justifiable (within a 95% confidence interval).

Deviance. PEVs are assumed to increase deviation between estimated and actual consumption, because the

demand peaks outweigh the balancing effects. Therefore, the car owning fraction (z_1) and PEV penetration rate (z_2) , as well as the number of public charging stations (z_5) and average occupancy (z_6) , are expected to have positive causal relations with the estimation deviation. REG (z_3) is hard to predict by BRPs and therefore, by definition, increases the deviation from consumption estimation. Most BEVs have a higher battery capacity than PHEVs, because the effects of charging are assumed to outweigh the balancing capacity, a larger share of BEVs (z_4) will increase the average deviation. Deviations occur because individual households do not match the generalisations on which the electricity profiles are based. If the number of households (z_7) increases, the mismatches will grow accordingly and with it the average deviance.

SOC. A higher percentage of car owners (z_1) and/or a higher fraction of PEV owners (z_2) will result in a larger buffer capacity owing to a larger battery fleet. Therefore, the amount of electricity discharged per vehicle in case of underestimation is lower and the average SOC increases. The penetration of REG (z_3) is expected to have a positive causal relation with SOC, because more generation will lead to more surplus and thus more charging chances. Due to the, on average, higher battery capacity of BEVs compared to PHEVs, the chance of leaving with a partially charged battery becomes larger. As a result, the average SOC goes down with higher shares of BEV (z_4). Because PEVs at public charging stations have shorter sojourn times than those connected at households, the chance of over-demand is expected to outweigh the positive effects of a larger available battery buffer. Conclusively, the mean SOC will drop when the number of charging stations (z_5) is increased. The occupancy (z_6) of public charging stations is expected to increase the number of publicly charging PEVs, thus will also lower the average SOC. The number of households (z_7) is expected to have a positive causal relation with the average SOC, because more household will result in more periods of overestimation and thus more opportunities for smart charging.

Charging cost. It is inherent to the CEMS database that moments of overestimation occur at times of high market prices. Consequently, due to smart charging, charging occurs during these times of high prices. However, with an increase in the number of available PEVs (z_2) (increased indirectly through the car owning fraction (z_1), these high costs can be shared amongst more PEV owners. As the emergency charging will occur later, most likely during lower prices, the average charging sessions costs go down. The amount of available REG (z_3) is assumed to have an decreasing effect on charging costs, due to the coinciding times of generation and low market prices. Due to the, on average, higher battery capacity of BEVs compared to PHEVs, the costs to fully charge a battery are assumed to grow with growing BEV share (z_4). Increased numbers of charging stations (z_5) and higher occupancy (z_6) will have a similar effect on charging costs as the number of households PEVs. An increase in the number of households (z_7) will lead to an increase in charging costs as the deviations during overestimation will increase, requiring more smart charging during times of high market prices.

Charging earnings are inversely linked to the costs. With more cars (z_1) and a higher PEV penetration (z_2) , earnings have to be shared amongst more, thus will decrease. The same holds for the number (z_5) and occupancy (z_6) of public charging stations. Larger battery capacities, a result of a higher BEV fraction (z_4) , allow for larger sales of electricity and will hence increase earnings. With an increase in the number of households (z_7) comes an increase opportunity for trading energy during periods of underestimation. The amount of REG (z_3) is assumed to have an increasing effect on earnings, as the PEVs will charge during periods where electricity is cheap, and possibly selling this at a later, higher priced, time.

Profit is calculated by subtracting earnings from cost. The sing of these parameters is essentially an indication on which parameter has the largest influence.

Throughput. Transactions occur whenever there is excess or a shortage of electricity and available battery capacity. Therefore, the penetration of cars (z_1) and PEVs (z_2) , as well as the number of public charging stations (z_5) and their average occupancy (z_6) , and the number of households (z_7) will have a positive causal relation with transactional throughput. The same holds for the penetration rate of REG (z_3) . Because the BEV fraction (z_4) is expected to increase the average battery capacity, and thus allows for imbalance mitigation with fewer cars, the number of required transactions decreases.

Household transactions. An increase in the fraction of car owners (z_1) will lead to more PEVs through the PEV penetration rate (z_2) . The same holds for the number of public charging stations (z_5) and average occupancy of aforementioned stations (z_6) . If there are more PEVs, more of the mismatch between household

consumption and estimation patterns can be covered by trading electricity. Vice versa, the number of households (z_7) is expected to have a negative relation with the number of household transactions, as at some point the maximum capacity is reached. A higher average battery capacity, indirectly caused by the BEV fraction (z_4), will increase the available balancing buffer, increasing the number of household transactions. Finally, the penetration of REG (z_3) will increase the amount of household transactions, due to the increased surplus of household energy, which is an ideal source for PEV charging.

PEV transactions. For the number of PEVs, through predictors (z_1, z_2, z_5) and (z_6) , and the number of households (z_7) are expected to have an opposite effect on the number of PEV transactions compared to the number of household transactions. The effect of the penetration of REG (z_3) and the BEV fraction (z_4) will have similar effects on the number of PEV transactions as on the household transactions.

\hat{Y}	$H1: \beta_1$	$H1: \beta_2$	$H1: \beta_3$	$H1: \beta_4$	$H1: \beta_5$	$H1: \beta_6$	$H1: \beta_7$
Deviance	>0	>0	>0	>0	>0	>0	>0
SOC	>0	>0	>0	<0	<0	<0	>0
Cost	<0	<0	<0	>0	<0	<0	>0
Earnings	<0	<0	>0	>0	<0	<0	>0
Profit	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
Throughput	>0	>0	>0	<0	>0	>0	>0
Household txns	>0	>0	>0	>0	>0	>0	<0
PEV txns	<0	<0	>0	>0	<0	<0	>0

Table B.2: Alternative hypotheses per predictor per output parameter

B.2.1. 1st iteration regression analysis results

The parameter variation experiment consisted of 276 runs. Table B.3 gives the results of the regression analysis. Parameter values β_i give an insight in the direction of causal relation and how strong its influence is. The R^2 statistic gives the degree to which the output parameter's variation can be explained by the regression model. If a parameter value is zero, the predictor had an insignificant contribution to output variability, and therefore it is assumable that no causal relation exists.

\hat{Y}	eta_1	eta_2	eta_3	eta_4	eta_5	eta_6	eta_7	R^2
Deviance	0.491	0.456	0	0	0.132	0	0.518	0.759
SOC	0.304	0.321	0	-0.201	-0.280	0	0.240	0.409
Cost	-0.558	-0.518	0	0.182	-0.143	-0.110	0.166	0.643
Earnings	-0.381	-0.347	0	0	-0.329	-0.147	0.274	0.460
Profit	0.148	0.126	-0.040	0.113	0.386	0.133	-0.292	0.325
Throughput	0.019	0.021	-0.112	0.034	0.045	0.045	0.994	0.982
Household txns	0	0.099	-0.605	0.196	0.248	0.232	0	0.597
PEV txns	-0.041	-0.009	-0.066	0.041	-0.464	-0.290	0.471	0.563

Table B.3: 1st iteration regression analysis results

When analysing the results the first remarkable conclusion that can be drawn, is the seeming absence of the effects of the penetration of REG. For half of the output parameters the predictor had no significant impact. For the others outputs the causal relation's polarity does not match the expected polarity. Therefore, the model structure was re-scrutinised and two critical flaws concerning REG were discovered and fixed:

• The amount of generated energy was not taken into account in the pattern plots, nor the estimation deviance histograms. When there is a sufficient generation the grid has the potential to become net suppliers. The moments and amounts of energy generated are hard to predict by BRPs and as such the penetration of REG will have a profound influence of the aforementioned plot and histogram. The error was corrected by adding surplus (total generation minus household consumption) to both statistics.

• In case there was a net supply of electricity coming from REG, no trading between household and PEVs occurred, while this an eminent moment for PEv charging. The problem was fixed by enabling trade in the case of generation surplus.

In order to investigate the validity of the new model, the parameter variation experiment and multiple regression analysis were revisited.

B.2.2. 2nd iteration regression analysis results

The second iteration of the regression analysis, after fixing the model errors discovered during the first analysis, was based on a parameter variation experiment with 911 runs. The partial regression coefficients can be found in Table B.4.

Ŷ	$H1: \beta_1$	$H1: \beta_2$	$H1: \beta_3$	$H1: \beta_4$	$H1: \beta_5$	$H1: \beta_6$	$H1: \beta_7$	R^2
Deviance	0.443	0.443	0.080	0 ^a	0.073	0.077	0.582	0.778
SOC	0.349	0.327	0 ^a	-0.215	-0.294	-0.163	0.230	0.399
Cost	-0.490	-0.558	0 ^a	0.193	-0.082	-0.114	0.113	0.581
Earnings	-0.324	-0.383	0 ^a	0^{a}	-0.275	-0.241	0.286	0.451
Profit	0.109	0.147	0	0.115	0.359	0.279	-0.348	0.356
Throughput	0.03	0.033	-0.116 ^a	0.029 ^a	0.043	0.051	0.974	0.975
Household txns	0.134	0.146	-0.558 ^a	0.118	0.230	0.250	-0.087	0.493
PEV txns	0^{a}	0^{a}	-0.118 ^a	0.065	-0.417	-0.324	0.492	0.520

Table B.4: 2nd iteration regression analysis results

^a Mismatch between alternative hypothesis and coefficient (polarity).

Sensitivity analysis of the penetration of REG

After the second iteration the partial regression coefficients have not changed significantly for the penetration of REG predictor. Thus, the models behaviour as a result of REG penetration is further explored by conducting a sensitivity analysis on the penetration of REG. The predictors that affect the number of PEVs and households seem to have an overall strong influence. Therefore, the sensitivity of the penetration of REG is tested in three scenarios with increasing penetrations of PEVs and number of households. The sensitivity is tested against the deviance mean, because the amount of generated energy is assumed to have the largest effect on this parameter. The experimental design is summarised in Table B.5. The analysis will generate a scatter plot for each experiment. The expectation is that the amount of REG has a positive causal relation with deviation. The scatter plots should therefore show a more profound positive linear relation than is evident from the parameter variation experiment. The outcomes are graphically presented in Figure B.1.

Table B.5: REG penetration sensitivity analysis experiment design

Experiment	REG	PEV	BEV fraction	Charging stations	Households
1	uniform(0, 1)	0.01	0.01	1	100
2	uniform(0, 1)	0.50	0.50	50	500
3	uniform(0, 1)	1.00	1.00	100	1000
0	unitorni(0) 1)	1100	1100	100	1000

As can be seen from the figures in Figure B.1 there is an strong relation between the penetration of REG and the estimation deviance for growing numbers of PEV and households. The R^2 of the fitted lines is significant throughout the three scenarios (the curved lines represent the 95% confidence interval). This means that the amount of REG can explain some of the variability in the deviance. However, as the number of PEVs and households increases this effect diminishes, concluding from the reduction in R^2 . This in combination with the results from second regression analysis, leads to the conclusion that overall the model structure can be deemed adequate and that it's highly probable that the amount of PEVs and households has a bigger impact on the output parameters than the penetration of REG.



Figure B.1: Scatter plots for the REG penetration sensitivity analysis on the estimation deviance

The effect of the penetration of REG appears to have a strong inverse relation with the number of transactions occurring, compared to what was expected. The amount of generated electricity can only contribute to the number of transactions when there is surplus, i.e. the sum of household generation exceeds the sum of household consumption. In scenarios with low REG penetration there is no chance of having surplus and thus there is no effect of changes in REG. When there is a higher amount of REG transactions can occur if and only if there are plugged-in PEVs during moments of surplus. At lower penetration of PEVs and number of households, this chance is small. This is visible in Figure B.2a, where dots are scattered at random and the fitted negative zero order polynomial has a very low R^2 statistic. The R^2 statistic increases through Figure B.2b and B.2c, signalling an increasingly strong causal relation at larger PEV penetration and number of households.

The partial regression coefficients for the output parameters relating to energy transactions (substantially) differ from the alternative hypotheses presented in Table B.2. While, deducing from the model structure, one would expect an increase in transactional throughput, the relation between indicator and output parameters (see also Figure B.2).



Figure B.2: Scatter plots for the REG penetration sensitivity analysis on throughput

After the sensitivity analysis on the relation between the REG fraction and throughput, the model's specification was revisited. It was found that there was a misplaced piece of code in the trading algorithm, that prevented the discharging of PEVs during times of high REG. The error propagated through the model by being doubly accounted for in model statistics and figures. The algorithm's structure was changed so that it correctly accounts for high generation from solar panels. A third sensitivity analysis was conducted to support this claim (see figure B.3). The figure shows that the number of transactions per time unit increases, as it to be expected.

B.2.3. 3rd iteration regression analysis results

The third iteration of the regression analysis, after fixing the model errors discovered during the second analysis, was based on a parameter variation experiment with 210 runs. The partial regression coefficients can be found in Table B.6. It is evident that the influence of the REG penetration is still questionable. Considering the dependence on the number of households, i.e. you need households for REG, and the results of the sensitivity analysis (see Figure B.3), the model's validity is not rejected based on the partial regression coefficients.



Figure B.3: Scatter plot for the second REG penetration sensitivity analysis on throughput

A similar explanation is considered for the lack of influence of the BEV fraction indicator. The BEV fraction only has an indirect influence on criteria through PEV penetration and the car owning fraction. The effects of these factors is deemed to outweigh the effects of the BEV fraction, resulting in insignificant partial regression coefficients.

Actually, if one compares the parameters from the second iteration (Table B.4) with that of the last iteration (Table B.6), the only mismatches between alternative hypothesis and coefficient polarity occur at insignificant coefficients. The differences between the coefficients of both analyses are small, leading to conclude that the model displays some robustness.

Ŷ	$H1: \beta_1$	$H1:\beta_2$	$H1:\beta_3$	$H1: \beta_4$	$H1: \beta_5$	$H1: \beta_6$	$H1: \beta_7$	R^2
Deviance	0.443	0.417	0 ^a	0^{a}	0.104	0.085	0.560	0.734
SOC	0.243	0.283	0^{a}	-0.249	-0.293	-0.137	0.328	0.397
Cost	-0.497	-0.460	0^{a}	0.243	-0.164	-0.166	0^{a}	0.541
Earnings	-0.332	-0.310	0^{a}	0^{a}	-0.312	-0.239	0.240	0.391
Throughput	0.163	0.132	0^{a}	0^{a}	0.142	0.148	0.906	0.924
Household txns	0.396	0.289	0.086	0^{a}	0.362	0.336	-0.464	0.690
PEV txns	-0.362	-0.308	0^{a}	0^{a}	-0.384	-0.301	0.300	0.533

Table B.6: 3nd iteration regression analysis results

^a Mismatch between alternative hypothesis and coefficient (polarity).

B.3. Parameter variation analysis conclusions

From Table B.6 it can be concluded that there are mismatches between the alternative hypotheses and their partial regression coefficients of some of the predictors.

Where the coefficients are zero, their effects were insignificant compared to the other indicators. Such is the case for the amount of PEVs (z_1 and z_2) on the number of PEV txns. A likely explanation is that the effect of randomly appearing PEVs at public charging stations have a more profound effect. This is supported by β_5 and β_6 . Maintaining the null hypotheses for the coefficients of the BEV fraction for deviance and earnings, could be explained by the fact that the input only has an indirect influence on the average battery capacity. Therefore, the number of PEVs has a much stronger effect, which is shown by β_1 and β_2 for both output parameters.

For all the output parameters the level of variance that can be explained by the regression model, based on the R^2 statistics, is relatively high. $R^2 > 0.300$ is often deemed a sufficient level in social sciences and all statistics lie above that with a sufficient margin. Out of all predictors the number of households seems to have the largest influence on the output parameters, having the maximum absolute coefficient for the deviance, throughput and PEV transactions. On all these outputs the number of households seems to have an undesirable effect, namely one would want the deviance to be low and the number of transactions low. The number of households is expected to be an important indicator for blockchain performance limits and will be thoroughly tested during the experimental/simulation phase.

The number of household PEVs, effected through z_1 and z_2 , is another critical indicator, having the strongest causal relation with mean SOC, cost and earnings. While increasing the number of PEVs has a preferable effect on SOC, and costs also seem to decrease, the earnings decrease. The net result of cost and earnings also seems to benefit. However, these conclusions apply for the mean values and say nothing about extremities. Therefore the maximum costs and minimum earnings under increasing penetration of PEVs will be an important topic during the experimental phase. The largest disadvantageous predictors on the SOC β_4 and β_5 , the fraction of full-electric PEVs, respectively the number of public charging stations. It is expected that these coefficients are smaller because their effects are only indirect, namely through the average battery capacity and charger output power. During the experimental phase these indicators will be analysed directly for their effects on SOC.

Bibliography

- Thomas Ackermann, Göran Andersson, and Lennart Söder. Distributed generation: a definition. *Electric Power Systems Research*, 57(3):195 - 204, 2001. ISSN 0378-7796. doi: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/S0378-7796(01)00101-8. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0378779601001018.
- [2] Jamshid Aghaei, Ali Esmaeel Nezhad, Abdorreza Rabiee, and Ehsan Rahimi. Contribution of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles in power system uncertainty management. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 59:450 – 458, 2016. ISSN 1364-0321. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.12.207. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032115015907.
- [3] Kari Alanne and Arto Saari. Distributed energy generation and sustainable development. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 10(6):539–558, 2006.
- [4] Ian Allison. RWE and Slock.it electric cars using Ethereum wallets can recharge by induction at traffic lights. [online] http://www.ibtimes.co.uk/ rwe-slock-it-electric-cars-using-ethereum-wallets-can-recharge-by-induction-\ traffic-lights-1545220, February 22 2016.
- [5] AnyLogic. Multimethod simulation software and solutions. [online] http://anylogic.com/,.
- [6] AnyLogic. Online help AnyLogic Simulation Software. [online] https://www.anylogic.com/ anylogic/help/,.
- [7] APX Group. Continuous markets: Intraday. [online] https://www.apxgroup.com/ trading-clearing/continuous-markets-intraday/.
- [8] MJ Arentsen, RW Künneke, and HC Moll. Reorganisation by negotiation'. *European Electricity Systems in Transition: A comparative analysis of policy and regulation in Western Europe*, page 167, 1997.
- [9] James Ayre. Details on Renault Zoe ze 40 battery packs. [online] https://cleantechnica.com/2016/ 10/11/details-renault-zoe-ze-40-battery-packs/, October 2016.
- [10] Osman Balci. Verification validation and accreditation of simulation models. In *Proceedings of the 29th conference on Winter simulation*, pages 135–141. IEEE Computer Society, 1997.
- [11] P. Bauer, Y. Zhou, J. Doppler, and N. Stembridge. Charging of electric vehicles and impact on the grid. In *MECHATRONIKA, 2010 13th International Symposium*, pages 121–127, June 2010.
- [12] Angel A. Bayod-Rújula. Future development of the electricity systems with distributed generation. Energy, 34(3):377 383, 2009. ISSN 0360-5442. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2008.12.008. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360544208003174. {WESC} 2006Advances in Energy Studies6th World Energy System Conference5th workshop on Advances, Innovation and Visions in Energy and Energy-related Environmental and Socio-Economic Issues.
- [13] BitFury Group and Jeff Garzik. Public versus private blockchains, part 1: permissioned blockchains. [Whitepaper] http://bitfury.com/content/5-white-papers-research/ public-vs-private-pt1-1.pdf, October 20, 2015.
- [14] BitFury Group and Jeff Garzik. Public versus private blockchains, part 2: permissionless blockchains. [Whitepaper] http://bitfury.com/content/5-white-papers-research/ public-vs-private-pt2-1.pdf, October 20, 2015.
- [15] Eric Bonabeau. Agent-based modeling: Methods and techniques for simulating human systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(suppl 3):7280–7287, 2002.

- [16] Patricia Boon. Energierekening vol fouten. [online] http://www.telegraaf.nl/dft/geld/ consument/26083053/__Energierekening_vol_fouten__.html, June 25, 2016.
- [17] Alec N Brooks. *Vehicle-to-grid demonstration project: Grid regulation ancillary service with a battery electric vehicle.* California Environmental Protection Agency, Air Resources Board, Research Division, 2002.
- [18] Isidor Buchmann. Safety of lithium-ion batteries. [online] http://batteryuniversity.com/learn/ article/safety_of_lithium_ion_batteries, n.d.
- [19] Vitalik Buterin. What proof of stake is and why it matters. [online] https://bitcoinmagazine.com/ articles/what-proof-of-stake-is-and-why-it-matters-1377531463, August 26, 2014.
- [20] Vitalin Buterin. On public and private blockchains. [online] https://blog.ethereum.org/2015/ 08/07/on-public-and-private-blockchains/, August 7, 2015.
- [21] Vitalin Buterin. Slasher: a punitive proof-of-stake algorithm. [online] https://blog.ethereum.org/ 2014/01/15/slasher-a-punitive-proof-of-stake-algorithm/, January 15, 2014.
- [22] Vitalin Buterin. Problems. [online] https://github.com/ethereum/wiki/wiki/Problems, May 24, 2016.
- [23] Jean-Pierre Butinx. Bankymoon to launch Bitcoin-funded smart energy meter. [online] https: //news.bitcoin.com/bankymoon-bitcoin-smart-meter/, March 10 2016.
- [24] Y. Cao, S. Tang, C. Li, P. Zhang, Y. Tan, Z. Zhang, and J. Li. An optimized EV charging model considering TOU price and SOC curve. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 3(1):388–393, March 2012. ISSN 1949-3053. doi: 10.1109/TSG.2011.2159630.
- [25] Miguel Castro and Barbara Liskov. Practical Byzantine fault tolerance. In *Proceedings of the Third Symposium on Operating Systems Design and Implementation*, February 1999.
- [26] Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. Huishoudens in bezit van auto of motor; huishoudkenmerken. [dataset] http://statline.cbs.nl/Statweb/publication/?DM=SLNL&PA=81845NED& D1=1,3&D2=a&D3=0-2,13-31&D4=1&HDR=T,G1&STB=G3,G2&VW=T,December 2015.
- [27] Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. Bevolking; geslacht, leeftijd en burgerlijke staat, 1 januari. [dataset] http://statline.cbs.nl/Statweb/publication/?DM=SLNL&PA=7461BEV&D1=0& D2=1-2&D3=0&D4=1&HDR=G3,T&STB=G1,G2&VW=T, December 2016.
- [28] Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. Emissies van broeikasgassen berekend volgens ipcc-voorschriften. [dataset] http://statline.cbs.nl/Statweb/publication/?DM=SLNL&PA=70946ned&D1=a&D2= 0-2,6,11,13,15,18-19,22&D3=a&HDR=G1&STB=T,G2&VW=T,September 2016.
- [29] Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. Particuliere huishoudens naar samenstelling en grootte, 1 januari. [dataset] http://statline.cbs.nl/Statweb/publication/?DM=SLNL&PA=37975&D1= 20-21,23-26&D2=0&D3=1&HDR=T&STB=G1,G2&VW=T,September 2016.
- [30] Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. Bevolking; geslacht, leeftijd en burgerlijke staat, 1 januari. [dataset] http://statline.cbs.nl/Statweb/publication/?DM=SLNL&PA=7461BEV&D1=0&D2=0& D3=a&D4=1&HDR=G3,T&STB=G1,G2&VW=T, December 2016.
- [31] Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. Motorvoertuigenpark; inwoners, type, regio, 1 januari. [dataset] http://statline.cbs.nl/Statweb/publication/?DM=SLNL&PA=7374hvv&D1=0-5&D2= a&D3=1&VW=T, May 2016.
- [32] Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. Nabijheid voorzieningen; afstand locatie, wijk- en buurtcijfers 2013. [dataset] http://statline.cbs.nl/StatWeb/publication/?DM=SLNL&PA=82341NED&D1= 0-21&D2=0,2730,3999,5026,14943&HDR=G1&STB=T&VW=T, December 2016.
- [33] CGI Nederland B.V. CEMS onderzoeksdatabase handleiding. Technical report, CGI Group Inc., 2013.

- [34] S. Chakraborty, M. D. Weiss, and M. G. Simoes. Distributed intelligent energy management system for a single-phase high-frequency AC microgrid. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, 54(1):97–109, Feb 2007. ISSN 0278-0046. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2006.888766.
- [35] Hugo Chandler. Empowering variable renewables–options for flexible electricity systems. *International Energy Agency, Paris, France,* 2008.
- [36] K. Clement-Nyns, E. Haesen, and J. Driesen. The impact of charging plug-in hybrid electric vehicles on a residential distribution grid. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 25(1):371–380, Feb 2010. ISSN 0885-8950. doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2009.2036481.
- [37] Green Car Congress. BMW boosts battery capacity of my2017 i3 to 33 kWh with hihigh denergy density li-ion cell; up to 114 miles combined cycle range. [online] http://www.greencarcongress.com/ 2016/05/20160502-i3.html, May 2016.
- [38] A. Cortés and S. Martínez. Optimal plug-in electric vehicle charging with schedule constraints. In *Communication, Control, and Computing (Allerton), 2013 51st Annual Allerton Conference on*, pages 262–266, Oct 2013. doi: 10.1109/Allerton.2013.6736533.
- [39] Andres Cortés and Sonia Martínez. A hierarchical algorithm for optimal plug-in electric vehicle charging with usage constraints. *Automatica*, 68:119 – 131, 2016. ISSN 0005-1098. doi: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.automatica.2016.01.060. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0005109816300073.
- [40] Kyle Croman, Christian Decker, Ittay Eyal, Adem Efe Gencer, Ari Juels, Ahmed Kosba, Andrew Miller, Prateek Saxena, Elaine Shi, Emin Gün Sirer, et al. On scaling decentralized blockchains. In *International Conference on Financial Cryptography and Data Security*, pages 106–125. Springer, 2016.
- [41] CryptoManiac. Kernel. [online] https://github.com/novacoin-project/novacoin/wiki/ Kernel, September 12, 2015.
- [42] Sebastiaan Deetman. Bitcoin could consume as much electicity as denmark by 2020. [online] http://motherboard.vice.com/read/ bitcoin-could-consume-as-much-electricity-as-denmark-by-2020, March 29, 2016.
- [43] Michael Del Castillo. New York's 'energy czar' talks future of blockchain for energy grids. [online] http://www.coindesk.com/new-york-energy-czar-blockchain/, April 18 2016.
- [44] Erica Derijcke and Jan Uitzinger. Residential behavior in sustainable houses. In *User Behavior and Technology Development*, pages 119–126. Springer, 2006.
- [45] Chris Develder, Nasrin Sadeghianpourhamami, Matthias Strobbe, and Nazir Refa. Quantifying flexibility in EV charging as DR potential: analysis of two real-world data sets. http://users.atlantis. ugent.be/cdvelder/papers/2016/develder2016sgc.pdf, 2016.
- [46] K.C. Divya and Jacob Østergaard. Battery energy storage technology for power systems—an overview. Electric Power Systems Research, 79(4):511 – 520, 2009. ISSN 0378-7796. doi: http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.epsr.2008.09.017. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0378779608002642.
- [47] Peter Dondi, Deia Bayoumi, Christoph Haederli, Danny Julian, and Marco Suter. Network integration of distributed power generation. *Journal of Power Sources*, 106(1-2):1 9, 2002. ISSN 0378-7753. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7753(01)01031-X. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S037877530101031X. Proceedings of the Seventh Grove Fuel Cell Symposium.
- [48] George Donnelly. Blockchain changes business model in European energy sector, decentralized power in view. [online] https://cointelegraph.com/news/ blockchain-changes-business-model-in-european-energy-sector-decentralized-power-\ in-view, September 14 2016.

- [49] Gonçalo Duarte, Catarina Rolim, and Patrícia Baptista. How battery electric vehicles can contribute to sustainable urban logistics: A real-world application in Lisbon, Portugal. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments, 15:71 78, 2016. ISSN 2213-1388. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2016.03. 006. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S221313881630011X.
- [50] F. Einwächter and C. Sourkounis. Accessing flexibility of electric vehicles for smart grid integration. In Ecological Vehicles and Renewable Energies (EVER), 2014 Ninth International Conference on, pages 1–8, March 2014. doi: 10.1109/EVER.2014.6844097.
- [51] Electron. Electron | blockchain systems for the energy sector. [online] http://www.electron.org. uk/.
- [52] Paul Ellis and Ben Leland. Reinventing the retail energy market in the uk Paul Ellis, electron and Toby Proctor, innovate UK. [video file] https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jJ-NCSFbYFo&list= WL&index=2, April 14 2016.
- [53] EnergyPLAN. EnergyPLAN | advanced energy system analysis ccompute model. [online] http://www.energyplan.eu/, n.d.
- [54] E.ON. How we calculate your annual consumption. [online] https://www.eonenergy.com/ for-your-business/large-energy-users/Understand-Energy/micro-business-renewals.
- [55] Epicenter. Eb113 Jae Kwon, Dustin Byington & Ethan Buchman: Tendermint private modularized blockchains. [Video file] https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=EfFVh1DIKds, January 11, 2016.
- [56] Joshua M Epstein and Robert Axtell. *Growing artificial societies: social science from the bottom up.* Brookings Institution Press, 1996.
- [57] EV-Box. Mercedes-Benz C350 plug-in hybrid. [online] http://www.ev-box.com/go-electric/ electric-cars/mercedes-benz/mercedes-benz-c350-plug-in-hybrid/, n.d.
- [58] EVnetNL. Statistieken 2015: Bezettingsgraad laadpalen EVnetNL. [online] https://www.evnet.nl/ nieuws/statistieken-2015-bezettingsgraad-laadpalen-evnetnl/, February 2016.
- [59] EVnetNL. Statistieken 2015: Gemiddeld gebruik laadpalen EVnetNL. [online] https://www.evnet. nl/nieuws/statistieken-2015-gemiddeld-gebruik-laadpalen-evnetnl/, February 2016.
- [60] EVnetNL. EV consumption pattern. [dataset], January 2017.
- [61] Z. Fan. A distributed demand response algorithm and its application to PHEV charging in smart grids. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 3(3):1280–1290, Sept 2012. ISSN 1949-3053. doi: 10.1109/TSG.2012. 2185075.
- [62] Hassan Farhangi. The path of the smart grid. *IEEE power and energy magazine*, 8(1):18–28, 2010.
- [63] Katie Fehrenbacher. Tesla's model 3 reservations rise to almost 400,000. [online] http://fortune. com/2016/04/15/tesla-model-3-reservations-400000/, April 15 2016.
- [64] A. M. Foley, I. J. Winning, and B. P. Ó Gallachóir. State-of-the-art in electric vehicle charging infrastructure. In 2010 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, pages 1–6, Sept 2010. doi: 10.1109/VPPC.2010.5729014.
- [65] Matthias D Galus, Stephan Koch, and Göran Andersson. Provision of load frequency control by PHEVs, controllable loads, and a cogeneration unit. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, 58(10):4568– 4582, 2011.
- [66] Hamid Gharavi and Reza Ghafurian. *Smart grid: The electric energy system of the future,* volume 99. IEEE, 2011.
- [67] Go Electric Stations. Pure electric cars. [online] https://goelectricstations.com/ electric-cars.html?lang=en, n.d.

- [68] P. Grahn and L. Söder. The customer perspective of the electric vehicles role on the electricity market. In 2011 8th International Conference on the European Energy Market (EEM), pages 141–148, May 2011. doi: 10.1109/EEM.2011.5952997.
- [69] Green Car Congress. Renault features production version of ZOE, Twizy EV at Geneva. [online] http: //www.greencarcongress.com/2012/03/zoe-20120309.html, March 2012.
- [70] GridSingularity. gridsingularity.com. [online] http://gridsingularity.com/#/.
- [71] Christophe Guille and George Gross. A conceptual framework for the vehicle-to-grid (V2G) implementation. *Energy Policy*, 37(11):4379 – 4390, 2009. ISSN 0301-4215. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol. 2009.05.053. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421509003978.
- [72] Francesco Gulli. Small distributed generation versus centralised supply: a social cost–benefit analysis in the residential and service sectors. *Energy Policy*, 34(7):804–832, 2006.
- [73] Y. Gurkaynak and A. Khaligh. Control and power management of a grid connected residential photovoltaic system with plug-in hybrid electric vehicle (PHEV) load. In *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 2009. APEC 2009. Twenty-Fourth Annual IEEE*, pages 2086–2091, Feb 2009. doi: 10.1109/APEC.2009.4802962.
- [74] S. Han, S. Han, and K. Sezaki. Economic assessment on V2G frequency regulation regarding the battery degradation. In 2012 IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies (ISGT), pages 1–6, Jan 2012. doi: 10.1109/ISGT.2012.6175717.
- [75] Garrett Hardin. Tragedy of the commons. In David R. Henderson, editor, *The concise encyclopedia of economics*. Library of economics and liberty, 2008.
- [76] Zhuangli Hu, Canbing Li, Yijia Cao, Baling Fang, Lina He, and Mi Zhang. How smart grid contributes to energy sustainability. *Energy Procedia*, 61:858 – 861, 2014. ISSN 1876-6102. doi: http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.egypro.2014.11.982. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1876610214028124.
- [77] ING Economisch Bureau. Tijdperk elektrische auto nadert. Technical report, ING Economisch Bureau, 2016.
- [78] G Joos, BT Ooi, D McGillis, FD Galiana, and R Marceau. The potential of distributed generation to provide ancillary services. In *Power Engineering Society Summer Meeting, 2000. IEEE*, volume 3, pages 1762–1767. IEEE, 2000.
- [79] Abdollah Kavousi-Fard, Alireza Abunasri, Alireza Zare, and Rasool Hoseinzadeh. Impact of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles charging demand on the optimal energy management of renewable microgrids. *Energy*, 78:904 – 915, 2014. ISSN 0360-5442. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2014.10.088. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360544214012389.
- [80] Willett Kempton and Toru Kubo. Electric-drive vehicles for peak power in Japan. Energy Policy, 28 (1):9 18, 2000. ISSN 0301-4215. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0301-4215(99)00078-6. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421599000786.
- [81] Willett Kempton and Steven E. Letendre. Electric vehicles as a new power source for electric utilities. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 2(3):157 175, 1997. ISSN 1361-9209. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1361-9209(97)00001-1. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361920997000011.
- [82] Willett Kempton and Jasna Tomić. Vehicle-to-grid power fundamentals: Calculating capacity and net revenue. Journal of Power Sources, 144(1):268 – 279, 2005. ISSN 0378-7753. doi: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2004.12.025. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0378775305000352.
- [83] Willett Kempton and Jasna Tomić. Vehicle-to-grid power implementation: From stabilizing the grid to supporting large-scale renewable energy. *Journal of Power Sources*, 144(1):280 294, 2005. ISSN 0378-7753. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2004.12.022. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378775305000212.

- [84] Willett Kempton, Jasna Tomic, Steven Letendre, Alec Brooks, and Timothy Lipman. Vehicle-to-grid power: battery, hybrid, and fuel cell vehicles as resources for distributed electric power in California. *Institute of Transportation Studies*, 2001.
- [85] F. Kennel, D. Görges, and S. Liu. Energy management for smart grids with electric vehicles based on hierarchical MPC. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, 9(3):1528–1537, Aug 2013. ISSN 1551-3203. doi: 10.1109/TII.2012.2228876.
- [86] Sunny King. Ppcoin kernel.cpp. [online] https://github.com/ppcoin/ppcoin/blob/v0.4.0ppc/ src/kernel.cpp, 2014.
- [87] Sunny King and Scott Nadal. Ppcoin: peer-to-peer crypto-currency with proof-of-stake. [Whitepaper] https://peercoin.net/assets/paper/peercoin-paper.pdf, August 19, 2012.
- [88] Lewis Kingston. Audi A3 sportback plug-in hybrid e-tron to arrive in 2014. [online] http://www.autocar.co.uk/car-news/new-cars/ audi-a3-sportback-e-tron-plug-hybrid-arrive-2014, May 2013.
- [89] E. Klaassen, C. Kobus, M. van Huijkelom, J. Frunt, and H. Slootweg. Evaluation of washing machine load potential for smart grid integration. In *Power Engineering Conference (UPEC), 2013 48th International Universities*', pages 1–6, Sept 2013. doi: 10.1109/UPEC.2013.6714925.
- [90] Wil. L. Kling, Pierangelo Scarpellini, Juan Frandisco Alonso-Llorente, Walter Auer, René J.L. Beune, József Braun, Zlatko R. Cherepnalkoski, Wolfgang Glaunsinger, Michele E. Mandozzi, Giancarlo Manzoni, Ion Gheorghe Mazilu, John Pettigrew, Jacques Plumer, Pavel Svejnar, Jean-Michel Tesseron, and Jean-Yves Delabre. Connection rules for generation and management of ancillary services. Technical report, EURELECTRIC, 2000.
- [91] Rolf W. Künneke and Monique H. Voogt. Modelling welfare effects of a liberalisation of the Dutch electricity market. *Energy*, 22(9):897 - 910, 1997. ISSN 0360-5442. doi: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/S0360-5442(97)00024-8. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0360544297000248.
- [92] Neal Koblitz and Alfred J. Menezes. Cryptocash, cryptocurrencies, and cryptocontracts. Designs, Codes and Cryptography, 78(1):87–102, 2016. ISSN 1573-7586. doi: 10.1007/s10623-015-0148-5. URL http: //dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10623-015-0148-5.
- [93] Charlotte Bastiaantje Aline Kobus. *A switch by design: User-centred design of smart energy technologies to change habits of using energy at home.* PhD thesis, TU Delft, Delft University of Technology, 2016.
- [94] Jae Kwon. Tendermint: Consensus without mining. [Whitepaper] http://tendermint.com/docs/ tendermint.pdf, 2014.
- [95] Jae Kwon. Block structure. [online] https://github.com/tendermint/tendermint/wiki/ Block-Structure, April 2, 2016.
- [96] Jae Kwon. Byzantine consensus algorithm. [online] https://github.com/tendermint/ tendermint/wiki/Byzantine-Consensus-Algorithm, September 15, 2016.
- [97] Stephen Lacey. The energy blockchain: How Bitcoin could be a catalyst for the distributed grid. [online] https://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/ the-energy-blockchain-could-bitcoin-be-a-catalyst-for-the-distributed-grid, February 26 2016.
- [98] Leslie Lamport, Robert Shostak, and Marshall Pease. The Byzantine generals problem. *ACM Transactions on Programming Languages and Systems*, 4(3):382–401, July 1982.
- [99] E. Larsen, D. K. Chandrashekhara, and J. Ostergard. Electric vehicles for improved operation of power systems with high wind power penetration. In *Energy 2030 Conference, 2008. ENERGY 2008. IEEE*, pages 1–6, Nov 2008. doi: 10.1109/ENERGY.2008.4781053.

- [100] John Lilic. TransActive Grid. [online] http://www.slideshare.net/JohnLilic/ transactive-grid, November 15 2015.
- [101] Living Lab Smart Charging. Slimmere laadpalen Living Lab Smart Charging. [online] http://www. livinglabsmartcharging.nl/nl/slimmere-laadpalen, November 2016.
- [102] F. Locment, M. Sechilariu, and C. Forgez. Electric vehicle charging system with PV grid-connected configuration. In 2010 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, pages 1–6, Sept 2010. doi: 10. 1109/VPPC.2010.5729016.
- [103] Rodica Loisel, Guzay Pasaoglu, and Christian Thiel. Large-scale deployment of electric vehicles in Germany by 2030: An analysis of grid-to-vehicle and vehicle-to-grid concepts. *Energy Policy*, 65: 432 - 443, 2014. ISSN 0301-4215. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.10.029. URL http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421513010513.
- [104] J.A. Peças Lopes, N. Hatziargyriou, J. Mutale, P. Djapic, and N. Jenkins. Integrating distributed generation into electric power systems: A review of drivers, challenges and opportunities. *Electric Power Systems Research*, 77(9):1189 – 1203, 2007. ISSN 0378-7796. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.epsr.2006. 08.016. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378779606001908. Distributed Generation.
- [105] Henrik Lund and Willett Kempton. Integration of renewable energy into the transport and electricity sectors through V2G. *Energy Policy*, 36(9):3578 – 3587, 2008. ISSN 0301-4215. doi: http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.06.007. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0301421508002838.
- [106] Benedikt Lunz, Zexiong Yan, Jochen Bernhard Gerschler, and Dirk Uwe Sauer. Influence of plug-in hybrid electric vehicle charging strategies on charging and battery degradation costs. *Energy Policy*, 46:511 – 519, 2012. ISSN 0301-4215. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.04.017. URL http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421512003175.
- [107] Zhongjing Ma, Suli Zou, Long Ran, Xingyu Shi, and Ian A. Hiskens. Efficient decentralized coordination of large-scale plug-in electric vehicle charging. *Automatica*, 69:35 – 47, 2016. ISSN 0005-1098. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.automatica.2016.01.035. URL http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0005109816000364.
- [108] Shane Maguire. South african start up offers innovative electricity donaplatform http://bitcoinhub.co.za/ tion for schools in need. [online] uziso-bitcoin-give-a-south-african-primary-school-electricity/, March 10 2016.
- [109] Christopher Malmo. Bitcoin is unsustainable. [online] http://motherboard.vice.com/read/ bitcoin-is-unsustainable, June 29, 2015.
- [110] V. Marano and G. Rizzoni. Energy and economic evaluation of PHEVs and their interaction with renewable energy sources and the power grid. In *IEEE International Conference on Vehicular Electronics and Safety*, pages 84–89, Sept 2008. doi: 10.1109/ICVES.2008.4640909.
- [111] Frank Markus. 2012 Tesla Model S first drive. [online] http://www.motortrend.com/news/ 2012-tesla-model-s-first-drive/, June 2012.
- [112] David Mazières. The Stellar consensus protocol: a federated model for internet-level consensus. [Whitepaper] https://www.stellar.org/papers/stellar-consensus-protocol.pdf, February 25, 2016.
- [113] Ruud van de Meeberg. Eindrapportage Jouw Energiemoment Zwolle. Technical report, Enexis, 2014.
- [114] VH Mendez, J Rivier, JI De La Fuente, T Gomez, J Arceluz, J Marin, and A Madurga. Impact of distributed generation on distribution investment deferral. *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, 28(4):244–252, 2006.

- [115] Metering. Smart meters prepaid: Bankymoon develops Bitcoin solution. [online] https:// www.metering.com/smart-meters-payment-bankymoon-develops-Bitcoin-solution/, April 27 2015.
- [116] K. Mets, T. Verschueren, W. Haerick, C. Develder, and F. De Turck. Optimizing smart energy control strategies for plug-in hybrid electric vehicle charging. In *Network Operations and Management Symposium Workshops (NOMS Wksps), 2010 IEEE/IFIP*, pages 293–299, April 2010. doi: 10.1109/NOMSW. 2010.5486561.
- [117] Milieu Centraal. 400.000 huizen met zonnepanelen: hoe kom je er bij? [online] https://www.milieucentraal.nl/nieuwsbrieven/professionals/juli-2016/ 400000-huizen-met-zonnepanelen-hoe-kom-je-er-bij/, July 2016.
- [118] Mitsubishi Motors NL. Outlander PHEV. [online] http://www.mitsubishi-motors.nl/ outlander-PHEV/#!specificaties, n.d.
- [119] Alan Morrison. Blockchain and smart contract automation: Private blockchains, public, or both? [online] http://www.pwc.com/us/en/technology-forecast/blockchain/private-public.html, n.d.
- [120] My Golf GTE. Volkswagen Golf GTE specifications. [online] http://www.mygolfgte.com/ volkswagen-golf-gte-specifications/, 2015.
- [121] Satoshi Nakamoto. Bitcoin: A peer-to-peer electronic cash system. [Whitepaper] https://bitcoin. org/bitcoin.pdf, 2008.
- [122] NEDU. Verbruiksprofielen. [online] http://www.nedu.nl/portfolio/verbruiksprofielen/, 2017.
- [123] Lam Pak Nian and David Lee Kuo Chuen. Introduction to Bitcoin. In David Lee Kuo Chuen, editor, *Handbook of digital currency: Bitcoin, innovation, financial instruments, and big data*, chapter 1. Introduction to Bitcoin, pages 5–30. Academic Press, 2015.
- [124] Nissan. Nissan E-NV200. [online] http://www.env200.com/, n.d.
- [125] Novacoin. Proof-of-stake. [online] https://wiki.novaco.in/en/PoS, n.d.
- [126] Oplaadpunten.nl. Oplaadpunten.nl. [online] https://www.oplaadpunten.nl/, January 2017.
- [127] Yutaka Ota, Haruhito Taniguchi, Tatsuhito Nakajima, Kithsiri M Liyanage, Koichiro Shimizu, Taisuke Masuta, Jumpei Baba, and Akihiko Yokoyama. Autonomous distributed vehicle-to-grid for ubiquitous power grid and its effect as a spinning reserve. *Journal of International Council on Electrical Engineering*, 1(2):214–221, 2011.
- [128] Luke Parker. Power ledger trials blockchain-based energy grid and market near perth. [online] http: //bravenewcoin.com/news/power-ledger-trials-blockchain-based-energy-grid-and-\ market-near-perth/, August 14 2016.
- [129] Ray Patterson. Alternatives for proof of work, part 1: proof of stake. [online] https://bytecoin.org/ blog/proof-of-stake-proof-of-work-comparison/, August 18, 2015.
- [130] Dorien Pels. Duurzaam energiebedrijf hield jarenlang geld achter. [online] http://www.trouw.nl/tr/nl/4332/Groen/article/detail/3078910/2011/12/16/ Duurzaam-energiebedrijf-hield-jarenlang-geld-van-klanten-achter.dhtml, December 16, 2011.
- [131] G. Pepermans, J. Driesen, D. Haeseldonckx, R. Belmans, and W. D'haeseleer. Distributed generation: definition, benefits and issues. *Energy Policy*, 33(6):787 – 798, 2005. ISSN 0301-4215. doi: http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.enpol.2003.10.004. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0301421503003069.

- [132] Scott B. Peterson, Jay Apt, and J.F. Whitacre. Lithium-ion battery cell degradation resulting from realistic vehicle and vehicle-to-grid utilization. *Journal of Power Sources*, 195(8):2385 – 2392, 2010. ISSN 0378-7753. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2009.10.010. URL http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0378775309017443.
- [133] Scott B. Peterson, J.F. Whitacre, and Jay Apt. The economics of using plug-in hybrid electric vehicle battery packs for grid storage. *Journal of Power Sources*, 195(8):2377 – 2384, 2010. ISSN 0378-7753. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2009.09.070. URL http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0378775309017303.
- [134] Power Ledger. Power Ledger a new decentralised energy market Power Ledger where power meets blockchain. [online] http://powerledger.io/.
- [135] Power Ledger. Power Ledger to launch on EcoChain. [online] http://powerledger.io/ power-ledger-launch-ecochain/, August 24 2016.
- [136] Giulio Prisco. Blockchain technology could enable next-generation, peer-topeer energy microgrids. [online] https://bitcoinmagazine.com/articles/ blockchain-technology-could-enable-next-generation-peer-to-peer-energy-\ microgrids-1461596932, April 25 2016.
- [137] Guiulio Prisco. Bankymoon introduces bitcoin payments to smart mefor grids. [online] https://bitcoinmagazine.com/articles/ ters power bankymoon-introduces-bitcoin-payments-smart-meters-power-grids-1429824186, April 23 2015.
- [138] PuTTY. Download PuTTY: latest release (0.68). [online] http://www.chiark.greenend.org.uk/ ~sgtatham/putty/latest.html, February 2017.
- [139] Casey Quinn, Daniel Zimmerle, and Thomas H Bradley. The effect of communication architecture on the availability, reliability, and economics of plug-in hybrid electric vehicle-to-grid ancillary services. *Journal of Power Sources*, 195(5):1500–1509, 2010.
- [140] Yann G Rebours, Daniel S Kirschen, Marc Trotignon, and Sbastien Rossignol. A survey of frequency and voltage control ancillary services—part i: Technical features. *IEEE Transactions on power systems*, 22 (1):350–357, 2007.
- [141] Yann G Rebours, Daniel S Kirschen, Marc Trotignon, and Sbastien Rossignol. A survey of frequency and voltage control ancillary services—part ii: economic features. *IEEE Transactions on power systems*, 22 (1):358–366, 2007.
- [142] Renault. Technical specifications new Renault Kangoo Z.E. [online] http://media.renault.com/ download/media/specialfile/47053_1_5.aspx, n.d.
- [143] Rijksdienst voor het Wegverkeer. Open data RDW: Gekentekende_voertuigen_brandstof. [dataset] https://opendata.rdw.nl/Voertuigen/Open-Data-RDW-Gekentekende_voertuigen_ brandstof/8ys7-d773, January 2017.
- [144] Rijksdienst voor het Wegverkeer. Open data RDW: Gekentekende_voertuigen. [dataset] https: //opendata.rdw.nl/Voertuigen/Open-Data-RDW-Gekentekende_voertuigen/m9d7-ebf2, January 2017.
- [145] Rijksdienst voor Ondernemend Nederland. Cijfers elektrisch vervoer. [online] http://www.rvo.nl/ onderwerpen/duurzaam-ondernemen/energie-en-milieu-innovaties/elektrisch-rijden/ stand-van-zaken/cijfers, 2016.
- [146] Rijksdienst voor Ondernemend Nederland. Investeringssubsidie duurzame energie (ISDE). [online] http://www.rvo.nl/subsidies-regelingen/investeringssubsidie-duurzame-energie, 2016.

- [147] Rijksdienst voor Ondernemend Nederland. Stimulering duurzame energieproductie (SDE+). [online] http://www.rvo.nl/subsidies-regelingen/ stimulering-duurzame-energieproductie-sde, 2016.
- [148] Rijksoverheid. 15% duurzame energie in 2020. [online] https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/ onderwerpen/duurzame-energie/inhoud/meer-duurzame-energie-in-de-toekomst.
- [149] Ripple. How Ripple works the consensus process (advanced). [Video file] https://www.youtube. com/watch?v=pj1QVb1v1C0, April 19, 2013.
- [150] N. Rotering and M. Ilic. Optimal charge control of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles in deregulated electricity markets. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 26(3):1021–1029, Aug 2011. ISSN 0885-8950. doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2010.2086083.
- [151] RTL Nieuws. Energieleveranciers hebben baat bij ingewikkelde rekeningen. [online] http://www. rtlnieuws.nl/economie/home/energieleveranciers-hebben-baat-bij-ingewikkelde-\ rekeningen, August 13, 2014.
- [152] RTL Nieuws. Energieveilingen op de vingers getikt. [online] http://www.rtlnieuws.nl/economie/ home/energieveilingen-op-de-vingers-getikt, June 23, 2015.
- [153] RTL Nieuws. Gegevens twee miljoen huishoudens gestolen bij energieleverancier. [online] http://www.rtlnieuws.nl/nederland/ gegevens-twee-miljoen-huishoudens-gestolen-bij-energieleverancier, September 13, 2016.
- [154] Aviva Rutkin. Blockchain-based microgrid gives power to consumers in new york. [online] https://www.newscientist.com/article/ 2079334-blockchain-based-microgrid-gives-power-to-consumers-in-new-york/, March 2 2016.
- [155] Constantine Samaras and Kyle Meisterling. Life cycle assessment of greenhouse gas emissions from plug-in hybrid vehicles: Implications for policy. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(9):3170–3176, 2008. doi: 10.1021/es702178s. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es702178s. PMID: 18522090.
- [156] Wolf-Peter Schill and Clemens Gerbaulet. Power system impacts of electric vehicles in Germany: Charging with coal or renewables? Applied Energy, 156:185 - 196, 2015. ISSN 0306-2619. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.07.012. URL http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0306261915008417.
- [157] Ben Schiller. Is Brooklyn's microgrid-on-the-blockchain the future of the electric system? [online] https://www.fastcoexist.com/3058323/ is-brooklyns-microgrid-on-the-blockchain-the-future-of-the-electric-system, August 4 2016.
- [158] K Schneider, C Gerkensmeyer, M Kintner-Meyer, and Robert Fletcher. Impact assessment of plug-in hybrid vehicles on pacific northwest distribution systems. In *Power and Energy Society General Meeting-Conversion and Delivery of Electrical Energy in the 21st Century, 2008 IEEE*, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2008.
- [159] Bruce Schneier. Open source and security. [online] https://www.schneier.com/crypto-gram/ archives/1999/0915.html, September 15, 1999.
- [160] David Schwartz. The Ripple protocol consensus algorithm. [Whitepaper] https://ripple.com/ files/ripple_consensus_whitepaper.pdf, 2014.
- [161] SF Bitcoin Developers. Blockchain smart contracts in any language with Tendermint TMSP. [Video file] https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9krAQzN6tbc&feature=youtu.be&t=1243, February 10, 2016.
- [162] W. Shireen and S. Patel. Plug-in hybrid electric vehicles in the smart grid environment. In *IEEE PES T D 2010*, pages 1–4, April 2010. doi: 10.1109/TDC.2010.5484254.

- [163] Walter Short and Paul Denholm. A preliminary assessment of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles on wind energy markets. Technical report, National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2006.
- [164] Ramteen Sioshansi and Paul Denholm. Emissions impacts and benefits of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles and vehicle-to-grid services. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 43(4):1199–1204, 2009. doi: 10.1021/es802324j. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es802324j. PMID: 19320180.
- [165] Smart. Electric drive. [online] http://int.smart.com/en/en/index/ smart-fortwo-electric-drive/electric-drive.html, n.d.
- [166] Nigel Smart. Cryptography: an introduction. University of Bristol, 3rd edition, 2008.
- [167] Sociaal-Economische Raad. Rapport energieakkoord. Technical report, Sociaal-Economische Raad, 2013.
- [168] S. Sojoudi and S. H. Low. Optimal charging of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles in smart grids. In 2011 IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting, pages 1–6, July 2011. doi: 10.1109/PES.2011.6039236.
- [169] SolarCoin. SolarCoin a global rewards program for solar electricity generation. [online] https:// solarcoin.org/en/front-page/.
- [170] Jop Spoelstra. Charging behaviour of Dutch EV drivers. Master's thesis, Utrecht University, 2014.
- [171] Maarten Steinbuch. Schatting verkopen elektrisch vervoer Nederland t/m 2025. [online] https://steinbuch.wordpress.com/2016/01/22/ schatting-verkopen-elektrisch-vervoer-nederland-tm-2025/, January 2017.
- [172] Craig H. Stephan and John Sullivan. Environmental and energy implications of plug-in hybrid-electric vehicles. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(4):1185–1190, 2008. doi: 10.1021/es062314d. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es062314d. PMID: 18351091.
- [173] Alexander Stoklosa. Fore! 2017 Volkswagen e-Golf travels 50 percent farther on a charge. [online] http://www.caranddriver.com/volkswagen/e-golf, November 2016.
- [174] Neil Strachan and Alexander Farrell. Emissions from distributed vs. centralized generation: The importance of system performance. *Energy Policy*, 34(17):2677–2689, 2006.
- [175] P. Stroehle, S. Becher, S. Lamparter, A. Schuller, and C. Weinhardt. The impact of charging strategies for electric vehicles on power distribution networks. In 2011 8th International Conference on the European Energy Market (EEM), pages 51–56, May 2011. doi: 10.1109/EEM.2011.5952978.
- [176] Tendermint. Tendermint blockchain consensus. [online] https://tendermint.com/.
- [177] Tendermint. Introduction to Tendermint. [online] https://tendermint.com/intro, 2017.
- [178] Tesla. Model 3 | Tesla Nederland. [online] https://www.tesla.com/nl_NL/model3 |, n.d..
- [179] Tesla. Model X | Tesla Nederland. [online] https://www.tesla.com/nl_NL/modelx, n.d..
- [180] Tesla. Model S | Tesla Nederland. [online] https://www.tesla.com/nl_NL/models, n.d..
- [181] The New Motion. Volvo V60 plug-in hybrid. [online] https://www.thenewmotion.com/en/ driving-electric/electric-cars/volvo-v60-plug-hybrid/, n.d.
- [182] Jasna Tomić and Willett Kempton. Using fleets of electric-drive vehicles for grid support. Journal of Power Sources, 168(2):459-468, 2007. ISSN 0378-7753. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2007. 03.010. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378775307005575.
- [183] Herman K Trabish. SolarCoin is Bitcoin for solar: Solar power now has its own digital cryptocurrency. [online] http://www.utilitydive.com/news/solarcoin-is-bitcoin-for-solar/ 250196/, April 11 2014.
- [184] TransActive Grid. Transactive grid | secure, transactional control of utility systems. [online] http: //transactivegrid.net/.

- [185] K. Turitsyn, N. Sinitsyn, S. Backhaus, and M. Chertkov. Robust broadcast-communication control of electric vehicle charging. In *Smart Grid Communications (SmartGridComm), 2010 First IEEE International Conference on*, pages 203–207, Oct 2010. doi: 10.1109/SMARTGRID.2010.5622044.
- [186] Hal Turton and Filipe Moura. Vehicle-to-grid systems for sustainable development: An integrated energy analysis. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 75(8):1091 – 1108, 2008. ISSN 0040-1625. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2007.11.013. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0040162507002053. t.
- [187] W. Tushar, W. Saad, H. V. Poor, and D. B. Smith. Economics of electric vehicle charging: A game theoretic approach. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 3(4):1767–1778, Dec 2012. ISSN 1949-3053. doi: 10.1109/ TSG.2012.2211901.
- [188] Nissan U. S. A. Nissan Leaf electric car battery. [online] http://www.nissanusa.com/ electric-cars/leaf/charging-range/battery/, n.d.
- [189] U.S. National Science Foundation. Ed25519: high-speed high-security signatures. [online] https: //ed25519.cr.yp.to/, January 2017.
- [190] Nissan U.S.A. 2016 Nissan Leaf. [online] http://www.nissanusa.com/electric-cars/leaf/, 2016.
- [191] Eric Van Damme. Liberalizing the Dutch electricity market: 1998—2004. *The Energy Journal*, 26:155–179, 2005.
- [192] Oscar van Vliet, Anne Sjoerd Brouwer, Takeshi Kuramochi, Machteld van den Broek, and André Faaij. Energy use, cost and CO2 emissions of electric cars. *Journal of Power Sources*, 196(4):2298 – 2310, 2011. ISSN 0378-7753. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2010.09.119. URL http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S037877531001726X.
- [193] Geert Verbong and Frank Geels. The ongoing energy transition: Lessons from a socio-technical, multilevel analysis of the Dutch electricity system (1960–2004). *Energy Policy*, 35(2):1025 – 1037, 2007. ISSN 0301-4215. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2006.02.010. URL http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0301421506000899.
- [194] Jos Verlaan. Omstreden motie over elektrische auto's aangenomen. NRC, 2016.
- [195] R. A. Verzijlbergh, L. J. De Vries, and Z. Lukszo. Renewable energy sources and responsive demand. do we need congestion management in the distribution grid? *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 29(5): 2119–2128, Sept 2014. ISSN 0885-8950. doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2014.2300941.
- [196] J. Vetter, P. Novák, M.R. Wagner, C. Veit, K.-C. Möller, J.O. Besenhard, M. Winter, M. Wohlfahrt-Mehrens, C. Vogler, and A. Hammouche. Ageing mechanisms in lithium-ion batteries. *Journal of Power Sources*, 147(1-2):269–281, 2005. doi: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2005.01.006. URL https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-24044485109&partnerID=40& md5=9147410f16555630eaa9c1f91074f450. cited By 908.
- [197] Marko Vukolić. The quest for scalable blockchain fabric: Proof-of-work vs. BFT replication. In *International Workshop on Open Problems in Network Security*, pages 112–125. Springer, 2015.
- [198] Rashid A. Waraich, Matthias D. Galus, Christoph Dobler, Michael Balmer, Göran Andersson, and Kay W. Axhausen. Plug-in hybrid electric vehicles and smart grids: Investigations based on a microsimulation. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 28:74 86, 2013. ISSN 0968-090X. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2012.10.011. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0968090X12001337. Euro Transportation: selected paper from the EWGT Meeting, Padova, September 2009.
- [199] D. Westermann, M. Agsten, and S. Schlegel. Empirical bev model for power flow analysis and demand side management purposes. In *Modern Electric Power Systems (MEPS), 2010 Proceedings of the International Symposium*, pages 1–6, Sept 2010.

- [200] Alex Wilhelm. Popular Bitcoin mining pool promises to restrict its compute power to prevent feared '51 [online] https://techcrunch.com/2014/07/16/ popular-bitcoin-mining-pool-promises-to-restrict-its-compute-power-to-prevent-\ feared-51-fiasco/, July 16, 2014.
- [201] Gavin Wood. Ethereum; a secure decentralised generalised transaction ledger homestead revision. [Yellow paper], n.d.
- [202] M. Yilmaz and P. T. Krein. Review of battery charger topologies, charging power levels, and infrastructure for plug-in electric and hybrid vehicles. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, 28(5):2151–2169, May 2013. ISSN 0885-8993. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2012.2212917.
- [203] M. Yilmaz and P. T. Krein. Review of the impact of vehicle-to-grid technologies on distribution systems and utility interfaces. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, 28(12):5673–5689, Dec 2013. ISSN 0885-8993. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2012.2227500.
- [204] C. Zhou, K. Qian, M. Allan, and W. Zhou. Modeling of the cost of ev battery wear due to v2g application in power systems. *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, 26(4):1041–1050, Dec 2011. ISSN 0885-8969. doi: 10.1109/TEC.2011.2159977.

photos source: ElaadNL, photographer Bas Stoffelsen

